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ABOUT ZHONGLIANG

Zhongliang Holdings Group Company Limited (“Zhongliang” or the
“Company” and together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) (Stock Code: 2772.HK). Zhongliang is principally
engaged in real estate development in the People’s Republic of China
(“PRC” or “China”), headquartered in Shanghai with a national
footprint.

The Group is a large-scale nationwide real estate enterprise, and has
been ranked as a Top 20 Real Estate Developer in China by China
Real Estate Association and China Real Estate Evaluation Center of
E-House Real Estate Research Institute in 2019, 2020 and 2021.

The Group strives to develop quality residential properties targeting
first-time home purchasers, first-time home upgraders and second-
time home upgraders. It is also engaged in the development,
operation and management of commercial properties and holds a
portion of such commercial properties for investment purpose.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group has achieved a nationwide
operating coverage and a strong presence in 153 cities in 25
provinces and municipalities across five strategic economic areas,
namely, the Yangtze River Delta, the Midwest China, the Pan-Bohai
Rim, the Western Taiwan Straits and the Pearl River Delta. As at 31
December 2021, the Group’s subsidiaries, joint ventures and
associates had 487 property projects at various development stages
and had a total land bank with GFA of approximately 59.8 million
sg.m..
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Corporate Information

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Yang Jian (Chairman)

Mr. Chen Hongliang (Co-President)

Mr. He Jian (Co-President)
(appointed on 1 July 2021)

Mr. Yau Sze Ka (Albert)

Mr. Li Heli (resigned on 1 July 2021)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Wang Kaiguo
Mr. Wu Xiaobo
Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung (Chairman)
Mr. Wang Kaiguo
Mr. Wu Xiaobo

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Wu Xiaobo (Chairman)
Mr. Yang Jian
Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Yang Jian (Chairman)
Mr. Wang Kaiguo
Mr. Wu Xiaobo

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
COMMITTEE

Mr. Chen Hongliang (Chairman)

Mr. He Jian (appointed on 1 July 2021)
Mr. Yau Sze Ka (Albert)

Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung

Mr. Li Heli (resigned on 1 July 2021)

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Yeung Tak Yip
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AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Yau Sze Ka (Albert)
Mr. Yeung Tak Yip

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
27/F, One Taikoo Place

979 King’s Road

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISER

Sidley Austin

REGISTERED OFFICE

190 Elgin Avenue, George Town
Grand Cayman KY1-9008
Cayman Islands

HEAD OFFICE IN THE PRC

20/F, No.3 Shanghai Convention & Exhibition Center
of International Sourcing

235 Yunling East Road

Putuo District, Shanghai, China

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN
HONG KONG

27/F, Queen’s Road Centre,
152 Queen’s Road Central, Central,
Hong Kong
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Corporate Information

CAYMAN ISLANDS PRINCIPAL SHARE
REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Walkers Corporate Limited

190 Elgin Avenue, George Town
Grand Cayman KY1-9008
Cayman lIslands

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKS

Onshore

China Minsheng Bank Corp., Ltd.

Shanghai Pudong Development Bank Co., Ltd.
Agricultural Bank of China Limited

China Everbright Bank Co., Ltd.

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited
China Bohai Bank Co., Ltd.

Leshan City Commercial Bank Co., Ltd.

Bank of Tianjin Co., Ltd

China Zheshang Bank Co., Ltd.

Offshore

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

China Construction Bank (Asia) Corporation Limited
Chiyu Banking Corporation Limited

Hang Seng Bank Limited
Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

WEBSITE

www.zldcgroup.com

STOCK CODE

2772
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| 3 A March

BT ERGRHET 2 E E KKILESGE

Fulfiling Corporate’s Environmental and Social
Responsibilities and establishment of ESG
Committee.

2021 F3H283H  SEEMIEAKLIERIE
HehErZ8e((ESGEREE]) B E
EERITMERRE HEREAEREREE
BOHESLAIMNAFERRE -

On 23 March 2021, the Group announced that
an Environmental, Social and Governance
Committee (“ESG Committee”) has been formed
in order to assist the Board to review and
monitor the environmental, social and
governance policies and practices, promoting
the sustainable development of the company.

2021 FEKERC
Major Events of 2021
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2021 TOP 20 0f a Real Estate Developers
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Zhongliang Holdings Ranked 18th in 2021 TOP
20 of China Real Estate Developers.

20213 A16H  H B EHEXH S M L&
S EFHEF RS B E H E R G R LA
A T [2021 7 B B Hh E B 3 1> 250058 | 8l
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On 16 March 2021, the China Real Estate
Association and the China Real Estate Appraisal
Centre of Shanghai E-House Real Estate
Research Institute jointly released the results of
the “2021 TOP 500 China Real Estate
Developers” assessment. With its solid
performance, Zhongliang jumped to the 18th
place on the list, and was ranked as one of the
“Top 20 Comprehensive Strength in the
Industry” for the third consecutive year and the
3rd in “2021 Social Responsibility of China Real
Estate Developers”.
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hRERNRAES BARBRI AL

Zhongliang Real Estate Wins Several
International Design Awards.

2021453 A 2021 4 18 M && 5 K #Z(Berlin
Design Awards) 7T 3 # R I & - 62 7 MW
WA R ARR & RIEB &K E2021F
MARFTAR-—BERAABBEREER
FIRE-AR ARe PRESETHE-
MBS BERRRINNFT BE
RREMUE EBHPRFIEBAODE
BEERBAFHNRATESARBED
EmE N 82020 B A4 L E K R
(London Outstanding Property Award, OPAL) ©

In March 2021, Berlin Design Awards 2021
announced its results, Zhongliang’s Hangzhou
project, ‘Mu Chen Mansion’ won Silver in the
Architecture — Public and Institutional —
International in the Berlin Design Awards 2021.
Meanwhile, the projects of Gold Plated Yunxi in
Xi'an, Joy City in Xuzhou, Zhongliang Baoli Hefu
in Jining, Zhongliang Jinke Jiuxi in Shenyang and
Zhongliang Zhongnan Shiguangyin in Liyang
won the London Outstanding Property Award by
its innovative design concepts and excellent
products strengths.

| 4 B April

GBS T b
ERRMAER -

Zhongliang Holdings
Released Sustainable
Finance Framework.

20214 F278 -
B2 B B Al
BRETRMEE —
RZERRZL
THRERBETHEE HEEMT AHEHR
RESEMEMBREB T AR REKES -
EEZAABELXRRL BEERHGRE
SOBKBREEFREEAMEENRRETE -
SustainalyticsFt A 2 =R Al FH B EH R @M E
ERBEH T E_AER] RBATHZA
SEEREMEELARNGEARFE L BF
G EERESHIES2018 (SBG))  [4 &
f& % IR 812018 (GBP)] * [ 4t & & % JR 82020
(SBP)] % [# 2 B 3R AJ2021(GLP)] °

On 27 April 2021, Zhongliang Holdings released
its Sustainable Finance Framework, which
establishes the governance mechanism for the
Group to issue green, socially responsible and
sustainable bonds and other debt financing
structures. The Group is committed to the
principles of sustainable development and
continues to practice green concepts with a
view to reducing the environmental impact of its
business development. Zhongliang Holdings has
engaged Sustainalytics to provide an external
review “The Second Party Opinion (SPO)” on its
Sustainable Finance Framework. Sustainalytics
is of the opinion that the Zhongliang’s
Sustainable Finance Framework is credible and
impactful and aligns with the Sustainability Bond
Guidelines 2018, Green Bond Principles 2018,
Social Bond Principles 2020, and Green Loan
Principles 2021.
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FREBEZHKR w7 [ o %
y Llowa
Zhongliang Holdings
Wins Multiple Awards at {prdniaute)
the 2020-2021 ) iy
Aesthetics Vogue Award. Sy 52
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2021 % 4 108 w2
2020-2021 & [& 3 4 5% o
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On 10 April 2021, winners of the Aesthetics
Vogue Award were officially announced, with
seven of Zhongliang Holdings’ outstanding
residential projects winning the awards for
“Ultimate Architectural Aesthetics”, “Specialized
Architectural Design”, “Specialized Spatial
Design” and “Specialized Soft Decoration
Design”. Zhongliang will always keep an eye on
the market and customer demand, and continue
to enhance its product competitiveness.

[EEPR|E0MEBELEEEEZMES -

The 80th Library of “Zhongliang Book Reading”
Project Landed in Yantai.

20214208 ' [EBHF R E80ME LB
EFEXNEHES HBHBRLEER/NE -
EBNEBERYEBLEEERFEHEYE -
NEEFEBEE EFRRMNIE HESGE
B hEFRBERR -

On 20 April 2021, The 80th library of “Zhongliang
Book Reading” project has officially landed in
Yantai, assisting Fushan Experimental Primary
School and Zhaili Primary School to set up
libraries and purchase teaching materials. From
Zunyi to Yantai, Zhongliang is committed to the
ESG field and helping children to widen their
horizons.
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Successful Debut Issuance of US$300 Million
Green Senior Notes.

202145 A » BRI RR A D) B 1T B £ 102022
FHHHNIBEETHEELEZE  RKEFFH
R 58.5% o

In May 2021, Zhongliang Holdings has
successfully issued the first US$300 million
green senior notes due in 2022 at an interest
rate of 8.5% per annum.

| 6 B June

R AR B M 2020 ESG I S BT AR & A #5 48
BRE-

Zhongliang Holdings Published the 2020 ESG
Report and Implemented Green and Sustainable
Development.

20216 H30H - H 2 & I 3 20204 IR
B -HegkER(ESGHHE BEERE
ESGHEMER BERHEEN -SEHHE
PHERERBER BEEBRZEES  BKE
BEBERMEENRBEZE o

On 30 June 2021, Zhongliang Holdings
published the 2020 Environmental, Social and
Governance (“ESG”) Report, disclosing,
particularly, the management, practice and
performance of the Group in terms of ESG. The
Group will formulate comprehensive
environmental protection policies, and continues
to implement green concepts to reduce the
environmental impact of its business
development.
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“Zhongliang Book Reading” Landed in Yan’an to
Fulfill the Five Year Commitment of 100 Schools.

20216 H29H  EFHF R A ma B EEL
Z-HFREREEABFLEFRAGZES
eMET -\ EREEELEENEL
BEZ-BHZBR [EFFRIEeBEBI7EE
T RAESE e AR -ZE &M

STPE - P11 25 4 89100 BT B /N B ARSE 1 - 48
BHEE0EMBEEZ B HBRFMAEERE -

On 29 June 2021, the “Zhongliang Book
Reading” campaign has landed in Yan’an.
Together with Zhongliang Foundation,
Zhongliang Holdings donated books worth
approximately RMB1 million to a primary school
in Yan’an. Up to now, “Zhongliang Book
Reading” has spread across 17 provinces and
cities, and has donated more than 500,000
books to 100 primary and secondary schools,
including Qinghai, Xinjiang, Tibet, Yunnan,
Guizhou, Jiangxi, Sichuan and other places,
helping children to discover the joy of reading.

2021 FEKERC
Major Events of 2021

7 B July

« FREREEONLAFREFRLERD
TOP 6 ©

Zhongliang Holdings Ranks Top 6 in China Real
Estate Enterprises Branding in 1H2021.

2021 F7H12H - RESHANEIEE E ML
N RFERENERRE PREBREES
BEBM2021 L¥ FERBEECER NHET
BETOP 6 NHHF ReEHESE - FHLH R o [
BN RER TR e FIRmE D B # B IZEITIE
B 4818 -

On 12 July 2021, with excellent comprehensive
product capability and continuous improvement
of product quality, Zhongliang Holdings ranked
Top 6 in China Real Estate Enterprises Branding
in the first half of 2021 by Kinpan. Chengdu
Zhongliang Yunxitai, Xi'an Zhongliang Guobin
Mansion and Ningbo Zhongliang Chaoyue
Nantang won the benchmarking project awards
respectively.
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Zhongliang Wins 24 GHDA Global Habitat
Design Awards with its Improving Product
Competitiveness.

2021F7A20B  FRAEREBHEEHHE
m 1 - ERIEGHDAIRR Bk A B R 5T K 8824 78 Bk
& aE2e 7R M151E & 88 18 - GHDAIRR
BABRFTAREEREAEEREEANES
RFOEBHMAERTEE BRBEBREENEE
EMTEEE  BREDOMEARERKG -

On 20 July 2021, with outstanding product
competitiveness, Zhongliang Holdings has won
a total of 24 awards in the GHDA Global Habitat
Design Award, including 2 gold, 7 silver and 15
outstanding awards. GHDA Global Habitat
Design Awards recognise the most reputable
habitat design projects around the world.
Through rigorous and high-quality selection
criteria, the GHDA Global Habitat Design Awards
identify outstanding real estate habitat designs.

| 8 A August

B IRERWED

wn "’
® B

2021 Lt R k1005

2021 Rt B R MR 2B TOPS -

Zhongliang Continued to Rank Top 8 on the
2021 Shanghai Top 100 Private Enterprises List.

20218 H26H 2021 L B RE P ¥ F o
B REBRERNSGAENHEEEN
EEERBEN  PREZ2021 EERED
¥1008 ¥ 8% °

On 26 August 2021, 2021 Shanghai Top 100
Private Enterprises list was announced. With the
comprehensive strength of steady development
and excellent operation and service capability,
Zhongliang was ranked No. 8 in 2021 Shanghai
Top 100 Private Enterprises.
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| 9 A September

s FRERKNBIT2EXTHKEELEREE-

Zhongliang Holdings Successfully Issued
US$200 Million Green Senior Notes.

20214F9 A - 1 R ALK I 2 Ak 3 17 102023
FLRFHN2EXTHEEBERE -

In September 2021, Zhongliang Holdings has
successfully issued US$200 million green senior
notes due in April 2023.

e [EFTFRIBRIEEBHE-

“Zhongliang Book Reading” has Landed in
Fuyang District.

2021F9H10R - # R ERWIEEFF RIA
HEPRELHEETRAMERBEELESE
EOREARAMALCEEEENEEHE
RE-BA[ZEFHRRIERAESTE - F
52 PR ) F 18 A BB A TR /N

BRGEM -

)

On 10 September 2021, the “Zhongliang Book
Reading” campaign of Zhongliang Holdings
entered Fuyang, Anhui Province and donated
libraries to two local schools to create a better
reading and teaching environment for students
and teachers. Currently, “Zhongliang Book
Reading” Library has been established in over a
hundred primary and middle schools over 18
provinces and cities, including Qinghai, Xinjiang,
Tibet and Sichuan.
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Zhongliang’s Product Series Ranked among the
“Top 10 Brand Values of China’s Luxury
Residence Products Series”.

2021 F9H10H  F RERIZES R EmF
I 45 & 4% 17 B 4% [ 2021 F A B %5 3 K E
XmEEE10%]  ERNBERA -

On 10 September 2021, Zhongliang Holdings’ “Gilt
Series” was ranked among the “Top 10 Brand
Values of China’s Luxury Residence Products
Series” by Leju Finance.

| 10 A October

FRRLEIIFEBEMELLTATNREE
WEETmARLEENTOP10 -

Zhongliang was Awarded the “Valuable Real
Estate Listed Company of the Year 2021" and
Top 10 of “Major Listed Real Estate Companies
of Comprehensive Strength in Mid-2021" .

10A26H  AERAKEFEETNHNE T B
TREEMEFE L TRARERREBTH
KEXEE RBERANEMEEARTEHLE
A 7 B HY TN TR B ELAIET - 3R T 2021
FREBRMEAT IS FEEEME LT
NE kB -10A27B (BETH AT
MO FFHTITEME LT ARLEEAE

50RBE) FRBEBRAMNLEE LA
BEZXREBEOHRBML  ALEFEETOP10 -

On 26 October, Zhongliang was awarded the
“Valuable Real Estate Listed Company of the
Year 2021 in China” for its healthy and stable
business performance, continuous improvement
of product quality and continuous efforts and
innovation in the field of social welfare at the 10th
Annual China Valuable Real Estate Conference
hosted by National Business Daily. On 27
October, Securities Market Weekly released the
“Top 50 Major Listed Real Estate Companies of
Comprehensive Strength in Mid-2021" . With its
strong comprehensive strength and sustainable
development potential, Zhongliang stood out in
the TOP 10 of the list.
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| 11 B November
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Zhongliang was Added in the MSCI China Small
Cap Index.

FRERREERE SEERR O XITERE
AKmizHEZRA 11 A118 » MSCIEA &
NHEEHREERER O RFFERNERAE
TN R AMSCIHR BN RS R B A1
A30B W& AR -

With its steady and high-quality development,
Zhongliang has been widely recognised by the
industry and the capital market. On November
11, MSCI announced the results of the Semi-
Annual Index Review for the MSCI Equity
Indexes, Zhongliang was added to the MSCI
China Small Cap Index, effective as of market
close on November 30.

2021 FEKERC
Major Events of 2021

HREE021 FHESGHRAREBELE -

Zhongliang was Awarded the “2021 ESG Most
Valuable Enterprise for Investment”.

2021 F11 A30H - A AR B BuH(BE K & &
BOEWMADRRE KRR LA GZELEIFE M
fEH B & B ExEmEE20211 %
HIBTE FIBRY - BRIEEESGEE M AR
Mo REE2021FEESGRAREBED
X - AREEFEESGHRAKREEBELE

EHARRERE HEHEET EERH
HNEBERST FRUTPRFHERTFREH
mEEmRE RELEGLAREBENRE
Ao Al e

On 30 November 2021, the 4th China Corporate
Social Responsibility Pioneer Forum “Insight into
the Future e Create a Green Economy” and
2021 Award Ceremony hosted by the People’s
Daily “International Finance News” was held in
Shanghai. Zhongliang was awarded the 2021
ESG Most Valuable Investment Enterprise. The
award of ESG’s Most Valuable Investment
Enterprise is an overall recognition of the
company’s contribution in different aspects
including environmental protection, social
responsibility, and corporate governance; it is
also a recognition of Zhongliang’s continuous
provision of quality products and services to
customers and exploration of social welfare
values.
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Glossary and Definition

“Articles” is the amended and restated articles of association of the
Company adopted on 19 June 2019

“ASP” is average selling price
“Board” is The board of Directors
“China” or “PRC” is the People’s Republic of China

“Contracted sales” is the total contractual value of properties that are
contracted for pre-sale and sale in a given period, which is not
equivalent to the revenue in the relevant period and shall not be
deemed as an indication for the revenue to be recognised in any
future period. Contracted sales data is unaudited, provided for
investors’ for reference only and may be subject to various
uncertainties during the process of collating such sales information

“Core net profit” is profit for the year excluding changes of fair value
of investment properties and financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss and listing and other non-recurring expenses, net of
deferred tax

“Core net profit margin” is calculated based on core net profit of the
Company for the year divided by revenue for the year and multiplied
by 100%

“Corporate Governance Code” is Corporate Governance Code as set
out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules, as amended from time to
time

“Directors” are director(s) of the Company

“ESG” is Environmental, Social and Governance

“GFA” is gross floor area

“Gross profit margin” is calculated based on gross profit for the year
divided by revenue for the year and multiplied by 100%

“Group” is the Company and its subsidiaries

“Hong Kong” is the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the
People’s Republic of China
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“Listing Rules” are the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange

“Listing” is the listing of the Shares on the main board of the Stock
Exchange on 16 July 2019

“Model Code” is Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules

“Net gearing ratio” is calculated based on the total indebtedness less
cash and bank balances divided by the total equity at the end of the
year multiplied by 100%

“Prospectus” is the prospectus of the Company dated 27 June 2019
being issued in connection with the Listing

“Register of Members” is the register of members of the Company

“SFO” is Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws
of Hong Kong)

“Share Incentive Scheme” is the share incentive scheme of the
Company adopted by the Board with effect from 31 December 2021,

as amended and supplemented from time to time

“Share Option Scheme” is the post-IPO share option scheme
adopted on 19 June 2019

“Share(s)” is/are ordinary share(s) in the capital of the Company with
the nominal value of HK$0.01 each

“Shareholder(s)” is/are holder(s) of the Shares
“Stock Exchange” is The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

“Total indebtedness” is total interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings, senior notes and asset-backed securities

“Weighted average cost of indebtedness” is the weighted average of
interest costs of all indebtedness outstanding as at the end of each
year
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Glossary and Definition

“Zhongliang” or “Company” is Zhongliang Holdings Group Company
Limited, an exempted company incorporated in Cayman Islands with
limited liability, the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (Stock code: 2772)

The site area information for an entire project is based on the relevant
land use rights certificates, land grant contracts or tender documents,
depending on which documents are available. If more than one
document is available, such information is based on the most recent
document available.

The figures for GFA are based on figures provided in or estimates
based on the relevant governmental documents, such as the property
ownership certificate, the construction work planning permit, the pre-
sale permit, the construction land planning permit or the land use
rights certificate.
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Dear Shareholders,

| am hereby pleased to present to you the business review of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 and its outlook for
2022.

DIVIDEND

In August 2021, the Board of the Company resolved to declare the
payment of an interim dividend (the “2021 Interim Dividend”) of
HK18.4 cents per share for the six months ended 30 June 2021
(equivalent to RMB15.4 cents per share) in the form of cash. Given
the continued uncertainty of the Chinese real estate sector, the Group
believes that it is prudent, conservative and responsible to preserve
more cash to maintain liquidity to react to the unforeseen situations
under current adverse market conditions. Thus, for the best interest
of the Group and balancing the interest of different stakeholders, after
careful consideration, the Board has decided to postpone the
payment of the 2021 Interim Dividend to on or about Wednesday, 31
August 2022. Based on the total issued shares of the Company as at
the date of this report, the interim dividend for the six months ended
30 June 2021 amounted to approximately HK$659.0 million
(approximately RMB551.5 million).

The Board of the Company further resolved that no final dividend
would be declared for the year ended 31 December 2021.

FINAL RESULTS

The contracted sales of the Group for 2021 amounted to RMB171.8
billion, representing an increase of approximately 1.8% from
RMB168.8 billion in 2020.

In 2021, the Group’s revenue amounted to RMB76,114.2 million,
representing an increase of approximately 15.4% from RMB65,940.6
million in 2020. The Group’s core net profit attributable to owners in
2021 decreased by approximately 20.3% to RMB2,991.1 million from
RMB3,754.1 million in 2020.
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Chairman’s Statement

REVIEW OF 2021

Market review

During 2021, global economic environment remained complex and
volatile due to geopolitical and the COVID pandemic issues. While the
COVID situation in China has been relatively under control, there have
been occasional disruptions of social and economic activities in
certain cities affecting consumer demands and production chains.

In 2021, the Chinese government sustained its strict real estate
control measures with the main policy theme of “housing is for living,
not for speculation” and “controlling financial leverage against real
estate”. Intensified restrictions on real estate financing restricted real
estate developers’ access to onshore funding. During the vyear,
China’s real estate sales reversed significantly. In the first half, buyers’
demand continued the positive sentiment from the previous year,
transaction volume by value and gross floor area continued to
increase. However, real market cooled down dramatically in the
second half and real estate market sales growth decelerated and
turned negative. Tighter disbursement of mortgage financing for
home buyers and uncertainty in real estate prices have affected
demand of property sales.

Due to weaker sales and financing under scrutiny, funding for real
estate developers were significantly tight. As a number of Chinese
real estate developers have encountered liquidity issues and debt
defaults in 2021, the offshore bond market that in the past provided
major funding to the sector experienced volatility as well as severe
imbalance. Adverse reaction to the above negative events by offshore
capital markets has severely affected bond pricings, international
credit ratings, and access to offshore capital for most non-state-
owned property developers. Risk appetite on the real estate sector
by financial institutions were predominantly lower while the sector and
real estate developers placed more emphasis on risk control.

Despite the difficult industry environment, the Group still consistently
adhered to its stated strategies, followed the government policies and
industry trends for its sustainable development. The Group achieved
contracted sales of approximately RMB171.8 billion in 2021, with a
year-on-year increase of approximately 1.8%. The Group sustained
its position as one of the Top 20 China Real Estate Developers. The
contracted ASP of 2021 was approximately RMB12,000 per sg.m.,
compared to approximately RMB12,500 per sg.m. in the previous
year. During the year, the Group maintained a cash collection rate of
over 85%.
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Land-banking

In the first half of 2021, the Group strived in maintaining balance
between securing saleable resources and financial discipline,
diversifying investments in many second- and third-tier cities, and
avoiding cities with fierce land price competition. When the real estate
market situation became uncertain in the second half, the Group kept
land investment at the minimal level in order to preserve cash.

During the year, the Group (together with its joint ventures and
associates) acquired 85 new projects at a total land investment
consideration of RMB52.6 billion, covering a total GFA of
approximately 10 million sg.m.. Among the acquired land projects in
2021, approximately 17% of total land investment considerations
came from second-tier cities with centralised land supply policies
while 22% of total from other second- tier cities. The remaining 51%
and about 10% respectively of the total land investment
considerations came from third- and fourth-tier cities. In terms of
economic regions, Yangtze River Delta accounted for 54% of the
total land investment considerations, followed by Midwest China with
16%, Western Taiwan Straits with 10%, Pan-Bohai Rim with 13%,
and Pearl River Delta with 7%. Top provinces in terms of land
investment considerations were Zhejiang, Jiangsu, Anhui and
Shandong.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group (together with its joint ventures
and associates) had a land bank with a total GFA (including sold GFA)
of approximately 59.8 milion sg.m., covering five core economic
regions of China. Despite that our land investment slowed down in
2021, we still have sufficient saleable resources to support our future
developments.

Financing and liability management

Under the policies of “three red-line” and “centralised restrictions on
real estate financing”, real estate-related funding in China became
tight especially after mid-2021. The Group responded proactively to
the government’s real estate control measures and maintained a
disciplined and pragmatic approach in managing the de-leveraging
process.
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Chairman’s Statement

Since mid-2021, the Group has implemented decisive measures in
mitigating the challenges from adverse industry environments,
including through accelerating sales and cash collection, preservation
of cash by expenditure conservation and reduction of land banking.
The Group’s management has demonstrated its resolution and
commitment to proactive liability management and deleveraging.
During the period from July 2021 up to the date of this report, the
Group has repaid or bought back offshore bonds or loans with an
aggregate principal and interest amount of around US$1.2 billion
mostly by internal funding, while maintaining sufficient liquidity for its
operations.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had total interest-bearing debts
of approximately RMB40.2 billion, down 26% from end of 2020, and
the Group’s net gearing ratio was approximately 35%, with financing
costs at around 9.0%. The Group’s total interest-bearing debts and
net gearing ratio are among the low level of real estate developers in
China.

Green and sustainable development,
responsibilities

corporate social

The Group emphasises its product philosophy of encompassing
“culture, comfort, health, green and technology”. It has formulated
comprehensive environmental policies with intensified sustainable
and environmental measures. By the end of 2021, over 350
development projects of the Group are green buildings (including
green building certifications or ratings), with a total accumulated
developed GFA exceeding 50 million sg.m.

In 2021, the Group officially established the Environmental, Social
and Governance Committee (the “ESG Committee”). Relevant
policies were formulated by the Board, the ESG Committee and the
ESG working group to enhance performance in respect of
environmental protection, social responsibility and governance.
During the year, in response to the national call to contribute to the
national goal of achieving carbon neutrality, the Group took the first
step of sustainable green financing by publishing its Sustainable
Finance Framework and subsequently issuing its US dollar green
senior notes with a total of US$500 million green senior notes issued.

The Group actively undertakes corporate social responsibilities. In
2021, the Group further expanded “Zhongliang Book Reading”
project to cover a wider area. “Zhongliang Book Reading” is a charity
library project now covering 18 provinces across China including
Qinghai, Xinjiang, Tibet, Yunnan, Guizhou, Jiangxi, Sichuan and other
regions in over a hundred primary and middle schools, with over
500,000 books donated, by establishing and improving libraries for
remote or needy schools, and contributing to the healthy growth of
rural teenagers.
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OUTLOOK FOR 2022

Looking ahead to 2022, under the Chinese government policy
framework of “housing is for living, not for speculation” and “to ensure
of orderly and healthy development of the real estate sector”, it is
expected that real estate-related policy, financing and credit aspects
could be improved. The Chinese government will place more
emphasis on prioritising its policies in attaining expectations for stable
land and housing prices, to ensure stable development of the real
estate market. With regard to sales, we remain cautious on the overall
sector sales outlook and we expect sector sales could encounter
negative growth for the upcoming year. With regard to land
investments, sector investment appetite will remain prudent and
recovery will take time. With regard to funding, limitation and control
of financing will become a norm.

Despite the challenging industry environment, the Group is still
committed to long-term sustainable and stable development. The
Group’s primary operating goals are to maintain operating liquidity,
deleverage and stabilise debts. Under the new normal, the Group’s
main operating principles are to improve financing structure, improve
control efficiencies, control risks and save costs. We will place more
emphasis on enhancing product capabilities and improving salability
during this phase of industry consolidation. While securing a stable
and adequate supply of saleable resources, we will continue to
increase our sales efforts, enhance sell-through and cash collection
to strengthen our cashflow management, and manage for
deleveraging. We are confident that the Group can navigate through
the current industry challenge and reposition ourselves for future
development.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express our sincere
appreciation to all employees for their dedication and hard work, and
to our Shareholders, business and financial partners for their
tremendous supports in the past challenging year.

YANG Jian
Chairman
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PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT

Contracted sales

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group (including its
joint ventures and associates) achieved contracted sales of
RMB171.8 billion, representing a year-on-year increase of 1.8%.
Contracted sales area amounted to approximately 14,277,000 sg.m.,
representing a year-on-year increase of 5.7%.

During the year, contracted ASP selling price remained stable at

approximately RMB12,000 per sg.m., with new launch sell-through
rate exceeded 70% and cash collection rate over 85%.
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T1: R2021EWNENHERMA (KE Table 1: Breakdown of contracted sales in 2021 (the Group’s
WHEBAR SECERBKE subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates)
A7)
#mE 5 By city
HBERN

HESH -BHNHEE BHHE
BRHESHE Bok BEEE FHEE

% of total
Contracted contracted Contracted Contracted
sales sales GFA ASP
(ANR¥
(AR®FT) (F75K) 75 K)
(RMB’000) (%) (sa.m.) (RMB/sq.m.)
&N Wenzhou 14,057,652 8.2 663,006 21,203
UM Hangzhou 13,001,782 7.6 327,695 39,676
=y Hefei 11,667,271 6.8 782,517 14,910
=N Xuzhou 5,675,541 3.3 270,351 20,993
M Changzhou 4,484,727 2.6 290,461 15,440
& N Suzhou 4,217,657 2.5 285,734 14,761
15 Wuxi 3,598,717 2.1 217,342 16,558
= Ningbo 3,327,020 1.9 150,535 22,101
G Jinhua 2,999,148 1.7 143,877 20,845
a M Taizhou 2,919,917 1.7 193,506 15,090
E2pii Nantong 2,523,074 15 153,141 16,475
s Bengbu 2,116,579 1.2 219,799 9,630
BE5 Fuyang 2,091,861 1.2 253,144 8,264
B8 4 Yancheng 1,912,634 1.1 129,778 14,738
EZ Nanjing 1,891,961 1.1 111,989 16,894
H i Others 13,275,728 7.7 1,262,675 10,514
k=5 Yangtze River Delta 89,761,269 52.2 5,455,550 16,453
EE Chongaing 5,087,093 3.0 563,540 9,027
P B Chengdu 3,857,767 2.2 202,433 19,057
& B5 Luoyang 3,369,820 2.0 322,758 10,441
D Changsha 2,473,850 1.4 288,504 8,575
R Yinchuan 2,213,608 1.3 183,396 12,070
[liTl:q Xi’an 2,048,730 1.2 136,553 15,003
Hh Others 24,439,138 142 3,575,956 6,834
il Midwest China 43,490,006 25.3 5,273,140 8,247
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% of total
Contracted contracted Contracted Contracted
sales sales GFA ASP
(NREE
(AR¥FT) (F 75 K) 75 K)
(RMB’000) (%) (sg.m.) (RMB/sg.m.)
5 Qingdao 3,197,978 1.9 204,501 15,638
R#E Tianjin 2,296,197 1.4 155,018 14,812
BN Cangzhou 2,088,579 1.2 256,826 8,132
=i Others 10,718,628 6.2 1,173,408 9,135
RE Pan-Bohai Rim 18,301,382 10.7 1,789,753 10,226
F M Quanzhou 2,306,892 1.3 161,041 14,325
E M Zhangzhou 2,283,252 1.3 142,600 16,012
e Shangrao 1,726,168 1.0 168,808 10,226
BH Putian 1,715,559 1.0 176,472 9,721
Hm Others 7,436,929 4.3 636,874 11,677
IR T = Western Taiwan Straits 15,468,800 9.0 1,285,795 12,031
H®=A Pearl River Delta 4,780,547 2.8 473,193 10,103
8=t Total 171,802,004 100.0 14,277,431 12,033
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7 i E & 5 By region
HBEEN
HESE GHHE -BHHE
EHHESLE Aokt ZEEHE FHUEE
% of total
Contracted contracted Contracted Contracted
sales sales GFA ASP
(ANR¥E/
(AR FT) (7 K) 75 K)
(RMB’000) (%) (sg.m.) (RMB/sg.m.)
E=A Yangtze River Delta 89,761,269 52.2 5,455,550 16,453
A 78 B Midwest China 43,490,006 25.3 5,273,140 8,247
REE Pan-Bohai Rim 18,301,382 10.7 1,789,753 10,226
& K 7 = Western Taiwan Straits 15,468,800 9.0 1,285,795 12,031
w=FA Pearl River Delta 4,780,547 2.8 473,193 10,103
171,802,004 100.0 14,277,431 12,033
7w hERE D By city tier
HBEEN
HESE -GHHE -BHHE
EHHESLE Aokt ZEHEHE FHUEE
% of total
Contracted contracted Contracted Contracted
sales sales GFA ASP
(ANR¥/
(ANRE®TT) (FFFK) 77 0K)
(RMB’000) (%) (sg.m.) (RMB/sg.m.)
Ry Second-tier cities" 79,675,182 46.4 4,909,315 16,229
=@ me Third-tier cities® 72,015,500 419 6,659,756 10,814
PO 4R 3k T O Fourth-tier cities® 20,111,322 11.7 2,708,360 7,426
171,802,004 100.0 14,277,431 12,033
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Notes:

(1)

EH B R B 52

Management Discussion and Analysis

Second-tiers cities include Wenzhou, Hangzhou, Hefei, Wuxi, Suzhou,
Chongging, Xi’an, Ningbo, Qingdao, Chengdu, Tianjin, Nanjing, Xiamen,
Changsha, Wuhan, Jinan, Fuzhou, Nanchang, Nanning, Shenyang, Dalian,
Kunming, Guiyang, Taiyuan, Zhengzhou and Dongguan.

Third-tiers cities include Changzhou, Xuzhou, Jinhua, Luoyang, Taizhou,
Nantong, Yancheng, Zhangzhou, Cangzhou, Putian, Yinchuan, Weifang,
Lianyungang, Xiangyang, Quanzhou, Wuhu, Binzhou, Nanyang, Anging,
Xuancheng, Nanping, Suining, Jining, Linyi, Huzhou, Chifeng, Handan,
Zhoushan, Yiyang, Yuxi, Xuchang, Zaozhuang, Sugian, Taian, Ganzhou, Quzhou,
Bozhou, Dezhou, Luan, Yantai, Zibo, Jiangmen, Chenzhou, Xinyang, Maoming,
Changde, Hohhot, Shangqgiu, Mianyang, Zhuzhou, Yueyang, Loudi, Zunyi,
Foshan, Tongling, Chuxiong, Huangshan, Huanggang, Meishan, Dazhou,
Zhaoqging, Yangzhou, Qinzhou, Shaoxing, Huaian, Lishui, Weihai, Taizhou,
Liuzhou, Tangshan, Sanming, Shaoguan, Longyan, Fuzhou, Liaocheng,
Nanchong, Yulin, Jiaxing, Ningde, Zhongshan, Dongying, Shantou, Yichang and
Xining.

Fourth-tiers cities include Fuyang, Bengbu, Maanshan, Chizhou, Shangrao,
Huangshi, Pingxiang, Ezhou, Mengzi, Guigang, Baoshan, Xinxiang, Jiujiang,
Zigong, Qingyuan, Xiaogan, Zhaotong, Chaozhou, Jingzhou, Heyuan,
Tongchuan, Ji'an, Yan’an, Jiyuan, Ankang, Pu’er, Jiaozuo, Suizhou, Tianmen,
Beihai, Yongzhou, Dali, Tianshui, Shaoyang, Pingliang, Enshi, Bijie, Linfen,
Jingdezhen, Pingdingshan, Jieyang, Luohe and Hengshui.

Completed properties held for sale

Completed properties held for sale represents completed GFA
remaining unrecognised at the end of each reporting period and are
stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost of the
completed properties held for sale refers to the related costs incurred
attributable to the unsold properties. All completed properties held for
sale are located in the PRC.

As at
sale

31 December 2021, the Group’s completed properties held for
was approximately RMB21,272.3 million, representing an

increase of 95.4% from RMB10,886.1 milion as at 31 December

2020
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Projects under development

Properties under development are intended to be held for sale after
completion. Properties under development are stated at the lower of
cost, which comprises land costs, construction costs, capitalised
interests and other costs directly attributable to such properties
incurred during the development period, and net realisable value.
Upon completion, the properties are transferred to completed
properties held for sale.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s properties under development
was approximately RMB132,008.7 million, versus RMB145,914.5
million as at 31 December 2020.

Land bank

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group (including its
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates) acquired 85 land parcels
with a total planned GFA of 10.0 million sgq.m.. The average cost of
land parcels acquired (excluding carparks) was approximately
RMB5,267 per sgq.m..

Table 2: Breakdown of land parcels the Group acquired in 2021
(the Group’s subsidiaries, joint ventures and

i —R/N=T ) associates)
RERZEER i+ RAE
F$  Hm EHE EwEE (FEFEM) wEAE (FEBEM)
Planned GFA Average land
(excluding Total cost (excluding
No.  City Project Site area car parks) consideration car parks)
(AR¥T/
(FAX) (FrK)  (AREFI) FHK)
(sa.m.) (sa.m.) (RMB’000) (RMB/sg.m.)
1 E2 Z BT R 41 & P(2020)01 57 1 5 65,509 189,975 466,735 2,457
Xiaogan P (2020) 01 Plot, Dongcheng District, Xiaogan
2 Bt BimEREEE SR Btk 16,942 55,909 48,290 864
Enshi Second phase plot of Guobin No.1 in the old town of Enshi
3 M BL TR X SR AR 31,036 62,071 440,620 7,099
Taizhou Plot on the south side of Wenchang Road, south of Xinghua
4 il O ERTIA L A & 2020-209% 38 81,041 137,770 580,000 4210
Wuhu Block 2020-20, Northwest Area, Wuwei City, Wuhu
5 &% HEZEFZABEENEIN ORI AR 47,709 124,043 1,500,200 12,094
Jinhua Plot on the northeast side of the intersection of Suxi Avenue and Longqi Road, Suxi Town
6 ®E RERHMEL ZBUE  RARARDIE 122,265 146,718 430,000 2,931
Dongying Plot 1 south of Beier Road and east of Kangyang Road, Dongcheng District, Dongying
7 &R Ria bR EG210143 38 39,238 121,639 225,200 1,851
Huangshi Lot G21014, Chengbei Plate, Daye
8 IS 8 0 B DEA2020074 3 7 88,643 212,743 1,292,000 6,073
Shangrao DEA2020074 plot in downtown area of Shangrao
9 £ EEMEHEREFILMEMAEBEESEB-5-03 - B6-1-033 51 84,367 126,551 615,000 4,860
Chongaing Block B-5-03 and B6-1-03, Standard Zone B, Yunzhushan District, Banan District, Chongging
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F¥ OH® EH EEEE  (FEBEM) wEAE (FEBEM)
Planned GFA Average land
(excluding Total cost (excluding
No.  City Project Site area carparks)  consideration car parks)
(ARETL/
(F75K) (FrK)  (AREFI) FHK)
(sq.m.) (sq.m.) (RMB’000) (RMB/sq.m.)
10 &M R £ TPO30218 3 51 4,458 8,916 93,000 10,431
Taizhou Plot TP030218, Chengdong Street
11 ER ERTATERELERAILE 35,728 57,157 383,665 6,712
Nantong Plot on the east side of Shengting Garden, Xiting Town, Nantong
2 RE REMHRILHRATHESH LR 31,134 77,835 320,291 4115
Changchun South Block of Wuyue Plaza, North Lake Block, New District, Changchun
13 BA BT B R 2021257 b 3R 53,729 188,075 539,210 2,867
Luohe Lot 2021-2, Lucheng District, Luohe
14 B BT E R YDXG-20103 38 55,966 167,899 538,680 3,208
Yuncheng YDXG-2010 plot of Yanhu District, Yuncheng
15 EE AEMRH)I THEE2021JC-1 - 25701 140,452 351,131 1,361,128 3,876
Xining Plot No. 2021JC-1 and No. 2 in Nanchuan Industrial Park, Xining
16 FZ RRRTHR2020-1830 1 62,662 75,194 375,972 5,000
Taian Tai"an Tianping Hunan Plot 2020-18
17 Bl B3 B M E2020-145; 3 51 101,718 244,123 860,551 3,525
Fuyang Block 2020-14, Yingzhou District, Fuyang
18 EE 2 B R & P(2020)02 %% 1 5% 54,306 157,487 411,370 2,612
Xiaogan P (2020) 02 Lot, Dongcheng District, Xiaogan
19 @A B AR5 0% 62,591 101,398 1,434,700 14,149
Shaoxing Block 55, Chengbei, Shangyu District, Shaoxing
20l WETREME TG ERR - BR SRR AR 62,425 249,652 1,088,000 4,358
Shantou Plot on south side of Zhongyang Avenue and the east side of Guorui Hospital, Longhu District,
Shantou
21 M N 950 R 2 A A BE At IB-1-3 (4080 3 48 26,836 53,671 232,450 4,331
Liuzhou Block B-1-3 (40 acres) on the north side of Guiliu Road, Chengzhong District, Liuzhou
2 M BMTROREE2TETD-2131 15,939 44,789 992,900 22,168
Wenzhou Plot D-21, Huichanghe Unit, Core Area of Wenzhou City
23 R FHERGEN R EDIS1-AM R 36,736 74,970 452,610 6,037
Wenzhou Block D18-1-A, Chengdong New District, Kunyang Town, Pingyang County
24 R THEEBANRFEDIS-1-BIL R 37,611 75,222 453,790 6,033
Wenzhou Block D18-1-B, Chengdong New District, Kunyang Town, Pingyang County
25 &l AMERE IR AE0-121t3% 69,164 104,962 786,100 7,489
Taizhou Block 20-12, Jiangnan Street, Linhai, Taizhou
% £Y RP R D H&[202000225 it 5% 37,799 113,398 206,070 1,817
Changsha Changsha County, Changsha City [2020] 022 Lot
2 RN REEMRENR  RERILR278 17,793 33,908 129,180 3,810
Cangzhou 27 acres east of Guizhou Avenue, Cang County, north of Tianjin Road
28 &K EKTHRA R ERRE RIS @R 53,778 135,479 229,881 1,697
Hengshui 81 acres of land on the south side of Yuhua West Road, Taocheng District, Hengshui
29 BM BREMAER AZEEEME 36,310 80,478 297,920 3,702
Cangzhou 54 acres on the east of Guizhou Avenue and south of Xining Road, Cang County
30 M BIRAER &R DS 70,210 140,420 878,320 6,255
Taizhou North Plot of Yongyi Road, Jingjiang Chengnan Park
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F¥ OH® EH EEEE  (FEBEM) wEAE (FEBEM)
Planned GFA Average land
(excluding Total cost (excluding
No.  City Project Site area carparks)  consideration car parks)
(ARETL/
(FHXK) (FAK)  (AEBFT) FHK)
(sq.m.) (sq.m.) (RMB’000) (RMB/sq.m.)
31 [l BN W DT [2021] 3%% 63,701 159,252 210,210 1,320
Nanyang Dengzhou DT [2021] No. 3
%2  BH TG E IR E R AILC-05-0730 1 69,716 111,545 444,800 3,988
Xuancheng Lot LC-05-07, East of Jingchuan Avenue, Old Town, Jing County
3 B'M BNMET 20211015 048 25,699 59,108 485,000 8,205
Fuzhou Lianjiang County, Fuzhou [2021] Lot 01
34 NE A79,2021-04 55 1 58 53,054 75,887 182,240 2,401
Luan Shucheng Lot 2021-04
35 R HHGMEEHER ZR6HIDIR 37,438 67,388 105,575 1,667
Luan 56 acres of land of China Fortune Land Development in Hangfu Town, Shucheng County
R 171 B T I AL AR R AT B AL 27,755 72,163 734,330 10,176
Yancheng Xinyang Road North, North Block, Yancheng
CIA i HATERRIL BRI R 45,520 122,904 193,232 1,572
Weifang West Block of Beihai Road, Economic Development Zone, Weifang
B BB BT 628 R 5 S 4 G10-02/02-130 18 61,345 92,018 303,658 3,300
Chongaing Block G10-02/02-1, Huaiyuan New District Group, Tongliang District, Chongaing
¥ EE FEMLERERHEH12-2/02103% 51,249 102,498 331,000 3,229
Chongaing Plot H12-2/02, Shuangfu New District, Jiangjin District, Chongging
40 EF BEMEFERAEETHRT08-2-04 5878 B 47,039 70,559 329,010 4,663
Chongaing Block T08-2-04, Block T, Division T, Banan Jieshi Group, Chongaing
41 BEE EEMEMAAEESHES3-2/01 - $43-3/01 » S41-3/01 » S48-1/01 3 381 B 94,061 179,036 799,931 4,468
Chongaing Block $43-2/01, S43-3/01, S41-3/01, S48-1/01 Block S, Division S, Banan Jieshi Group,
Chongging
2 'Y FEHTVIBREEZERIUARCIHIR 65,773 131,547 1,013,750 7,706
Wuhu Block C, East of Huajin South Road, Yijiang District, Wuhu
8 ER ERTEBIEE | 201906-Alt 1 74,956 164,903 1,123,270 6,812
Ningbo Ciguan Haiwei | 201906-A plot, Ningbo City
44 HE SIS & HAR R (2021)14 55 4 % 148,904 260,891 604,000 2,315
Bengbu Bengbu City High-speed Rail Plate (2021) Lot 14
I Y 18)5202118-035% 0% 25,835 67,171 678,000 10,094
Fuzhou Fuging 2021 Lot-03 Lot
46 #H R TRAEFBEGAL  REBURADR 51,588 128,970 324,231 2,514
Weifang Plot A north of Yuqing West Street and east of Yiyuan Road, Weicheng District, Weifang
a7 AN BN IR BB AME B8R AI107#U 8 71,362 102,268 145,500 1,423
Cangzhou 107 acres of land on the west of Longgang Street and the south of Bohai Road, Bohai New
District, Cangzhou
48 EM 8 P9 & 47 4 11 J2020P03 3t 12 19,978 59,900 1,880,000 31,386
Xiamen Block J2020P03 on the south side of Xiamen Jimei Women and Children
49 &HM MrTRBEEMAAER  EERRMR— 49,034 122,585 340,880 2,781
Xuzhou Plot 1 of Xindai West Road South and Shanghai Road East, Xinyi Development Zone
50 &M FOTRERTEARE  LERREA= 45,440 113,600 323,400 2,847
Xuzhou Plot 3 of Xindai West Road South and Shanghai Road East, Xinyi Development Zone
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F¥ OH® EH EEEE  (FEBEM) wEAE (FEBEM)
Planned GFA Average land
(excluding Total cost (excluding
No.  City Project Site area carparks)  consideration car parks)
(ARETL/
(FHXK) (FAK)  (AEBFT) FHK)
(sq.m.) (sq.m.) (RMB’000) (RMB/sq.m.)
51 ER R IRE R & 60m it R 45,567 82,021 384,813 4,692
Nanchong 68 acres of Swallow Nest, Shunging District, Nanchong
52  Bx BRATIREERZE 77 51,155 112,542 483,419 4,295
Nanchong 77 acres of Swallow Nest, Shunging District, Nanchong
53 iyl ERIt R HERER 65,428 170,113 1,810,000 10,640
Yancheng South of Yancheng Chengbei Hardware & Electrical City
54 EE BEREBRIME FEAMSR 145,869 204,216 1,015,000 4,970
Jinan Block A above Wangfuzhuang, Huaiyin District, Jinan
55 dE FREIREE FREIXORAM R 34,986 90,963 940,000 10,334
Jinhua Plot on the east side of the intersection of Shangcheng Road and Shangfo Road, Shangxi Town
56 & R RZGTERER LR 48,552 121,305 153,225 1,263
Luoyang Zhonghong Block, Hetu East Road, Mengjin County, Luoyang
57 Bl BILMLEE Z & E R A BN RSB R TD2021(NHWG00164 58 43,166 107,915 763,410 7,074
Foshan Lot TD2021(NHWG0016 in the “Dakeng Bridge” area of Shijie Village, Guanyao Social
Management Office, Shishan Town, Foshan
58 & FNRIELCES N 62,991 113,383 478,429 4,220
Suzhou Qidu Shenli Land, Wujiang District, Suzhou
59 &M HNTRIBEZEARKAHAIMA 57,622 86,433 479917 5,552
Suzhou Plot on the south side of Zhennan Road, Zhenze Town, Wujiang District, Suzhou
60 B EEMABELBIER R 28,190 53,129 429,450 8,083
Jinan East Block of Beiguan North Road, Tiangjao District, Jinan
61 & KB W ZE2021-WG-17-1H5% 18,533 37,066 210,570 5,681
Suzhou Plot 2021-WG-17-1, Shaxi Town, Taicang
62 ES| KEWZE2021-WG-17-24th 32 20,820 41,641 236,200 5,672
Suzhou Plot 2021-WG-17-2, Shaxi Town, Taicang
63 il 1 1L B8 2 4 4 S5 = B TD2021(SD)WG0018 3t 52 95,208 223,293 1,871,660 8,382
Foshan TD2021 (SD) WG0018 plot, Hengsan Road, Lecong Town, Shunde District, Foshan
64 ER FEE T H AR IL2021P063 17 45,135 112,837 437,000 3,873
Ningde Plot 2021P06, Miantaoshan, North New Town, Ningde
65 Bl EHAROHRELRREAR 153,118 317,824 1,105,609 3,479
Xuancheng Plot on the east side of Xunhua Road, Xuancheng City Center
66 Gl BH2021025% 1 58 25,186 50,372 657,372 13,050
Hefei Lot BH202102
67 BR MRTERET BT RN (26-7)36582021G25 10,742 30,078 1,080,000 35,907
Nanjing West of Zhonghe Road and North of Qinxin Road, Jianye District, Nanjing City (26-7) Plot
2021G25
68 #4% RITEXRSERERILA 41,450 79,677 310,870 3,902
Weifang Lot of Hetangli, Jinging, Kuiwen District, Weifang
69  EY DT RD H[2021)038 5% it % 31,140 59,167 255,620 4,320
Changsha Lot [2021] 038, Changsha County, Changsha
70 M BMBRRBZMERRIERIXORE A% 108,892 207,784 593,000 2,854
Chuzhou Plot on the southeast side of the intersection of Changzhou Road and Changjiang Road in the
east plate of Chuzhou
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REZEER FHL AR
F#  B® EE EHER (FRFEML) wEAE (FEFEMR)
Planned GFA Average land
(excluding Total cost (excluding
No.  City Project Site area car parks) consideration car parks)
(ANRET/
(FHXK) (FAK)  (AEBFT) FHK)
(sq.m.) (sq.m.) (RMB’000) (RMB/sq.m.)
1 RR FRFIERFIE 182021103312 29,448 67,730 207,608 3,065
Ta'an Plot 2021-103, Xujialou Street, Taishan District, Tai'an
2 & IRETERERIKETE DR 57,047 104,305 585,530 5614
Wuxi North Taiging Hexi Block,Donghua Road, Huashi Town, Jiangyin
73 RE ESL i3 79,659 167,285 939,190 5,614
Tianjin Ziguang No.7 plot
74 37 TR B B 12021-C-1 5] 58 181,930 218,316 1,897,690 8,692
Wuxi Jiangyin Mianshan Bay [Chengdi No.2021-C-1] Plot
75 M 5N 7 £ 2 $8.2020-39/2007-10A 1t 1% 46,775 84,772 585,769 6,910
Huzhou 2020-39/2007-10A plot in Zhili Town, Huzhou
76 = BELUTHIERILERA  BREAR 7@ ME 18,267 45,432 137,000 3,015
Tangshan 27 acres of land on the south side of Chengbei Road and west side of Kuangzhong Road,
Kaiping District, Tangshan
7 RR B ERS I 69-35 78,901 149,912 1,794,000 11,967
Shaoxing Lot 69-3, Chengbei, Shangyu District, Shaoxing
78 37 B E T B KR 77,181 138,926 972,500 7,000
Wuxi Xibei Town Jingsheng Road Plot
9 AW P& BE K% 8 7LZS-PT-19-01-013 1 31,791 69,940 353,548 5,055
Zhoushan Plot ZS-PT-19-01-01, Dagan Unit, Putuo, Zhoushan
80  #H 8T It Fr B DKA2021011 55 3 32 25,437 71,205 308,682 4,334
Xinyu Lot DKA2021011, Chengbei District, Xinyu
81 AM BNTESET LB E T =% 111.098E B 74,059 137,835 460,000 3,337
Cangzhou 111.09 Mu Project, No. 13 Beihai Road South, Huanghua, Cangzhou
82 BE BEMREETLAERA - KRR KEAFGC2020-109 58 (41 % 2 1%) 65,007 238,939 819,091 3,428
Nanning Block GC2020-109 (Huguangguang Mansion) on the east of Pingle Avenue and south of
Zhenliang Avenue, Liangaing District, Nanning
83 M MNTRESE &L EERARIER 28,404 34,085 474,000 13,906
Hangzhou Lot 4, Fuchunshan Health City, Tonglu County, Hangzhou
84  EHE EETABEKERERS 45,208 123,907 806,580 6,510
Jinan Project 3, Shuitun Road, Tiangiao District, Jinan
85 M FMTHLE R ES LA - 82REE M R i 58 J2X20210911 32,966 59,339 370,000 6,235
Changzhou Block J2X20210911 on the north side of Jinfu Road and east of Longyuan Road, Menghe Town,
Xinbei District, Changzhou
4,774,257 9,991,483 52,622,602 5,267

2021 F12H31H - AEBE(BEME  As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s total land bank (including its
NA EEPERBERR) N LB  subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates) was approximately 59.8
BEBLHR/8ABET A Efp - A4 milion sg.m., among which 9.6 milion sg.m. were completed
S/ AHENETIMELICEE T  properties avaiable for sale/leasable and 50.2 milion sa.m. were
K- ERMEMEBERKBEY R under development or for future development.

502BBFH K-
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RIAEF(BIEHBLAT  @% ¥ Table 3: Breakdown of the Group’s total land bank (including its
BHEEENT)R2021FE12A31 A+ #  subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates) as at 31 December

EEEE B 2021
BAEFWHE L FGE S By Group’s subsidiaries
e/ HRAREE
THEANERT ARBIEM THfE L FEE
BEHEE EERE" BEZEEE wmEgd WEHAL
Total GFA under
Completed GFA  development and
Number of available for held for future Total land % of total
projects  sale/leasable! development bank® land bank
(EFHK) (FFHK) (FFHXK)
(sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.) (%)
T & Jiangsu 40 583,515 3,976,447 4,559,962 7.6
ZH Anhui 27 920,385 2,949,041 3,869,426 6.5
T Zhejiang 45 717,042 3,031,983 3,749,025 6.3
E=A Yangtze River Delta 112 2,220,942 9957471 12,178,413 20.4
ke Hunan 19 523,555 1,737,653 2,261,208 3.8
i Henan 22 367,691 1,703,390 2,071,081 35
yiBle Hubei 15 263,570 1,762,013 2,025,583 3.4
EE Chongaing 9 95,943 1,426,729 1,522,672 2.5
i Shaanxi 10 398,793 889,021 1,287,814 2.1
£/ Yunnan 9 555,633 686,479 1,242,112 2.1
bl Sichuan 14 207,498 669,056 876,554 1.4
i) Guangxi 8 215,481 302,744 518,225 0.9
58 Qinghai 1 - 454,374 454,374 0.8
£ Ningxia 2 - 430,279 430,279 0.7
1 Shanxi 3 55,194 301,433 356,627 0.6
e Inner Mongolia 4 21,477 288,266 309,743 0.5
M Guizhou 2 - 241,268 241,268 0.4
H& Gansu 2 62,363 - 62,363 0.1
" 75 2 Midwest China 120 2,767,198 10,892,705 13,659,903 22.8
Wz Shandong 31 287,797 2,952,940 3,240,737 5.4
ls Hebei 8 16,947 1,134,661 1,151,608 1.9
XE Tianjin 3 - 477 811 477 811 0.8
HE Liaoning 3 40,807 316,945 357,752 0.6
BRI Jiin 1 - 98,241 08,241 0.2
B Pan-Bohai Rim 46 345,551 4,980,598 5,326,149 8.9
Im Jiangxi 28 720,162 800,998 1,521,160 2.5
=y Fujian 12 81,399 908,690 990,089 1.7
BIRTHEZ Western Taiwan Straits 40 801,561 1,709,688 2,511,249 4.2
ER Guangdong 13 324,010 626,279 950,289 16
K=A Pearl River Delta 13 324,010 626,279 950,289 1.6
Nt Subtotal 331 6,459,262 28,166,741 34,626,003 57.9
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BEAEFHNESELERBE LNTGE5 By Group’s joint ventures and associates

THHEE/ BRTREE
THEANERET ARBEEH Tif@EE  ELRE
BEHEE BEEE" BEEER MED MBMEFNHL

Total GFA under

Completed GFA  development and
Number of available for held for future Total land % of total
projects  sale/leasable™ development bank® land bank

(F7%) (F7K)  (FHK)

(sq.m.) (sa.m.) (sq.m.) (%)
Nips Zhejiang 38 1,204,119 3,705,355 4,909,474 8.2
L& Jiangsu 26 498,301 4,174,090 4,672,391 7.8
ZH Anhui 17 531,696 2,876,526 3,408,222 5.7
E=8& Yangtze River Delta 81 2,234,116 10,755,971 12,990,087 21.7
k3 Henan 7 - 1,811,685 1,811,685 3.0
s Yunnan 5 85,535 808,465 894,000 1.5
BE Chongaing 7 126,149 641,878 768,027 1.3
=i Guangxi 4 4,077 633,725 637,802 1.1
L Hubei 3 129,699 383,803 513,502 0.9
W Hunan 4 134,722 315,118 449,840 0.7
)l Sichuan 2 - 377,523 377,523 0.6
NEH Inner Mongolia 1 - 155,242 155,242 0.3
7 Midwest China 33 480,182 5,127,439 5,607,621 9.4
WE Shandong 8 - 1,662,296 1,662,296 2.8
xE Tianjin 2 - 417,539 417,539 0.7
i Hebei 4 - 413,646 413,646 0.7
BE Liaoning 1 3,468 - 3,468 *
BHE Pan-Bohai Rim 15 3,468 2,493,481 2,496,949 4.2
BE Fujian 16 126,917 1,487,180 1,614,097 2.7
it} Jiangxi 6 288,768 850,337 1,139,105 1.9
=1 Fidpe Western Taiwan Straits 22 415,685 2,337,517 2,753,202 4.6
BR Guangdong 5 34,480 1,264,394 1,298,874 2.2
=8 Pearl River Delta 5 34,480 1,264,394 1,298,874 2.2
et Subtotal 156 3,167,931 21,978,802 25,146,733 421
@zt Total 487 9,627,193 50,145,543 59,772,736 100.0
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#7354 Bl & 5 By City tiers

HE/ RBRREE
THEMNERT ARBABEN TiEE  HLnEE
HEHE RERR" BEFEER BEP MHERSH
Total GFA under
Completed GFA  development and

Number of available for held for future Total land % of total
projects  sale/leasable™ development bank® land bank
(FAxK) (FHxK) (F7X)

(sa.m.) (sq.m.) (sa.m.) (%)

Z®Em Second-tier cities 156 2,565,734 16,898,389 19,464,123 32.6

—®Em Third-tier cities 247 5,166,471 24,934,166 30,100,637 50.3

&3 ™ Forth-tier cities 84 1,894,988 8,312,988 10,207,976 17.1

#gt Total 487 9,627,193 50,145,543 59,772,736 100.0
7 it = & 5 By Region

THEE/ REPREE
AHANERT ARBAEH TiRE LR
HEHE EEERY BEFEER HwED HWEFHAL
Total GFA under
Completed GFA  development and

Number of available for held for future Total land % of total
projects  sale/leasable™ development bank® land bank
(FAxK) (FHxK) (F7XK)

(sa.m.) (sq.m.) (sa.m.) (%)

£E=A Yangtze River Delta 193 4,455,058 20,713,442 25,168,500 421

R Midwest China 153 3,247,380 16,020,144 19,267,524 32.2

brips: Pan-Bohai Rim 61 349,019 7,474,079 7,823,098 13.1

BIRA Western Taiwan Straits 62 1,217,246 4,047,205 5,264,451 8.8

*K=A Pearl River Delta 18 358,490 1,890,673 2,249,163 3.8

Fo Total 487 9,627,193 50,145,543 59,772,736 100.0
M - Notes:

) OEFGAEHITHEEEEBE . TEME2 (1) Includes saleable GFA remaining unsold, leasable GFA and completed GFA that

LSEHBEREREAERAXNHNE TITEE have been pre-sold but yet delivered.
Mg e

@ THFEERBEESRIE I ARHEEREZER @) Total land bank equals to the sum of (i) total completed GFA available for sale/
/A B EEmME : RSP REFER leasable GFA and (i) total GFA under development and held for future
KEAEMNEEZEAMBOAN HEIT T IRAE development, without adjusting the equity interest held by the Group in respect
MEAEDPENBME AR ANIERTF of the projects held by the Group’s joint ventures or associates.
BHREEL AR -
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group derived its
revenue from three business lines, namely (i) sales of properties; (i)
other services; and (i) rental income from property lease. The
revenue of the Group was primarily derived from the sales of
properties in the PRC. The following table sets forth the details of the
Group’s revenue recognised by business line for the years indicated:

BZ12A31BLFEE

For the year ended
31 December
2021 F 20204 g
Change in
2021 2020 percentage
ARBTRT AREBTET
RMB’000 RMB’000 %
A Revenue
MEEE Sales of properties 65,500,822 +15.3%
H A AR 75 Other services 428,258 +31.5%
HaelA Rental income 11,486 +54.3%
@t Total 65,940,566 +15.4%
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Revenue recognised from sales of properties

The Group recorded revenue from the sales of properties amounted
to RMB75,533.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2021, a
year-on-year increase of 15.3%, and recognised a year-on-year
increase in the total recognised GFA by approximately 18.9% to
9,119,390 sqg.m. for the year ended 31 December 2021. Recognised
ASP was RMB8,283 per sg.m. in the year ended 31 December 2021
versus RMB8,540 per sg.m. in the previous year.

Table 4: Breakdown of recognised revenue from sales of
properties in 2021

HZE2021 F12A31ALFE
For the year ended 31 December 2021

# A 2ER =i
'ON Ao BEmE THEE
% to total Recognised Recognised
Revenue revenue GFA ASP
) N %
AR®T FHK K
RMB’000 % sg.m. RMB/sq.m.
R=A Yangtze River Delta
BN Wenzhou
=M Xuzhou
Bk Lishui
= Taizhou
M Changzhou
HAth Others
&5t Subtotal
=it Midwest China
7 & Xuchang
&Y Changsha
iER ] Zhaotong
[ Nanyang
HA Others
&t Subtotal
RAE Pan-Bohai Rim
B Jinan
=41 Tangshan
HAh Others
&t Subtotal
bi=q il Western Taiwan Straits
k=4 Pearl River Delta
#et Total
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HZE2020F 12 A31HIEFE
For the year ended 31 December 2020

LU A EHER B R
WA ERald BEEE T ER
% to total Recognised Recognised
Revenue revenue GFA ASP
B AREE
ARETT oK 7K
RMB’000 % sq.m. RMB/sq.m.
RE=A Yangtze River Delta
pagal Wenzhou 6,732,510 10.3 486,952 13,826
= Taizhou 5,765,061 8.8 442,349 13,033
S Jinhua 4,013,333 6.1 312,734 12,833
Hih Others 17,306,651 26.4 1,843,286 9,389
&st Subtotal 33,817,555 51.6 3,085,321 10,961
7 2 Midwest China
== Ningde 1,764,845 2.7 236,661 7,457
12 N Dazhou 1,206,841 1.9 203,316 5,936
= Others 15,946,132 24.3 2,355,700 6,769
&%t Subtotal 18,917,818 28.9 2,795,677 6,767
RAE Pan-Bohai Rim
BT Linyi 974,636 1.5 92,194 10,572
&E & Yantai 849,660 1.3 158,772 5,625
H& B Laiwu 843,785 1.3 130,747 6,454
Hih Others 2,480,035 3.8 286,046 8,670
&t Subtotal 5,148,116 7.9 662,759 7,768
15 I8k 7 = Western Taiwan Straits
& N Ganzhou 3,237,253 4.9 435,249 7,438
il = Shangrao 1,300,311 2.0 248,146 5,240
Hib Others 1,700,778 2.6 204,769 8,306
a5 Subtotal 6,238,342 9.5 888,164 7,024
=4 Pearl River Delta
Hib Others 1,378,990 2.1 238,356 5,785
&5t Subtotal 1,378,990 21 238,356 5,785
F Total 65,500,822 100.0 7,670,277 8,540
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Cost of sales

The Group’s cost of sales increased by approximately 21.1% from
RMB52,087.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2020 to
RMB63,081.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2021. This
increase was largely in line with the increase in the Group’s total
revenue.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

Gross profit represents revenue less cost of sales. As a result of the
foregoing, the Group’s gross profit decreased by approximately 5.9%
from RMB13,852.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2020 to
RMB13,032.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2021.

The Group’s gross profit margin softened from 21.0% for the year
ended 31 December 2020 to 17.1% for the year ended 31 December
2021, mainly because of the pressure from ASP, higher land
acquisition costs relative to the respective ASP in respect of property
projects delivered during the year, and impairment provisions made
for certain development projects.

Other income and gains

The Group’s other income and gains primarily include (i) gain on
disposal of subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates; (i) net foreign
exchange difference; (i) government grants; (iv) forfeiture of deposits;
(v) changes in provision for financial guarantee contracts; and (vi)
others, which mainly include sundry income. The Group’s other
income and gains increased by approximately 4.5% from RMB918.1
million for the year ended 31 December 2020 to RMB959.1 million for
the year ended 31 December 2021.

Selling and distribution expenses

The Group’s selling and distribution expenses increased by
approximately 28.4% from RMB2,254.3 million for the year ended 31
December 2020 to RMB2,894.2 milion for the year ended 31
December 2021, primarily due to the increase in marketing expenses
incurred for the promotion of more property projects available for pre-
sale during the year.
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Administrative expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses increased by approximately
24.1% from RMB2,848.0 million for the year ended 31 December
2020 to RMB3,534.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2021,
primarily due to the increase in staff cost during the year. Since the
fourth quarter of 2021, the Group began to streamline the structure
and strengthen cost control measures.

Finance income

The Group’s finance income, which mainly represents bank interest
income, decreased by approximately 9.0% from RMB408.1 million
for the year ended 31 December 2020 to RMB371.5 million for the
year ended 31 December 2021.

Finance costs

The Group’s finance costs increased by approximately 19.3% from
RMB542.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2020 to
RMB647.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2021.

The Group’s total finance costs expensed and capitalised for the year
ended 31 December 2021 was RMB4,773.3 million, representing an
decrease of approximately 15.8% from RMB5,667.9 million for the
year ended 31 December 2020. The decrease was due to the
decrease in total indebtedness.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s weighted average cost of
indebtedness was approximately 9.0% (31 December 2020:
approximately 8.5%).

Share of profits of joint ventures and associates

The Group’s share of profits of joint ventures decreased by
approximately 4.1% from RMB467.9 million for the year ended 31
December 2020 to RMB448.7 million for the year ended 31
December 2021.

The Group’s share of profits of associates decreased by
approximately 35.2% from RMB497.2 million for the year ended 31
December 2020 to RMB322.1 million for the year ended 31
December 2021. On the aggregated basis, the Group’s share of
profits of joint ventures and associates amounted to RMB770.8
million for the year ended 31 December 2021, representing a year-
on-year decrease of 20.1%. The change was primarily due to the
decrease in delivery and profitability of property projects held by the
Group’s joint ventures and associates during the year ended 31
December 2021.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Profit before tax

As a result of the aforementioned changes of the Group’s financials,
the Group’s profit before tax decreased by approximately 26.4%
from RMB10,364.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2020 to
RMB7,624.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2021.

Income tax expense

The Group’s income tax expense comprises provisions made for
corporate income tax and land appreciation tax in the PRC less
deferred tax during the year. The Group’s income tax expense
decreased by approximately 24.5% from RMB3,798.4 million for the
year ended 31 December 2020 to RMB2,868.0 million for the year
ended 31 December 2021.

Profit for the year

As a result of the aforementioned changes of the Group’s financials,
the Group’s net profit for the year (before deducting non-controlling
interests) decreased by approximately 27.6% from RMB6,566.4
million in the year ended 31 December 2020 to RMB4,756.1 million
in the year ended 31 December 2021.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL
RESOURCES

The industry in which the Group engages is a capital-intensive
industry. The Group met and expects to continuously meet its
operating capital, capital expenditure and other capital needs with
cash generated from operations including proceeds from sale and
pre-sale of properties, proceeds from bank and other borrowings,
capital contribution from non-controlling shareholders and other
financings. The Group’s need for long-term liquid capital is associated
with capital allocated for new property development projects and
repayment of indebtedness.
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Net current assets

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s net current assets amounted
to RMB27,947.6 million (31 December 2020: RMB37,114.6 million).
Specifically, the Group’s total current assets decreased by
approximately 3.4% from RMB246,750.9 million as at 31 December
2020 to BRMB238,418.8 milion as at 31 December 2021. The
Group’s total current liabilities increased by approximately 0.4% from
RMB209,636.3 million as at 31 December 2020 to RMB210,471.2
million as at 31 December 2021. The decreased in the Group’s total
current assets was primarily attributable to () the decrease in
properties under development; and (i) the decrease in cash and bank
balances as at 31 December 2021.

Cash position

The Group’s cash and bank balances amounted to approximately
RMB27,610.5 milion in total as at 31 December 2021 (2020:
approximately RMB34,232.4 million), representing a decrease of
approximately 19.3% as compared with the end of 2020.

Financial Ratio

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had assets-to-liabilities ratio
after excluding receipts in advance (calculated by dividing total
liabilities minus contract liabilities by total assets minus contract
liabilities) was approximately 75.8%, the net gearing ratio was
approximately 35.4% and the non-restricted cash-to-current
borrowings (calculated by dividing non-restricted cash and cash
equivalents by current borrowings) was approximately 1.04.

Indebtedness

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had total outstanding
indebtedness of RMB40,181.4 million (31 December 2020:
RMB54,092.2 million), comprising bank and other borrowings of
approximately RMB31,681.5 million (831 December 2020:
RMB44,897.7 million), senior notes of approximately RMB8,181.3
million (31 December 2020: RMB8,876.8 million) and asset-backed
securities of approximately RMB318.6 million (31 December 2020:
RMB317.7 million).
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Table 5: Breakdown of the Group’s total indebtedness

M12A831H
As at 31 December
2021 & 20204
2021 2020
AR TR ARET
RMB’000 RMB’000
B &4 Current
RITER Bank loans
—FHEH — secured 1,402,958
— iR — unsecured 63,710
HaER Other loans
—FHEH — secured 6,537,022
—m A — unsecured 2,064,473
RERITE RN o Current portion of long-term bank loans
— B — secured 4,136,130
— A — unsecured 1,050,000
REHEMERENE D Current portion of long-term other loans
—EBEKA — secured 888,450
— R — unsecured 335,154
BEER Senior notes 7,306,141
BEEERES Asset-backed securities —
B ER AR Total current indebtedness 23,784,038
Ik B H#A Non-current
RITER Bank loans
—FHEH — secured 20,890,568
HaEx Other loans
—HEH — secured 3,603,520
— A — unsecured 3,925,768
BhREE Senior notes 1,570,623
BEERES Asset-backed securities 317,709
FENEEK AR Total non-current indebtedness 30,308,188
BEHAE Total indebtedness 54,092,226
BHEA Secured 37,776,357
i Unsecured 16,315,869
BEkEE Total indebtedness 54,092,226
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By fixed or variable interest rates

M12A831H
As at 31 December
2021 & 20204
2021 2020
AR® T AREFTTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
JE FI| & Fixed interest rate 44,140,675
F B R R Floating interest rate 9,951,551
BEHEE Total Indebtedness 54,092,226
B EENE S By currency denomination
M12A831H
As at 31 December
2021 20204
2021 2020
AR T ARETF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
NAR®E Denominated in RMB 42,710,756
AEITETE Denominated in US$ 11,290,977
LABEETHE Denominated in HK$ 90,493
BiEHEE Total Indebtedness 54,092,226
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M12A831H
As at 31 December
2021 & 20204
2021 2020
AR TR ARET
RMB’000 RMB’000
EEEBERITERN: Bank loans repayable:
—BR—FRNHIZERKEERE — Within one year or on demand 6,652,798
—ARNE_FEE — In the second year 9,916,429
—BRE=ZZFERER — In the third to fifth year, inclusive
(BEEEME)EE 10,974,139
27,543,366
EEZEHMER: Other borrowings repayable:
—BR—FRNH L EREERE — Within one year or on demand 9,825,099
—HARE_FEE — In the second year 6,299,288
—BARE=ZEFERFNA — In the third to fifth year, inclusive
(BEEEME)EER 1,230,000
17,354,387
EEHEZEEERE: Senior notes repayable:
— AR —FRNER — Within one year 7,306,141
—BRE _FEE — In the second year 1,570,623
8,876,764
EEHEEERRES Asset-backed securities repayable:
— AR —FRNEE — Within one year —
—BARE_FEER — In the second year 317,709
317,709
et Total 54,092,226
EEEH Pledge of assets

R2021F12 A31H  AEBEME KUK
£ B AR #68,248.3H & T (20204 12 A
ARMS9793F E L) MEEE
ZELEEBREN)REDE  (VE2

318 :
A -
M R i) B ERIE R o

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s borrowings were secured by
the Group’s assets of RMB68,248.3 million (31 December 2020:
RMB89,979.3 million) which includes () investment properties; (i)
properties under development; and (jii) pledged deposits.
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Financial risks

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, including
interest rate risk, credit risk, foreign currency risk and liquidity risk.
Generally, the Group introduces conservative strategies on its risk
management and did not use any derivatives or other instruments for
hedging purposes during the year.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to risk for changes in market interest rates
relates primarily to the Group’s interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings. The Group has not used derivative financial instruments
to hedge any interest rate risk. The Group manages its interest cost
using variable rate bank borrowings and other borrowings.

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures arising from
transactions by the group entities in currencies other than their
respective functional currencies. In addition, the Group has foreign
currency exposures from its cash and cash equivalents and senior
notes.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had (i) cash and bank balances
denominated in United States dollars and Hong Kong dollars of
RMB234.5 milion and RMB43.1 million, respectively, (i) bank and
other borrowings denominated in United States dollars of RMB956.4
million, and (i) senior notes denominated in United States dollars of
RMB8,181.3 million, all of which are subject to fluctuations in
exchange rates. The Group has not entered into any foreign currency
hedging arrangement. However, the Group will closely monitor its
exposure to exchange rates in order to best preserve the Group’s
cash value.

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties.
It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit
terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition,
receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis and the
Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant. For transactions
that are not denominated in the functional currency of the relevant
operating unit, the Group does not offer credit terms without the
specific approval of the head of credit control of the Group.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of
funding and flexibility through the use of interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings, senior notes and asset-backed securities. Cash
flows are closely monitored on an ongoing basis.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Mortgage guarantees

The Group provided guarantees in respect of mortgage facilities granted
by certain banks to the purchasers of the Group’s completed properties
held for sale. Pursuant to the terms of the guarantee arrangements, in
case of default on mortgage payments by the purchasers, the Group is
responsible to repay the outstanding mortgage principals together with
any accrued interest and penalties owed by the defaulted purchasers to
those banks. Under such arrangement, the related properties were
pledged to the banks as collateral for the mortgage loans, upon default
on mortgage repayments by these purchasers, the banks are entitled to
take over the legal titles and will realise the pledged properties through
open auction.

The Group’s guarantee period starts from the dates of grant of the
relevant mortgage loans and ends upon the issuance and registration
of property ownership certificates to the purchasers, which will
generally be available within half a year to two years after the
purchasers take possession of the relevant properties.

The total outstanding mortgage guarantee amounts provided by the
Group to banks amounted to RMB61,946.8 million as at 31
December 2021 (31 December 2020: RMB56,769.4 million).

The Group did not incur any material losses during the year in respect of
the guarantees provided for mortgage facilities granted to purchasers of
the Group’s completed properties held for sale. The Directors considered
that in case of default on payments, the net realisable value of the related
properties would be sufficient to repay the outstanding mortgage
loans together with any accrued interest and penalty, and therefore
no provision has been made in connection with the guarantees.

Financial guarantees

As at 31 December 2021, the Group guaranteed certain of the bank
and other borrowings made to its joint ventures, associates and third
parties up to RMB16,146.9 million (31 December 2020:
RMB12,193.5 million).

Legal contingents

The Group may be involved in lawsuits and other proceedings in its
ordinary course of business from time to time. The Group believes
that no liabilities resulting from these proceedings will have a material
and adverse effect on its business, financial condition or operating
results.
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COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s property development
expenditures, acquisition of land use rights and capital contributions
payable to joint ventures and associates that had contracted but yet
provided for were RMB42,001.6 million (31 December 2020:
RMB51,892.9 million).

OFF-BALANCE SHEET COMMITMENTS AND
ARRANGEMENTS

Except for the contingent liabilities disclosed above, as at 31
December 2021, the Group did not have any outstanding loan capital
issued or agreed to be issued, bank overdrafts, loans, debt securities,
borrowings or other similar indebtedness, liabilities under
acceptances (other than normal trade bills), acceptance credits,
debentures, mortgages, charges, finance leases or hire purchase
commitments, guarantees or other material contingent liabilities.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES, AND FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this report, there were no other significant
investments held, no material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures during the year, nor was there any plan
authorised by the Group for other material investments or additions of
capital assets during the year ended 31 December 2021.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2021, the Group employed a total of 10,317 full-
time employees (31 December 2020: 13,285). For the year ended 31
December 2021, the staff cost recognised as expenses of the Group
amounted to RMB2,065.2 million (31 December 2020: RMB2,253.5
million). The Group offers its employees competitive remuneration
packages that include basic salaries, discretionary bonuses,
performance-based payments, share options and share awards so
as to attract and retain quality staff.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURE

To supplement the consolidated financial statements which are
presented in accordance with IFRS, the Company also presented the
core net profit as non-GAAP measures used by the management of
the Group to provide additional information on the its operating
performance. Core net profit eliminates the impact of fair value of
investment properties and financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss and listing and other non-recurring expenses, net of deferred
tax, which are not indicative for evaluating the actual performance of
the Group’s business. Core net profit is not a standard measure
under IFRS. The Company believes that such non-GAAP measure
provides additional information to investors and others in
understanding and evaluating the consolidated results of operations
in the same manner as the management of the Group.

The core net profit (2021: approximate RMB5,009.6 million; 2020:
approximate RMB6,588.3 million) represents the profit for the year
(2021: approximate RMB4,756.1 million; 2020: approximate
RMB6,566.4 million) excluding 1) fair value gains on investment
properties (2021: approximate RMB96.8 million; 2020: approximate
RMB88.4 million); 2) fair value losses on financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (2021: approximate RMB372.2 million; 2020:
approximate RMB30.9 million); 3) other non-recurring expenses (2021:
approximate RMB46.9 million; 2020: approximate RMB65.0 million),
and 4) deferred tax impact (2021: deferred tax credit approximate
RMB68.8 million; 2020: deferred tax charge approximate RMB14.4
million).
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The core net profit attributable to owner of the Company (2021:
approximate RMB2,991.1 million; 2020: approximate RMB3,754.1
million) represents the profit attributable to owners of the Company
(2021: approximate RMB2,702.6 million; 2020: approximate
RMB3,743.4 million) excluding 1) fair value gain on investment
properties attributable to owners of the Company (2021: approximate
RMB36.1 million; 2020: approximate RMB77.3 million); 2) fair value
losses on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
attributable to owners of the Company (2021: approximate
RMB372.2 million; 2020: approximate RMB30.9 million); 3) other
non-recurring expenses attributable to owners of the Company (2021:
approximate RMB36.5 million; 2020: approximate RMB45.5 million),
and 4) deferred tax impact attributable to owners of the Company (2021:
deferred tax credit approximate RMB84.1 million; 2020: deferred tax
charge approximate RMB11.6 million.

The definitions of core net profits should not be considered in
isolation or be construed as an alternative to profit for the year or any
other standard measure under IFRS or as an indicator of operating
performance. Core net profit of the Group may not be comparable to
similarly titled measures used by other companies.
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. YANG Jian, aged 50, is the founder of the Group and was
appointed as an executive Director and the chairman of the Board in
March 2018. He is also the chairman of the nomination committee
and a member of the remuneration committee of the Company. Mr.
Yang has more than 28 years of experience in the PRC real estate
industry. Mr. Yang is principally responsible for the overall
management and business operations of the Group, including
coordinating board affairs, formulating strategies and operational
plans, and making major business decisions.

Mr. Yang received the Executive Education Program Certificate from
Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business, the PRC, in May 2016
after completing a course in investment and financing in capital
market.
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Mr. CHEN Hongliang, aged 40, was appointed as an executive
Director in December 2019. He is currently a co-president of the
property business and a director of Shanghai Zhongliang Enterprise
Development Limited, Shanghai Zhongliang Real Estate Group Co.,
Ltd. and various subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Chen is also the
chairman of the ESG Committee. He is primarily responsible for the
governance and management of the Group, including strategies,
human resources, mechanism accounting, legal, risk and financial
management, real estate information management and brand building
of the Group.

Mr. Chen has more than 16 years of experience in human resources.
Since September 2009, Mr. Chen has worked for the subsidiaries of
the Group holding different positions. He was the assistant president
of the Group and was in charge of human resources center, legal
affairs center and mechanism accounting center from August 2016 to
August 2018, then he was promoted to vice president of the
Company in August 2018 and subsequently promoted to the current
position as a co-president of the property business in September
2019. Mr. Chen was the deputy general manager of human resources
of the Group from March 2016 to August 2016, the director of human
resources of the Group from March 2015 to March 2016 and as the
deputy director of the Group from March 2013 to March 2015. He
was the manager of corporate management department and head of
office at Shanghai Zhongliang Real Estate Group Company Limited
from September 2009 to March 2013.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Chen was the manager of human
resources administration at Suzhou Shengshi Real Estate Investment
Group Ltd.*, which primarily engages in property development and
sales, from January 2007 to October 2008. Mr. Chen graduated from
Anhui University of Science and Technology in Anhui Province, the
PRC, in July 2004, majoring in human resources management. In
February 2010, he obtained the Human Resources Management
Certificate (Intermediate level)* granted by Jiangsu Province Human
Resources and Social Security Bureau*.
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Mr. HE Jian, aged 47, was appointed as an executive Director in July
2021. He is currently a co-president of the property business and a
director of Shanghai Zhongliang Real Estate Group Company Limited
and various subsidiaries of the Group. He is also a member of the
ESG Committee. Mr. He is primarily responsible for the investment,
product development, sales and customer services, and overseeing
of the business operations of the Group.

Mr. He joined the Group in December 2015 and has over 20 years of
experience in real estate development and sales operations, and held
senior management positions as deputy general manager of sales
and marketing and president of various regional companies and
groups. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. He held senior management
roles in Binjiang, Greentown and Sino-Ocean real estate groups.
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Mr. YAU Sze Ka, also known as Albert Yau, aged 50, joined the
Group in April 2019 and was appointed as an executive Director in
December 2019. He is also a member of the ESG Committee. He is
currently the vice president of the Group and a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Yau is primarily responsible for the
overall financial management, fundraisings and capital market matters
of the Group.

Mr. Yau has 28 years of experience in real estates, capital markets
and corporate management. From July 2011 to March 2019, Mr. Yau
was the chief financial officer of CIFI Holdings (Group) Co. Ltd., a
company principally engaged in property development and property
investment in the PRC and the shares of which are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 884). From December
2005 to June 2011, Mr. Yau was the director of corporate affairs of
Lai Sun Garment (International) Limited, a company principally
engaged in property investment and development in Hong Kong,
PRC and overseas as well as investment in and operation of hotels
and restaurants and the shares of which are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 191), where he was responsible
for corporate finance, business development and investor relations.
From January 2003 to December 2005, Mr. Yau was a director of
DBS Asia Capital Limited, a company principally engaged in
corporate finance and investment banking. From September 1999 to
January 2003, Mr. Yau worked for ICEA Capital Limited, a company
principally engaged in corporate finance and investment banking, and
his last position held was an executive director of the investment
banking division. From January 2017 to March 2019, Mr. Yau was an
independent non-executive director of Wisdom Education
International Holdings Company Limited, a company principally
engaged in the provision of education services in the PRC and the
shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 6068). Mr. Yau obtained a bachelor’s degree of science
from University of California at Berkeley, the United States in May
1994. He is also a holder of Chartered Financial Analyst.
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Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. WANG Kaiguo, aged 63, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director in June 2019 and is currently a member of the
audit committee and the nomination committee of the Company.
Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Wang has served at Shanghai
Zhongping Capital Co. Ltd., an asset management company, as the
chairman of the board of directors since August 2016. Mr. Wang has
more than 26 years of experience working in financial institutions.
From February 1995 to July 2016, he served at a Chinese securities
corporation Haitong Securities Co., Ltd. and held various positions,
including the deputy general manager, general manager, Secretary of
the Leading Party Members’ Group, Secretary of Party Committee
and chairman of the board, president and executive director, where
he began to host the work of Haitong Securities Co., Ltd. in a
comprehensive way and led it to become a leading securities in
China. Mr. Wang received his doctor’s degree in economics from
Xiamen University in Fujian Province, the PRC in May 1990. Mr. Wang
was certified as a senior economist by Bank of Communications in
December 1997. Since Feb 2022, Mr. Wang has been an
independent non-executive director of Greenland Holdings
Corporation Limited, a company which invests in real estate, energy,
finance and hotels, etc. and is listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange
(stock code: 600606). Since May 2017, Mr. Wang has been an
independent non-executive director of Shanghai Dazhong Public
Utilities (Group) Co., Ltd., a supplier of piped gas and other public
utilities listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600635).
He has also served as an independent non-executive director of a
corporate commercial bank Shanghai Rural Commercial Bank Co.,
Ltd. since March 2017 and the company is listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange since August 2021 (stock code: 601825). From
December 2009 to December 2014, Mr. Wang was an independent
non-executive director at Shanghai Chlor-Alkali Chemical Co., Ltd., a
company which manufactures and markets chlorine and alkaline
chemicals and is listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code:
600618). Since November 2018, Mr. Wang has been an independent
non-executive director of Anxin Trust Co., Ltd, (a company which
engages in deposit and lending business, investment business and
trust business and is listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock
code: 600816)), as well as an independent non-executive director of
Caitong Fund Management Co., Ltd., a company which engages in
fund management business, fund establishment and other business
as approved by the China Securities Regulatory Commission.
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Mr. WU Xiaobo, aged 62, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director in June 2019 and is currently the chairman of the
remuneration committee and a member of the audit committee and
nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Wu has extensive work
experience acting as a strategy adviser in the manufacturing industry
in terms of providing strategy, innovation, transnational development
and management consulting services. Mr. Wu has served as an
independent director of Hikvision Digital Technology Co., Ltd. (a
video-centric 10T solution provider listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange, stock code: 002415) since March 2021. He also served
as an independent director of Ucloud Technology Co.,Ltd. (a neutral
third-party cloud computing service provider listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange, stock code: 688158), since June 2020 and served
as an independent director of IKD Co., Ltd. (an auto parts
manufacturer listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code:
600933) since August 2018. From March 2010 to November 2015,
Mr. Wu was a strategy adviser of Zhejiang Machinery and Electrical
Group, which manufactures and distributes machinery products, and
he was responsible for corporate strategy consultation. Mr. Wu
graduated from Zhejiang University in Zhejiang Province, the PRC,
with a doctor’s degree in management science and engineering in
July 1992, a master’s degree in engineering in June 1989 and a
bachelor’s degree in electrical engineering in January 1982.
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Biographies of Director and Senior Management

Mr. AU YEUNG Po Fung, aged 54, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director in June 2019 and is currently the
chairman of the audit committee and a member of the remuneration
committee of the Company and the ESG Committee. Mr. Au Yeung
has extensive work experience in the real estate industry. He held
various senior management positions in various real estate
companies, including Beijing Huahong Group Co., Ltd., Sansheng
Holdings (Group) Co. Ltd., Fujian Sansheng Property Development
Company Limited, South China Assets Holdings Limited, Shenzhen
Tianlai Tourism Property Group, Fosun Industrial Holdings Limited (a
subsidiary of Fosun International Limited), Sun Hung Kai Properties
Limited, Powerlong Real Estate Holdings Limited, Greenland Hong
Kong Holdings Limited, Landsea Green Group Co., Ltd., Fu Wah
International Enterprises Group Ltd.. Mr. Au Yeung graduated from
The Hong Kong Polytechnic (currently known as The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University) in Hong Kong in November 1990 with a
bachelor’s degree in business studies. He was admitted as a fellow
of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in November
2000, a fellow of the Hong Kong Society of Accountants (currently
known as the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(HKICPA)) in May 2003, and a fellow of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales in July 2015. Mr. Au Yeung was
also certified as a chartered financial analyst (CFA) of the CFA
Institute in September 2006.
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Period of service

B EERKGE T IIB M E
MAREEBILIFRNITES:

Exchange:

DNRAEW

Name of company

In addition, Mr. Au Yeung holds or had served as an independent
non-executive director in the following companies listed on the Stock

ITEXH

Principal business

202010 &4

October 2020 to present

20206 AES

June 2020 to present

20198 A E 4

August 2019 to present

2018F6AE S

June 2018 to present

20186 AZE %S

June 2018 to present

201845 A =2021F6 A

May 2018 to June 2021

20176 A £2020%2 A

June 2017 to February 2020

201657 A £2019%9 A

July 2016 to September 2019

201655 A £2016F 9 A

May 2016 to September 2016

FPRARBREERAEE S REEE

FX & e
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L ESEAER AR

(B& A 5%  6900)

Sunkwan Properties Group Limited
(stock code: 6900)

ERRBEBRBRRAA

(B 7 K 5% - 6958)

Zhenro Services Group Limited
(stock code: 6958)

mOER(EE)BRRAE

(B tn F55% = 2103)

Sinic Holdings (Group) Company Limited
(stock code: 2103)

BEFRSGEEAR QA
(P& 2 5% : 8036)
eBroker Group Limited
(stock code: 8036)

G ESEERR LA

(A% 3 R5% - 1996)

Redsun Properties Group Limited
(stock code: 1996)

PEmEELRNBRAR
(A&t R 5% = 1749)

Shanshan Brand Management Co., Ltd.
(stock code: 1749)

B ESRAQA
(B 3 K 5% - 108)
GR Properties Ltd.
(stock code: 108)

HFRXAREEERA A
(B 2 5% - 931)

China LNG Group Limited
(stock code: 931)

EHEERERER AR

(B 5% - 381)

Kiu Hung International Holdings Limited
(stock code: 381)

MERERD

real estate developer

BAMEMEEERBRED

complex property management service provider

MERER

real estate developer

TRUBRTREER

financial technology solution provider

MERERD

real estate developer

R SR AR
UNGTEEECES
menswear company focusing on design, marketing
and sale of formal and casual business menswear in
the PRC

MEREREERF

CEERR  EHRAHELR R

property development and management company

BEEERHERMAE

asset management and new energy development

MARENREBERRABEBES

toys manufacturing and resources and leisure-related
business

The abovementioned Directors of the Company are members of

senior management of the Group.
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Biographies of Director and Senior Management

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. YEUNG Tak Yip, aged 40, was appointed as the company
secretary in July 2018. Mr. Yeung possesses over eight years of
experience in company secretarial practice and more than 17 years
of experience in finance and administration. Prior to joining the Group,
he was the company secretary, financial controller, director of
investor relations and authorised representative of Modern Land (China)
Co., Limited, which engages in property development and provision
of real estate related services and is listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 1107), from April 2016 to April 2018. From October 2012 to
April 2016, Mr. Yeung was the company secretary and group
financial controller of China Water Property Group Limited (currently
known as China City Infrastructure Group Limited), a property
development group listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2349).
Mr. Yeung previously worked at Deloitte & Touche as an audit
manager from April 2008 to February 2011 and as an auditor from
September 2003 to April 2008. He received his bachelor’s degree in
professional accountancy from The Chinese University of Hong Kong
in Hong Kong in May 2003. He has also been fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants since March 2013
and Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (HKICPA)
since July 2010.

*

For illustrative purpose only
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group is committed to achieving high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and to
enhance corporate value and accountability.

The Company has adopted and applied the Corporate Governance
Code as its own code on corporate governance and, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, the Company has complied with all
applicable code provisions under the Corporate Governance Code
for the year ended 31 December 20211

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board composition

As at 31 December 2021, the Board consists of four executive Directors,
namely Mr. Yang Jian (Chairman), Mr. Chen Hongliang (Co-President),
Mr. He Jian (Co-President) and Mr. Yau Sze Ka (Albert) and three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wang Kaiguo, Mr. Wu
Xiaobo, and Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung. An updated list of the Directors and
their roles and functions is published on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and of the Company, respectively. The overall management
and supervision of the Company’s operation and the function of
formulating overall business strategies were vested in the Board.

There are no financial, business, family or other material relationships
among members of the Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company has at all
times met the requirements of Rules 3.10(1) and (2) of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-
executive directors with at least one independent non-executive
director possessing appropriate professional qualifications, or
accounting or related financial management expertise. The three
independent non-executive Directors represent more than one-third
of the Board, complying with the requirement under Rule 3.10A of
the Listing Rules whereby independent non-executive directors of a
listed issuer must represent at least one-third of the board. The Board
believes there is sufficient independence element in the Board to
safeguard the interest of Shareholders.

1 A new Corporate Governance Code came into effect on 1 January 2022 and the
requirements under the new Corporate Governance Code apply to corporate
governance reports for financial year commencing on or after 1 January 2022.
As this corporate governance report is for the year ended 31 December 2021,
the Corporate Governance Code described herein is the Corporate Governance
Code in effect during the year ended 31 December 2021.
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Corporate Governance Report

Directors’ responsibilities

The Board takes the responsibility to oversee all major matters of the
Company, including the formulation and approval of all policy matters,
overall strategies, internal control and risk management systems, and
monitor the performance of the senior executives. The Directors have
to make decisions objectively in the interests of the Company. As at
31 December 2021, the Board comprised seven Directors, including
four executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors. Their names and biographical details are set out in the
“Biographies of Directors and senior management” section of this
report.

Liability insurance for Directors and senior management of the
Company is maintained by the Company with appropriate coverage
for certain legal liabilities which may arise in the course of performing
their duties.

Delegation by the Board

The management, consisting of executive Directors along with other
senior executives, is delegated with responsibilities for implementing
the strategy and direction as adopted by the Board from time to time,
and conducting the day-to-day management and operations of the
Group. Executive Directors and senior executives meet regularly to
review the performance of the businesses of the Group as a whole,
co-ordinate overall resources and make financial and operational
decisions. The Board also gives clear directions as to their powers of
management including circumstances where management should
report back, and will review the delegation arrangements on a
periodic basis to ensure that they remain appropriate to the needs of
the Group.

Directors’ responsibilities for financial statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group in accordance with
statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards. The
Directors also acknowledge their responsibilities to ensure that the
consolidated financial statements of the Group are published in a
timely manner.
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Material uncertainties - Going Concern

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s current portion of interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings, senior notes and asset-backed
securities amounted to RMB19,539 million and senior notes due on
17 April 2023 with cross default clauses amounted to RMB1,302
million, while its cash and cash equivalents amounted to RMB20,281
million. The Directors have evaluated the sustainable operation ability
for 12 months from the end of the reporting period, which is affected
by the macroeconomic environment, industry environment and credit
environment superimposing the impact of multiple rounds of epidemic
and came to an opinion that the liquidity risk of the company is facing
periodic challenges.

The Directors have reviewed the Group’s cash flow forecast covering
a period of twelve months from the end of the reporting period. They
are of the opinion that, taking into account of the appropriate plans
and measures, the Group will have sufficient working capital to
finance its operations and meet its financial obligations as and when
they fall due in the foreseeable future. Details of the measures to
improve the Group’s financial positions are set out in Note 2.1 to the
Financial Statements in this report. Accordingly, the directors believe
it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 on a going concern
basis.

Notwithstanding the above, given the volatility of the property sector
in China and the uncertainties to obtain continuous support by the
banks and the Group’s creditors, material uncertainties exist as to
whether management of the Company will be able to achieve its
plans and measures as described above. Should the going concern
assumption be inappropriate, adjustments may have to be made to
write down the values of assets to their recoverable amounts, to
provide for any further liabilities that might arise, and to reclassify non-
current assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and current
liabilities, respectively. The effects of these adjustments have not
been reflected in the consolidated financial information contained in
this report.

Independent non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors play a significant role in the
Board by virtue of their independent judgment and their views carry
significant weight in the Board’s decision. The functions of
independent non-executive Directors include bringing an impartial
view and judgement on issues of the Company’s strategies,
performance and control; and scrutinising the Company’s
performance and monitoring performance reporting.
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All independent non-executive Directors possess extensive academic,
professional and industry expertise and management experience and
have made positive contributions to the development of the Company
through providing their professional advice to the Board.

All independent non-executive Directors are appointed for a term of
three years.

Confirmation of independence

The independence of the independent non-executive Directors has
been assessed in accordance with the applicable Listing Rules and
each of the independent non-executive Directors has made an annual
written confirmation of independence to the Company pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all
independent non-executive Directors meet the guidelines for
assessing independence set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and
are independent.

Board diversity policy

To enhance the effectiveness of the Board and to maintain the high
standard of corporate governance, the Company has adopted the
board diversity policy on 19 June 2019, which sets out the objective
and approach to achieve and maintain diversity of the Board.
Pursuant to the board diversity policy, the Company seeks to achieve
board diversity by taking into consideration of various factors,
including but not limited to professional experience, skills, knowledge,
gender, age, cultural and education background, ethnicity and length
of service with the Group.

The nomination committee is responsible for ensuring the diversity of
the Board members and compliance with relevant codes governing
board diversity under the Listing Rules. The nomination committee
will review the board diversity policy and its diversity profile from time
to time to ensure its continued effectiveness.

The Directors have a balanced mix of knowledge, skills and
experience, including the areas of real estate, accounting, financial
management, education and manufacturing industries. They obtained
academic diplomas and degrees in various majors, including
economics, business studies, human resources management, social
work, science and management science and engineering. The
Company has three independent non-executive Directors with
different industry backgrounds, representing more than one-third of
the members of the Board.
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The Company has also taken steps to promote gender diversity at all
levels of the Company, including but not limited to the Board and the
management levels. In order to ensure gender diversity at the Board
level, the nomination committee of the Company is currently in the
process of identifying at least one suitable female candidate who has
necessary skills and experience to the Board for its consideration of
Director. The Board will strive to achieve an appropriate balance of
gender diversity with the ultimate goal of bringing the Board to gender
parity as soon as practicable. The Company will also ensure that
there is gender diversity when recruiting staff at mid to senior level of
the Group so that it will have a pipeline of female senior management
and potential successors to the Board in the future.

Appointment, re-election and removal of Directors

Each of the executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors has entered into a service contract or a letter of
appointment with the Company for a specific term. Such term is
subject to his retirement by rotation and re-election at an annual
general meeting of the Company in accordance with the Articles.
Pursuant to Article 112 of the Articles, the Board shall have power
from time to time and at any time to appoint any person as a Director
either to fill a casual vacancy or as an additional Director, provided
that the number of Directors so appointed shall not exceed the
maximum number determined from time to time by the Shareholders
in general meeting. Any Director appointed by the Board to fill a
casual vacancy shall hold office only until the first general meeting of
the Company after his/her appointment and be subject to re-election
at such meeting. Any Director appointed by the Board as an addition
to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next following
annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for
re-election.

Pursuant to Article 108(a) of the Articles, at each annual general
meeting of the Company, one-third of the Directors for the time
being, shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director
(including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election. The members of the
Company may, at any general meetings convened and held in
accordance with the Articles, remove a Director by ordinary resolution
at any time before the expiration of his period of office
notwithstanding anything contrary in the Articles or in any agreement
between the Company and such Director and may by ordinary
resolution elect another person in his stead.
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During the year ended 31 December 2021, changes of the Directors
are as follows:

Mr. He Jian was appointed as executive Directors with effect from 1
July 2021. Following the appointment of him, Mr. Li Heli resigned as
executive Director on the same date due to other personal
commitments.

Mr.Chen Hongliang was appointed as the chairman of the ESG
Committee and Mr. He Jian, Mr. Yau Sze Ka (Albert) and Mr. Au
Yeung Po Fung were appointed as members of the ESG Committee.

Directors’ training and professional development

As part of continuous professional development of the Directors, the
Company provides in-house training and engages professional firms
to provide training to Directors to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills and continuously update Directors on the latest
developments regarding the Group’s business, the Listing Rules and
other applicable legal and regulatory requirements to ensure
compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate
governance practices.

For the newly appointed Director, the Company would arrange a
comprehensive, formal and tailored induction session on his/her
appointment to ensure he/she would have a proper understanding of
the Company’s businesses and operations as well as his/her
responsibilities under relevant statues, laws, rules and regulations as
a director of a listed company.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, each of the Directors
attended training relating to the Group’s businesses, Listing Rules,
legal and regulatory requirements and corporate governance
practices, and read relevant materials to keep themselves abreast of
regulatory developments and changes.

Board meetings

The Board meets regularly to discuss and formulate the overall
strategy as well as the operation and financial performance of the
Group. Directors may participate either in person or through
electronic means of communications. The Board holds at least four
meetings a year at approximately quarterly intervals. Additional
meetings would be arranged, if and when required. The date of each
meeting is decided in advance to enable the Directors to attend the
meeting in person.
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During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Directors have made
active contribution to the affairs of the Group and 7 board meetings
were held to consider, among other things, various transactions
contemplated by the Group, and to review and approve the interim
results and annual results of the Group. According to Article 107(d) of
the Articles, a Director shall not vote (nor be counted in the quorum)
on any resolution of the Board approving any contract or arrangement
or any other proposal in which he or any of his close associates is
materially interested.

Attendance record of Directors

The attendance record of Directors at the meetings of the Board, the
Board committees and the Shareholders held during the year ended
31 December 2021 is set out below:

BZE2021F12A31ALEESNEE LTEENEE

Number of meetings attended/Number of meetings held for

the year ended 31 December 2021

R -

HER
E= Exe FERZEEE REZEESE ¥FMWEES EREZEESE RRKAE

Audit Nomination Remuneration ESG  General
Directors Board committee committee committee committee meetings
HITES
Executive Directors
BRIKE(FE) 7/7 i A 2/2 2/2 58 A 1/1
Mr. Yang Jian (Chairman) N/A N/A
PR AL 5% 5% & (Bt A2 #) 77 i A A iE A @A 2/2 1/1
Mr. Chen Hongliang (Co-President) N/A N/A N/A
] | 55 & (B A &) Y 5/7 i A 38 A TiE A 1/2 11
Mr. He Jian (Co-President)™ete " N/A N/A N/A
mRRLEE 777 TEH A i A 2/2 1/1
Mr. Yau Sze Ka (Albert) N/A N/A N/A
2 M SR o A 2 2/7 NiE A NiE A TiE A 1/2 1/1
Mr. Li HeliYote 2 N/A N/A N/A
BYFHTES
Independent non-executive
Directors

THRB%E 7/7 2/2 2/2 38 A i A 1/1
Mr. Wang Kaiguo N/A N/A
R KA 7/7 2/2 2/2 2/2 T3 A 1/1
Mr. Wu Xiaobo N/A
B5E gt 7/7 2/2 i A 2/2 2/2 1/1
Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung N/A
M 3 - Notes:

(1) (AIRELER0NETA1REZEAES-

@ FMELEEDHR2021F7A1HEEIES -
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(1) Mr. He Jian was appointed as Director on 1 July 2021.

) Mr. Li Heli resigned as Director on 1 July 2021.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its code of conduct
for the Directors’ dealings in the securities of the Company. Upon
specific enquiries of all the Directors, each of them has confirmed
that he had complied with all applicable code provisions under the
Model Code for the year ended 31 December 2021.

As required by the Company, relevant officers and employees of the
Company are also bound by the Model Code, which prohibits them
to deal in securities of the Company at any time when he/she
possesses inside information in relation to those securities. No
incident of non-compliance of the Model Code by the relevant officers
and employees was noted by the Company.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy, pursuant to which the
Company may declare and distribute dividends to the Shareholders,
provided that the Group records a profit after tax and that the
declaration and distribution of dividends does not affect the normal
operations of the Group. In deciding whether to propose a dividend
and in determining the dividend amount, the Board would take into
account the Group’s earnings, cash flow, financial condition, capital
requirements, statutory fund reserve requirements and any other
conditions that the Board may consider relevant. Whilst the Board will
review from time to time for determination on proposed dividend with
the above factors taken into account, there can be no assurance that
dividends will be declared or paid in any particular amount for any
given period.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties including:

— to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

— to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

— to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

— to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

— 1o review the Company’s compliance with Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules (Corporate Governance Code).

The Board had performed the above duties during the year ended 31
December 2021.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the positions of the
chairman and the chief executive officer were held separately. The
role of chairman was held by Mr. Yang Jian, and the role of chief
executive officer were held by Mr. Chen Hongliang, Mr. He Jian (since
his appointment on 1 July 2021) and Mr. Li Heli (up to his resignation
on 1 July 2021), the co-president of the Group during the year ended
31 December 2021. The segregation of duties of the chairman and
the chief executive officer ensures a clear distinction in the
Chairman’s responsibility to manage and provide leadership for the
Board and the chief executives responsibility to manage the
Company’s business.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four committees with specific written
terms of reference to oversee particular aspects of the Group’s
affairs. All the Board committees are empowered by the Board under
their own terms of reference which have been posted on Stock
Exchange’s website and/or the Company’s website.

Audit committee

The Company established an audit committee on 19 June 2019 in
compliance with Rules 3.21 to 3.23 of the Listing Rules with written
terms of reference in compliance with the Corporate Governance
Code set forth in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The primary duties
of the Company’s audit committee include, among others, (a) making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment
and removal of the external auditor and approving the remuneration
and terms of engagement of the external auditor; (b) reviewing the
Group’s financial statements, annual report and accounts and half-
year report and significant financial reporting judgments contained
therein; and (c) reviewing the Group’s financial controls, internal
control and risk management systems.

The audit committee consists of three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung (being the chairman of the
audit committee), Mr. Wang Kaiguo and Mr. Wu Xiaobo. In
compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules, Mr. Au Yeung Po
Fung possesses the appropriate professional and accounting
qualifications.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the audit committee held
two meetings with the senior management and independent auditor
of the Company to consider the independence and audit scope of
independent auditor, and to review and discuss the risk management
and internal control systems, the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal audit and risk control function, consolidated interim and
annual financial statements of the Group and the opinion and report
of independent auditor before reporting and submitting to the Board
for their approval. The attendance record of individual Directors of the
audit committee meetings is set out on page 68 of this report.
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Remuneration committee

The Company established a remuneration committee on 19 June
2019 with written terms of reference, which is in compliance with
Rule 3.25 and Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The remuneration
committee reviews and recommmends to the Board the remuneration
and other benefits paid by the Group to its Directors and senior
management. The remuneration of all of the Directors and senior
management is subject to regular monitoring by the remuneration
committee to ensure that levels of their remuneration and
compensation are appropriate.

The remuneration committee consists of three members, two of
whom are independent non-executive Directors. The three members
are Mr. Wu Xiaobo (being the chairman of the remuneration
committee), Mr. Yang and Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the remuneration
committee held two meetings to review the remuneration structure of
the Directors and senior management, as well as the grant of share
options of the Group and made recommendation to the Board for
approval.

The remuneration of Directors and senior management is determined
with reference to the skills and knowledge of the Directors and senior
management, their job responsibilities and level of involvement in the
Group’s affairs, the performance and profitability as well as
remuneration benchmark in the industry and the prevailing market
conditions. Remuneration comprise basic salaries and allowances,
bonus, equity-settled share based payments and retirement benefit
contributions.

Nomination Committee

The Company established a nomination committee on 19 June 2019
with written terms of reference, which is in compliance with Rule 3.27A
and Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The primary responsibilities of
the nomination committee are to consider and recommend to the
Board suitable and qualified candidates of Directors and to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board and the board diversity
policy adopted by the Company on a regular basis.

The nomination committee consists of three members, two of whom
are independent non-executive Directors. The three members are Mr.
Yang (being the chairman of the nomination committee), Mr. Wang
Kaiguo and Mr. Wu Xiaobo.
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During the year ended 31 December 2021, the nomination committee
held two meetings to review the structure and composition of the
Board and its committees, made recommendation to the Board on
the appointment and re-election of Directors having considered the
existing composition and size of the Board, the diversity of the Board
members in terms of gender, age, culture and accomplishment,
experience and reputation in relation to the business of the Company
and other related industries and assessed the independence of
independent non-executive Directors.

Nomination policy

The primary responsibilities of the nomination committee are to
consider and recommend to the Board suitable and qualified
candidates of Directors and to review the structure, size and
composition of the Board and the board diversity policy adopted by
the Company on a regular basis.

The nomination committee utilises various methods for identifying
candidates for directorship, including recommendations from Board
members, management, and professional search firms. In addition,
the nomination committee will consider candidates for directorship
properly submitted by the Shareholders. The evaluation of candidates
for directorship by the nomination committee may include, without
limitation, review of resume and job history, personal interviews,
verification of professional and personal references and performance
of background checks. The Board will consider the recommendations
of the nomination committee and is responsible for designating the
candidates for directorship to be considered by the Shareholders for
their election at the general meeting of the Company, or appointing
the suitable candidate to act as Director to fill the Board vacancies or
as an additional to the Board members, subject to compliance of the
constitutional documents of the Company. All appointments of
Director should be confirmed by letter of appointment and/or service
contract setting out the key terms and conditions of the appointment
of Directors.

The nomination committee should consider the following qualifications
as a minimum to be required for a candidate in recommending to the
Board to be a potential new Director, or the continued service of
existing Director:

the highest personal and professional ethics and integrity;

—  proven achievement and competence in the nominee’s field and
the ability to exercise sound business judgment;
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—  skills that are complementary to those of the existing Board;

— the ability to assist and support management and make
significant contributions to the Company’s success;

— an understanding of the fiduciary responsibilities that is required
for a member of the Board and the commitment of time and
energy necessary to diligently carry out those responsibilities;

— independence: the candidates for independent non-executive
directorship should meet the “independence” criteria as
required under the Listing Rules and the composition of the
Board is in conformity with the provisions of the Listing Rules.

The nomination committee may also consider such other factors as it
may deem are in the best interests of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole.

ESG COMMITTEE

The Company established an ESG committee on 23 March 2021
with written terms of reference in compliance with the Listing Rules.
The primary responsibilities of the ESG committee are to assist the
Board to review and monitor the ESG policies and practices of the
Group to ensure compliance with the relevant legal and regulatory
requirements, monitor and respond to emerging ESG issues and
make recommendations to the Board where appropriate to improve
the Group’s ESG performance.

The ESG committee consists of four members. The four members
are Mr. Chen Hongliang (being the chairman of the ESG committee),
Mr. He Jian, Mr. Yau Sze Ka (Albert) and Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the ESG committee held
two mesetings to formulate the Company’s ESG strategies and
directions, review the ESG report and made recommendation for the
Group’s ESG matters.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING SYSTEM, RISK
MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM

Financial reporting system

The Board, supported by the finance department, is responsible for
the preparation of the financial statements of the Company and the
Group. In preparation of the financial statements, International
Financial Reporting Standards have been adopted and the
appropriate accounting policies have been consistently used and
applied. The Board aims to present a clear and balanced assessment
of the Group’s performance in the annual and interim reports to the
Shareholders, and make appropriate disclosure and announcements
in a timely manner. Pursuant to code provision C.1.1 of the Corporate
Governance Code, management would provide such explanation and
information to the Board as will enable the Board to make an
informed assessment of the financial and other information put before
the Board for approval.

The work scope and reporting responsibilities of Ernst & Young, the
Company’s external auditor, are set out in the “Independent Auditor’s
Report” on pages 117 to 127 of this report.

Risk management and internal control system

The Board and senior management is responsible for establishment,
review and implementation of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group. The risk management and internal
control system is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of
failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement
or loss. The internal control system covers all major aspects of the
Group’s operations, including, among others, property development,
property sales, investment property management, procurement,
financial reporting, asset management, budgeting and accounting
processes. The Group also has an internal audit and risk control
function which primarily carries out analysis and independent
appraisal of the adequacy and effectiveness of its risk management
and internal control systems, and reports their findings to the Board
on, at least, an annual basis. The Board conducted reviews and
discussed with the management on the effectiveness of the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems as required by
principle C.2 of the Corporate Governance Code, covering adequacy
of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes
for the staff and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and
financial reporting functions and any resolutions for material internal
control defects.
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With respect to the Group’s risk management and internal control
measures, the Group has a set of comprehensive policies and
guidelines which set out details regarding the internal control
standards, segregation of responsibilities, approval procedures and
personnel accountability in each aspect. The Group also carries out
regular internal assessments and training to ensure its employees are
equipped with sufficient knowledge on such policies and guidelines.
In addition, the Group also implemented risk management policies
against corruption and fraudulent activities. The Group’s major anti-
corruption and anti-fraud measures and procedures include:

— the internal audit and risk control function shall be primarily
responsible for establishing, reviewing and evaluating the
Group’s anti-corruption and anti-fraud policies and monitoring
their implementation;

— as specified in the Group’s staff handbooks, employees are
explicitly prohibited from taking/offering bribes or kickbacks
from/to suppliers or other third parties, manipulating bidding
procedures, misusing the Group’s assets, or providing improper
hospitality and entertainment to suppliers or other third parties;

— all of the Directors and senior management are requested to
identify and make periodical reports to the headquarters about
conflicts of interest, including potential related party
transactions, the engagement of competing businesses, or the
receipt of unjust benefits or enrichment by using the Group’s
assets or resources or taking advantage of his or her position;

— the Group provides anti-corruption and anti-fraud compliance
trainings periodically to the Directors, senior management and
employees to enhance their knowledge and awareness of the
relevant laws and regulations; and

— the Group undertakes rectification measures with respect to
any identified corruption or fraudulent activities, evaluating such
activities and proposing and establishing preventative measures
to avoid future non-compliances.
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The Group also engaged an external consultant specialising in
identifying and evaluation of significant risk of its business and
operation. The external consultant does not have any connection with
the Group and the Board believes that their involvement could
enhance the objectivity and transparency of evaluation process. In
conjunction with the Group’s internal audit and risk control function
and senior management, the external consultant conducts an annual
assessment on risk management and internal control systems of the
Group together with suggestion and solutions and submit to the
Board for their consideration.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group has
implemented procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information. In particular, the Group:

— has conducted its affairs with close regard to the disclosure
requirement under the Listing Rules as well as the “Guidelines
on Disclosure of Inside Information” published by the Securities
and Futures Commission in June 2012;

— has established its own disclosure obligation procedures, which
set out the procedures and controls for the assessment of
potential inside information and the handling and dissemination
of inside information. The procedures have been communicated
to the senior management and staff of the Company, and their
implementation was monitored by the Company; and

— has made broad, non-exclusive disclosure of information to the
public through channels such as financial reports, public
announcements and its website.

The risk management and internal control systems are reviewed and
assessed on an on-going basis by the audit committee and the
executive Directors, and will be further reviewed and assessed at
least once each year by the Board. During the year ended 31
December 2021, these systems covering all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls, were
reviewed and considered effective and adequate.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the remunerations paid
or payable to Emst & Young in respect of its audit services
and non-audit services are approximately RMB13,000,000 and
RMB864,000, respectively. The amount for 2021 non-audit services
consisted mainly of consulting service and taxation services. The
audit committee was satisfied that the non-audit services in 2021 did
not affect the independence of the auditor.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

In compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Mr. Yeung Tak Yip
confirmed that for the year ended 31 December 2021, he has taken
not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training. The biography
of Mr. Yeung is set out in the “Biographies of Directors and senior
management” section on page 61 of this report.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening an extraordinary general meeting

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles, one or more Shareholders
holding not less than one tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings shall have the right, by
written requisition to the Board or the company secretary, to require
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition. Such
meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of
the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Putting forward proposals at Shareholders’ meetings

There are no provisions in the Articles or the Companies Law of the
Cayman lIslands for Shareholders to put forward new resolutions at
general meetings. Shareholders who wish to put forward a new
resolution may request the Company to convene a general meeting in
accordance with the procedures set out in the above paragraph
heading “Convening an extraordinary general meeting”.

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may at any time make enquiries to the Board in writing
to the Board or the company secretary at the principal place of
business in Hong Kong at 27/F, Queen’s Road Centre, 152 Queen’s
Road Central, Central, Hong Kong or by email at ir@zldcgroup.com
or directly by raising questions at general meetings.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change to the Company’s constitutional documents
during the year. The Company’s Memorandum and Articles of
Association is available on the Company’s website and the Stock
Exchange’s website.
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Investor Relations Report

INVESTOR RELATIONS, COMMUNICATIONS
WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Investor Relations Department acts as a credible external
ambassador to disseminate the Group’s strategies and key
messages to the investment community. The management of the
Company believes that effective and proper investor relations play a
vital role in creating shareholders’ value, enhancing corporate
transparency as well as establishing market confidence. Effective
investor relations can contribute towards lower cost of capital, higher
market liquidity for the Company’s stocks and bonds as well as a
more stable investor base.

OPEN, FAIR, TRANSPARENT AND ACCURATE
INFORMATION DISCLOSURE

The Company’s investor relations team is committed to maintaining a
high level of corporate transparency and following a policy of
disclosing relevant information to shareholders, investors, analysts
and bankers in a timely manner to keep them aware of the Group’s
corporate strategies and business operations. The Company has
adopted a stringent internal control system to ensure accurate,
complete and timely disclosure of relevant information pursuant to
requirements of relevant laws and regulations to ensure all
shareholders and investors equal access to information.

The Group updates its investor relations website (http://ir.zldcgroup.com)
in an active and timely manner as so to keep investors informed of
the Group’s latest development. Meanwhile, the Group uses its
WeChat official account as an efficient channel to maintain investor
relations and information disclosure. In addition, the Group maintains
frequent contacts with shareholders and investors through various
channels such as meetings, conference calls, video meetings, results
briefings, monthly newsletters and emails.
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Investor Relations Department is dedicated to participating in investor
conferences and organising numerous roadshows, on-site visits and
senior management meetings for analysts and investors to introduce
the Group’s development strategies, key messages and recent
business developments.

Since November 2019, the Group has been included in “Hang Seng
Composite Largecap & Midcap Index” and “Hong Kong Stock
Connect”. Domestic investors can directly trade the stocks within the
“Hong Kong Stock Connect” through their domestic securities
accounts. In November 2021, with its steady and high-quality
development, widely recognised by the industry and the capital
market, Zhongliang Holdings (2772.HK) was added to the MSCI
China Small Cap Index since then.

Through the above measures, the Company endeavours to
communicate with the investment community and provide them with
the latest development of the Group and the real estate industry in
China.
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OTHER INFORMATION

Shareholder Service

Shareholders may notify the registrar in writing on matters relating to
your shareholding, such as share transfer, change of name or
address and loss of share certificate.

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong
Telephone: (852) 2862 8628

Facsimile: (852) 2529 6087

Shareholder Enquiries

Enquiry hotline during normal office hours:
Telephone: (852) 3793 3135

INVESTOR RELATIONS

For enquiries from investors and securities analysts, please contact:

Corporate Finance and Investor Relations Department,
27/F, Queen’s Road Centre, 152 Queen’s Road Central, Central,
Hong Kong

Telephone: (852) 3793 3139

Facsimile: (852) 3793 3134
Email: ir@zldcgroup.com
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AATR021IESZEHPWETEREEZEEEE Major Investor Relations Events Participated by the Company

SEED in 2021

FE B & 23

Year Month Conference

2021 4F 1A ZIEER2021 FERE S

2021 Jan Essence Investor Conference 2021

2021 4F 1A FEETEMEHER FRiE

2021 Jan BNP Paribas Asia Property Forum Online Series
2021 4F 1A Br#2021EHhBEER L ¥EH

2021 Jan Barclays China Credit Virtual Corporate Day 2021
2021 F 1A B R K 2 S M EE ' 5% 2021

2021 Jan UBS Greater China Conference 2021

20214 3A BERABET _EFERHNETSERS
2021 Mar 12th Annual J.P. Morgan Global Emerging Markets Corporate Conference
20214 3A PEEEAMEERGEERONEGR (B L)
2021 Mar Final Results Announcement Press Conference and Analysts Meeting (Virtual)
2021 4F 6 A RO EBBE AP ERMELRB (L)
2021 June CGS-CIMB 6th Annual HK/China Property & Property Management Virtual Conference
2021 4F 6 A ELERTEFEDMNERAER

2021 June HSBC 5th Annual Asia Credit Conference

20214 6 A EH2021FERBEFRMEFE

2021 June Citi’s Asia Pacific Property Conference 2021

20214 6 A = In B & #h Mo 2 AR H

2021 June Jefferies China Finance and Property Access Days
2021 4F 104 FR22ITMNEEES

2021 Oct BAML 2021 Asian Credit Conference

20214 10A JE 1R K38 32 M 15 B & 7% 2021

2021 Oct J.P. Morgan Asia Credit Conference 2021

2021 4F 10 A AR EPE S E D B 2021

2021 Oct Nomura Virtual Asian High Yield Corporate Day 2021
2021 F 11 A 2 FREEFEKREES R

2021 Nov Citi China Investor Conference 2021
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Annual Report on Green Senior Notes

The Group actively integrates ESG elements into each aspect of
business management. Our sustainable business model balances
financial profitability with sustainability, social and environmental
impact, as well as our contribution to local and regional economies,
effectively encompassing all aspects of responsible management of
environmental, social and governance (ESG) related issues. ESG is at
the heart of Zhongliang’s business strategy. Zhongliang emphasizes
a product philosophy of “culture, comfort, health, green, science and
technology”, constantly improves its environmental management
system, carries out comprehensive environmental management from
project design to construction and actively advocates green office
policy. We are dedicated to leveraging on our expertise to establish a
green society where humans living in harmony with nature, and
ecology prospers with economy. The Group published “Zhongliang
Holdings Group Sustainable Finance Framework” (the “Framework”)
in April 2021. The Group engaged with Sustainalytics and Hong Kong
Quality Assurance Agency as independent third parties to review the
Framework and obtained Second Party Opinion on alignment with
the Green Bond Principles, Social Bond Principles and Sustainability
Bond Guidelines issued by International Capital Market Association
(ICMA).

The issuance of Sustainable Finance Transactions (SFTs) under the
Framework is part of the development and implementation of the
sustainable development strategy of Zhongliang Holdings Group. It
reaffirms our ongoing commitment to sustainable development. The
net proceeds of the SFTs will be used to finance or refinance, in
whole or in part, new or existing Eligible Green & Social Project
Categories. An amount equals the net proceeds will be earmarked for
allocation to Eligible Projects, in accordance with the Framework.
Zhongliang Holdings Group will maintain a register to keep track of
the use of proceeds from each SFT.

On 20 May 2021, Zhongliang Holdings Group successfully issued its
debut green senior notes raising US$300 million at coupon rate of 8.5%
maturing in May 2022. Subsequently, on 17 September 2021,
Zhongliang Holdings Group issued US$200 million 12% green senior
notes due April 2023. These green senior notes are listed in Hong
Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and also listed on its
Sustainable and Green Exchange (STAGE) platform’.

1 https://www.hkex.com.hk/Join-Our-Market/Sustainable-Finance/HKEX-STAGE?sc_lang=zh-HK
https://www.hkex.com.hk/Join-Our-Market/Sustainable-Finance/HKEX-STAGE?sc_lang=en
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Proceeds of each SFT will be recorded in a register until being
earmarked to Eligible Projects. As of 31 December 2021, Zhongliang
has fully allocated the proceeds from SFT for 100% refinancing for
projects with a disbursement date no more than 36 months prior to
the issuance or signing date of the respective SFTs as per the

M EZEEEAFESHR S B HAGE  Framework.

BA -
BITA PRIEREEBER A A
Issuer Zhongliang Holdings Group Company Limited
BTHE 202145 H20H 20219 A17H
Issue date 20 May 2021 17 September 2021
BITEH EILI00EH FEIT2008 B
Principal amount US$300 million US$200 million
EHA 202245 H19H 2023 4 417 H
Maturity date 19 May 2022 17 April 2023
SEME 8.5% 12%
Coupon
ISIN 35 &5 XS2341214059 XS2386495100
ISIN number
B REBERBREBINE S00E&XETT
Total Green Proceeds US$500 million

EeomEKRE
(B £2021F12A318)

RERBRBARESHEKAMALT

FUND ALLOCATION REPORT
(AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2021)

Types of eligible projects and breakdown of fund allocation are as
follows:

HBEEW EERER =l - 7 B L
Allocated Allocated
Project name Eligible category amount Percentage
(A&=x7) (%)
(US$ million)
BINEEFRZHIEH  Changzhou Wuijin Green Building 146.2 29.2%
Zhongliang Baiyue City 4k & 2 2&
AL 2T Xi’an Zhongliang No. 1 Green Building 124.3 24.9%
Courtyard iR
BN B AR 2B =R/ Changshu Changfu Road Green Building 229.5 45.9%
Street Plot HERE
EHEPEACEAREMEBNE
Total Allocated Green Senior Notes Proceeds 500.0 100%
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Green Projects description

Project Name: Changzhou Wuijin Zhongliang Baiyue City: Changzhou
Zhongliang Baiyuehui-Bilingi (commercial) and Changzhou Zhongliang
Zizhu Yueting (residential)

Location: Plot on the north side of Nantang Road, Wuijin, Changzhou
and the east side of Tongzhuang River

GFA: approximate 175,000 sg.m.

Certification: Two Star for China Green Building Label

Highlights of Green Elements:

Commercial part

1.

Building energy saving rate: 65%.

Domestic water with a renewable energy utilization rate of
57.51%. Reservoir is a collection and utilization facility with
rainwater storage function and also has the function of reducing
peak flow. It mainly includes reinforced concrete reservoir, brick
and stone masonry reservoir and plastic water storage module
assembled reservoir. Cities with limited supply of land mostly
use underground enclosed cisterns. The reservoir has the
advantages of saving land, easy access to rainwater pipes,
avoiding direct sunlight, preventing the breeding of mosquitoes
and flies, and storing a large amount of water.

The green space rate is 10.72%, and the utilization rate of non-
traditional water sources is 1.28%.

The total annual runoff control rate of the site is 70%. The

project adopts Low Impact Development measures such as
local permeable pavement and rain garden.

HAEB R
Picture of the project
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F =M Residential part
1. BEEEE:65%- 1. Building energy saving rate: 65%.

2. FTBRKZBEHKRAEHKEESR ' 2 Al water-saving appliances adopt water-saving products, and

HEEKMEZERER28 - AKE their water-saving efficiency grade is not lower than Grade 2.
BAHHTRR02KMEE - B The pressure of the water point is not more than 0.2
38 Iy 51 A AT 38 =X R0 B R R o Megapascal, and the adjustable pressure reducing valve is used

to reduce the pressure when the pressure exceeds.

3. AIHBERERFAER: KGEZKIE 3. Renewable energy utilization: solar hot water provides 38.46%

H38.46% B A TR EIK o of domestic hot water.
4, SEEHKEFBER331%- 4.  The utilization rate of non-traditional water sources is 3.31%.

5. TBAMANBREESEMABEENL 5 The usage ratio of reusable and recyclable building materials is
6.07% ° 6.07%.

6. ARHBE30% ° 6.  Green space rate 30%.

MEREBE
Certificate of Green Building

A —zauemngitELES
j  CERTIFICATE OF GREEN BUSLDWMG DESION LASEL

maan MO RO

ERER. R SRR (-0, 0
WREE e

HAEB R
Picture of the project
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BEHEZHE: AR RS Project Name: Xi’an Zhongliang No. 1 Courtyard

Hh: EEERTERZEFMEEH153  Address: 153 mu project, Liguang Street, Qinhan New Town, Xixian
#AIE B New District, Xi’an

AR FE - £9234,000°F B K Building area: about 234,000 sg.m.

RE HEGERERZEZ _ERE Certification: China Green Building Label Two-Star Certification

MEBITERNTE

Highlights of green elements:

FRERENBE R © 65.0%

AEEEERAEBEEEAKNGE
SEEE - BKm B E25.69%° 1H B
£ ® ASCBIBHE e B & B 25 - 1TH B
HKREAMEE: SEMKERKER
1 I 1518.66% + i /K & &% T A& Lt
50.79% °

AEHSEBEEFPAEAHKRES
SERER t2ERKE -8
AR AP B I EE B 74.31% - 3 2
TR B/ -

AEEREEEEPHREERAR
MEFLCEE RHERFNEER
Be-ABESEBEEBEFAREE
AR EF(EHAE  IRHRENE
FIRE

Building energy saving rate: 65.0%

In this project, the roof integrated solar collector is designed in
the stacked villas, and the hot water satisfaction rate is 25.69%.
The project has selected SCB13 energy-saving transformer.
The project adopts micro-sprinkler irrigation; the proportion of
green rainwater infrastructure area is 8.66%, and the proportion
of permeable pavement area is 50.79%.

The interior and public areas of the high-rise residential buildings
in this project are all designed with refined decoration, and the
proportion of the number of households with the integrated
design of civil engineering and decoration is 74.31%, which
achieves the purpose of saving materials.

Each high-rise residential building in this project is equipped
with a one-way flow fresh air purification unit to provide a good
living environment. Each high-rise residential building in this
project is equipped with a one-way flow fresh air purification
unit to provide a good living environment.

MEREES
(@ﬂ R TIPS Certificate of Green Building

HAEB R
Picture of the project
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Project Name: Suzhou Changshu Zhongliang Longjing Pavilion

Location: Changshu Changfu Road Street Plot

GFA: approximate 159,000 sqg.m.

Certification: Two Star for China Green Building Label

Highlights of Green Elements:

1.

The building energy saving rate reaches 65%

According to the target positioning of the green building of this
project, combined with the characteristics of the regional
climate, resources, environment and economic culture where
the project is located, and in accordance with the principle of
adapting measures to local conditions, low investment and high
efficiency, from planning, construction, structure, water supply
and drainage, HVAC, electrical, Landscape and other majors
adopt suitable technologies for green buildings, combine with
specific measures such as “Jiangsu Province Green Building
Design Standards” DGJ32/J 173-2014 and other specific
measures, and design according to the two-star standard. The
main measures are as follows: XPS extruded polystyrene board
is used for the roof, re-checked foamed cement board is used
for the outer wall, floating thermal insulation and sound
insulation board is used for the ground, and double-layer
insulating glass is used for the exterior windows (some exterior
windows with sunshade requirements are integrated with
central louvers window).

Building materials are adapted to local conditions and local
materials. The building structure materials are reasonable, using
high-performance concrete and high-grade steel. Use ready-
mixed mortar and ready-mixed concrete.

A solar hot water supply system is set up on the 6th floor of the
residence, and the layout is on the roof.
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SR BERKKNEREB ARG LA 5. Setting up rainwater collection and reusing system on site to

B K INBEXL BRIE KB IREFE - 1] control rainwater discharge and reducing water consumption.
ZEEERRAKER: KAZRE Planning the rainwater runoff on the surface and roof; using a
FERMKERREESEHRKE iE variety of green rainwater infrastructure to control the total
ShNEER S H] BB &b 2 amount of rainwater on the site; using open green space to
MAZRK: A5 EEMFEA receive rainwater; paving the parking spaces on the ground with
$2 75 R MK PR 40% H) 1H B i 6 2 grass-planting bricks with a hollowing rate of not less than 40%,
AEMNIRERKEE WEHT which can effectively promote the infiltration of rainwater,
Ko Wk E R MR E - conserve groundwater, and improve the regional microclimate.
4 Hh E 35.24% 6. Green space rate 35.24%

HEREEE
@ —puge g Certificate of Green Building

B HG D2 62647

BRI 15 L S S
M 1

BEB R
Picture of the project
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The Board is pleased to present the annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in property development, property leasing
and management consulting services. An analysis of the Group’s
revenue and operating results for the year ended 31 December 2021
by its principal activities is set out in note 1 to the consolidated
financial statements of the Group on page 137 in this report.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 are
set out in the “Chairman’s Statement” section of this report and the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income of the Group on
page 129 of this report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

General

A review of the business of the Group and a discussion on the
Group’s future business development during the year are set out in
the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 20 to 24 and pages 25 to 52,
respectively, of this report. An analysis of the Group’s performance
during the year using financial key performance indicators is set out in
the “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 25 to 52 of this
report.
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Principal risks and uncertainties

Principal risks and uncertainties the Group faces include (i) uncertainty
as to the acquiring of land reserves for development in desirable
locations at commercially acceptable prices; (i) uncertainty as to
business expansion into new geographic locations; (i) uncertainty as
to obtaining sufficient funding for land acquisitions and future
developments; (iv) risks related to the fluctuation of profitability of
property projects; (v) risks related to obtaining administrative
certificates; (vi) risks related to the performance of the PRC property
markets; (vii) risks related to the government policies and regulations
regarding the PRC property industry; and (vii) risks related to the
increasing raw materials price and labor costs.

The Group’s financial risk management objectives and policies of the
Group are set out in note 43 to the consolidated financial statements.

Environmental policies and performance

It is the Group’s corporate and social responsibility in promoting a
sustainable and environmental friendly environment, and the Group
strives to minimise its environmental impact and comply with the
applicable environmental laws and regulations. The measures it takes
to ensure its compliance with the applicable environmental laws and
regulations include: (i) strictly selecting construction contractors and
supervising the process of construction; (i) applying for review by the
relevant government authorities in a timely manner after the project is
completed; and (i) actively adopting environmentally friendly
equipment and designs. The Group also takes voluntary actions with
respect to environmental protection and make energy conservation
and emission reduction as primary considerations when designing its
property projects.

None of the Group’s properties had received any material fines or
penalties associated with the breach of any environmental laws or
regulations during the year ended 31 December 2021.

The 2021 Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the Group

will be published separately on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.
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Relationship with Employees

The Group believes high-quality employees who value its corporate
culture are essential elements to promote its sustainable growth. The
Group intends to attract and retain skilled and talented employees
from reputable universities of PRC through various initiatives,
including creative trainee programs, competitive compensation
packages and effective incentive system. For details regarding
employees and staff costs and the emolument policy of the Group,
please refer to the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis — Employee and Remuneration Policy”.

Relationship with Suppliers

The Group is dedicated to develop good relationship with suppliers
as long-term business partners to ensure stability of the Group’s
businesses. It reinforces business partnerships with suppliers by ongoing
communication in a proactive and effective manner. For further details
regarding the Group’s major suppliers, please refer to the section
headed “Directors’ Report — Major Customers and Suppliers”.

Relationship with Customers

Customers satisfaction with services and products has a profound
effect on the profitability. The Group’s dedicated sales team is in
constant communication with its customers and potential customers
to uncover and create customer needs and help customers make
informed decisions. Identification of customers’ pain points alongside
grasping the market trend are critical for the Group to timely adjust
our operating strategies to fit the market requirement. For details
regarding the Group’s major customers, please refer to the sections
headed “Directors’ Report — Major Customers and Suppliers”.

Compliance with laws and regulations

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands with the Shares
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. The Group’s
subsidiaries are incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, Hong Kong
and the PRC. The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the
Group’s subsidiaries in China while the Group also has a corporate
and administrative office in Hong Kong.

Its establishments and operations accordingly shall comply with
relevant laws and regulations in the Cayman Islands, the British Virgin
Islands, the PRC and Hong Kong. During the year ended 31
December 2021 and up to the date of this report, the Group has
complied with all the relevant laws and regulations in the Cayman
Islands, the British Virgin Islands, the PRC and Hong Kong that have
a significant impact on the Group.
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FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2021.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Changes to the property, plant and equipment of the Group and the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in
note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

BORROWINGS, ASSET-BACKED SECURITIES
AND SENIOR NOTES

Details of the Group’s borrowings, asset-backed securities and senior
notes during the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in note
29, 31 and 32 respectively to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out on
pages 132, 133 and 306 of this report. In respect of Company, the
amount of reserves available for distribution (subject to article of the
Company) under the Companies Laws of the Cayman Islands as at
31 December 2021 was RMB3,486.8 million.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

February 2021 Notes

On 5 January 2021, the Company commenced offers to purchase for
cash with respect to the outstanding US$250 million 8.75% senior
notes due 2021 (stock code: 40149) (the “February 2021 Notes”) in
accordance with the terms and conditions set out in an offer to
purchase dated 5 January 2021 (the “February 2021 Notes Offer”).

The February 2021 Notes Offer was completed on 13 January 2021.
Subject to the terms and conditions contained in the above-
mentioned offer to purchase, the amount payable per principal
amount validly tendered at or prior to the expiration deadline was
US$1,005.00 for each US$1,000 in principal amount of the February
2021 Notes. The final aggregate principal amount of the February
2021 Notes accepted for purchase was US$105,480,000. The
February 2021 Notes repurchased pursuant to the February 2021
Notes Offer have been cancelled. On 16 February 2021, the
Company fully redeemed the outstanding February 2021 Notes at the
redemption amount of US$144,520,000 plus accrued and unpaid
interest.

June 2021 Notes

On 10 May 2021, the Company commenced offers to purchase for
cash with respect to the outstanding US$250 million 8.75% senior
notes due 2021 (stock code: 40272) (the “June 2021 Notes”) in
accordance with the terms and conditions set out in an offer to
purchase dated 10 May 2021 (the “June 2021 Notes Offer”).

The June 2021 Notes Offer was completed on 18 May 2021. Subject
to the terms and conditions contained in the above-mentioned offer
to purchase, the amount payable per principal amount validly
tendered at or prior to the expiration deadline was US$1,005.00 for
each US$1,000 in principal amount of the June 2021 Notes. The final
aggregate principal amount of the June 2021 Notes accepted for
purchase was US$153,040,000. The June 2021 Notes repurchased
pursuant to the June 2021 Notes Offer have been cancelled.

On 27 June 2021, the Company fully redeemed the outstanding June
2021 Notes at the redemption amount of US$96,960,000 plus
accrued and unpaid interest.
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September 2021 Notes

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group repurchased
11.5% senior notes due September 2021 (the “September 2021
Notes”) (stock code: 40005), listed on the Stock Exchange, with an
aggregate principal amount of US$79,800,000 and cancelled such
repurchased notes thereafter. On 20 September 2021, the Company
fully redeemed the outstanding September 2021 Notes at the
redemption amount of US$320,200,000 plus accrued and unpaid
interest.

November 2021 notes

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group repurchased
8.875% senior notes due November 2021 (the "November 2021
Notes”), listed on Singapore Stock Exchange Limited, with an
aggregate principal amount of US$103,472,000. An aggregate
principal amount of US$99,472,000 of the January 2022 Notes were
cancelled thereafter and of US$100,528,000 remained outstanding.
On 22 November 2021, the Company fully redeemed the outstanding
November 2021 Notes with the aggregate principal amount of
US$100,528,000 plus accrued and unpaid interest.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities during the year ended 31 December 2021.

January 2022 Notes

On 1 February 2021, the Company issued US$250 million 7.5%
senior notes due 2022 (the “January 2022 Notes”) (Stock code:
40567), which are listed and traded on the Stock Exchange. During
the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group repurchased the
January 2022 Notes with an aggregate principal amount of
US$75,310,000. As at 31 December 2021, an aggregate principal
amount of US$68,810,000 of the January 2022 Notes were cancelled
and of US$181,190,000 remained outstanding.

Subsequently, the Group has further repurchased the January 2022
Notes with an aggregate principal amount of US$61,496,000. An
aggregate principal amount of US$65,396,000 of the January 2022
Notes were further cancelled and US$115,794,000 remained
outstanding after cancellation. On 31 January 2022, the Company
fully redeemed the outstanding January 2022 Notes at the
redemption amount of US$115,794,000 plus accrued and unpaid
interest.
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May 2022 Notes

On 20 May 2021, the Company issued US$300 million 8.5% green
senior notes due 2022 (the “May 2022 Notes”) (stock code: 40680),
which are listed and traded on the Stock Exchange. During the year
ended 31 December 2021, the Group repurchased the May 2022
Notes with an aggregate principal amount of US$10,200,000. As at
31 December 2021, the May 2022 Notes with an aggregate principal
amount of US$300,000,000 remained outstanding.

July 2022 Notes

On 13 January 2021, the Company issued US$200 million 9.5%
senior notes due July 2022 (the “July 2022 Notes”) (which were
consolidated and form a single series with the US$250 million 9.5%
senior notes due 2022 issued by the Company on 29 October 2020
and 23 November 2020) (stock code: 40439). The July 2022 Notes
are listed and traded on the Stock Exchange. During the year ended
31 December 2021, the Group repurchased the July 2022 Notes
with an aggregate principal amount US$15,500,000. As at 31
December 2021, the July 2022 Notes with an aggregate principal
amount of US$450,000,000 remained outstanding.

DONATIONS

Donations made by the Group during the year ended 31 December
2021 amounted to RMB21.6 million.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 and
the state of the Group’s financial position as at that date are set out
in the consolidated financial statements on pages 128 to 131 in this
report.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2021 and as at
the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yang Jian (Chairman)

Mr. Chen Hongliang (Co-President)

Mr. He Jian (Co-President)
(appointed on 1 July 2021)

Mr. Yau Sze Ka (Albert)

Mr. Li Heli (resigned on 1 July 2021)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Wang Kaiguo
Mr. Wu Xiaobo
Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung

In accordance with the Articles, at each annual general meeting one-
third of the Directors for the time being, or, if their number is not three
or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than
one-third, shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. A
retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election. The Company at the
general meeting at which a Director retires may fill the vacated office.
Accordingly, Mr. Chen Hongliang, Mr. He Jian and Mr. Yau Sze Ka
(Albert) shall retire from office by rotation at the 2022 AGM and, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election. The Company has
received, from each of the independent non-executive Directors, an
annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the independent non-
executive Directors are independent.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement
with the Company and each of the non-executive Directors (including
independent non-executive Directors) has signed an appointment
letter with the Company. The appointment of all the Directors is for a
period of three years and shall continue thereafter until being
terminated by either party giving not less than 2 months’ prior written
notice.

None of the Directors who are proposed for election or re-election at
the 2022 AGM has a service contract with the Company which is not
determinable within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 December 2021, none of the Directors nor
their respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had any
interest in a business that competed or might compete with the
business of the Group.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

Each of Mr. Yang Jian, being the executive Director and the
controlling shareholder of the Company, Ms. Xu , Liangzhong, Liangyi
and Liangtai, all being the controlling shareholders of the Company,
has confirmed to the Company that, during the year ended 31
December 2021, he/she/it has complied with the deed of non-
competition dated 24 June 2019 (the “Undertakings”) as disclosed in
the Prospectus.

The independent non-executive Directors had reviewed the status of
compliance and the confirmation provided by the controlling
shareholders as part of the annual review process. On the basis that: (i)
the Company has received the confirmations from its controlling
shareholders regarding the Undertakings; (i) there was no competing
business reported by the controlling shareholders; and (iii) there was
no particular situation rendering the full compliance of the
Undertakings being questionable, the independent non-executive
Directors are of the view that the Undertakings have been complied
with and been enforced by the Company in accordance with the
terms.
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On 31 December 2021, Mr. Yang Jian transferred his entire interest
in Liangyi which in turn held 89,121,090 Shares to the trustee of the
Share Incentive Scheme. As a result of such transfer, Liangyi has
ceased to be a controlling shareholder of the Company since 31
December 2021.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 19 June 2019, the Company adopted the Share Option Scheme
which is subject to the requirements under Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules.

Details of the Share Option Scheme

(1) Purpose
The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide selected
participants with the opportunity to acquire proprietary interests
in the Company and to encourage selected participants to work
towards enhancing the value of the Company and its Shares for
the benefit of the Company and Shareholders as a whole. The
Directors believe the Share Option Scheme will enable the
Group to reward its employees, the Directors and other
selected participants for their contributions to the Group. The
Share Option Scheme provides the Company with a flexible
means of retaining, incentivising, rewarding, remunerating,
compensating and/or providing benefits to selected participants.

(2) Participants

Any individual, being an employee, director, officer, consultant,
advisor, distributor, contractor, customer, supplier, agent,
business partner, joint venture business partner or service
provider of any member of the Company or any affiliate who the
Board or its delegate(s) considers, in their sole discretion, to
have contributed or will contribute to the Company is entitled to
be offered and granted options. However, no individual who is
resident in a place where the grant, acceptance or exercise of
options pursuant to the Share Option Scheme is not permitted
under the laws and regulations of such place or where, in the
view of the Board or its delegate(s), compliance with applicable
laws and regulations in such place makes it necessary or
expedient to exclude such individual, is €ligible to be offered or
granted options.
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The maximum number of Shares available for issue

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme
shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the aggregate of the
Shares in issue on the day on which trading of the Shares
commences on the Stock Exchange, and such 10% limit
represents 353,000,000 Shares, representing approximately
9.86% of the total Shares in issue as at the date of this report.
As at the date of this report, 302,600,000 share options are still
available for future grant, representing 8.45% of the total Shares
in issue as at the date of this report.

The maximum entitlement of each participant

Unless approved by the Shareholders, the total number of
Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options
granted and to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and
any other share option scheme of the Group (including both
exercised and outstanding options) to each participant in any
12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share
capital of the Company for the time being.

Acceptance and exercise of options

The acceptance of an offer of the grant of share options must
be made within ten business days from the date of offer with a
non-refundable payment of HK$1.00 from each grantee.

The Share Option Scheme does not specify any minimum
holding period but the Board has the authority to determine for
which a share option must be held before it can be exercised.

The exercise period of any share option granted under the
Share Option Scheme shall be determined by the Board but
such period must not exceed ten years from the date of grant
of the relevant share option.
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Subscription price for Shares
The subscription price per Share under the Share Option
Scheme will be a price determined by the Directors, but shall
not be less than the highest of:

(i)  the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant,
which must be a business day;

(i) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant;
and

(i)~ the nominal value of a Share on the date of grant.

The duration of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for the
period of ten years commencing on the Listing (after which, no
further options shall be offered or granted under the Share
Option Scheme), but in all other respects the provisions of the
Share Option Scheme shall remain in full force and effect to the
extent necessary to give effect to the exercise of any options
granted prior thereto or otherwise as may be required in
accordance with the provisions of the rules of the Share Option
Scheme.

As at the date of this report, the remaining life of the Share Option

Scheme is approximately 7 years and 4 months.

For further details of the Share Option Scheme, please refer to the
section headed “Statutory and general information — D. Share
incentive scheme” in Appendix V to the Prospectus.
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HE2021F12A31BIEFERBEAME Particulars of the movement of options granted under the Share Option

HEDEEMERESEESFBOT Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2021 are as follows:
BR  R20215F 2021 &
TEE 1818 12A31H
SHENE RHBAH (B HARTED  &HE 7% Ed ¥ ERTRE
Exercise Outstanding Outstanding
price per as at as at
Share 1 January 31 December
Category of participants ~ Date of grant (HK$) 2021" Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed 2021
=
Directors
BRAL & & 2020F7A7H
Mr. Chen Hongliang 7 July 2020 5.83 10,000,000 - - - — 10,000,000
EEbE 2020%7A7H
Mr. He Jian®@ 7 July 2020 5.83 1,300,000 — — — - 1,300,000
FMEFEES 2020 7AR7H
Mr. Li Heli® 7 July 2020 5.83 8,000,000 - - — (8,000,000 —
Hth2 8%
Other Participants
B8 20206 7AR7H
Employees 7 July 2020 5.83 41,700,000 - - — (2,600,000) 39,100,000
st 61,000,000 - — — (10,600,000) 50,400,000
Total
M 5E Notes:

(1) BREER2020E7 A7HE2030%7H6H7 (1)  The options shall be exercisable from 7 July 2020 to 6 July 2030, and vested, in

FAFELIRATARNDEREE  HERFTEAA five tranches, subject to the individual performance, results and financial
R AEEMEENVERBEmME performance of the Group in the following manner:

0) 10% 4§ 12021 F7 A7 B 78 () 10% shall be vested on 7 July 2021;

(ii) 20% 1 2022F 7 A7 HERE ¢ (ii) 20% shall be vested on 7 July 2022;

(iii) 20% 15 R 2023FE7 B7THERE (iii) 20% shall be vested on 7 July 2023;

(iv) 20%#5R2024F7 A7TEHE & (v)  20% shall be vested on 7 July 2024; and

v) 30% 15 R2025F7A7THRE ° v) 30% shall be vested on 7 July 2025.
EZSEREANREBHORKRMKTE The closing price of the Shares immediately before the date on which these
5928 T ° options were granted was HK$5.92.

@ AR ER20IF7TA1BEZTEARITES - @) Mr. He Jian was appointed as an executive Director on 1 July 2021.

@) FMELELER021FE7A1EETRITES - (3)  Mr. Li Heli resigned as an executive Director on 1 July 2021.
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SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME

In order to recognise the contributions and provide incentives to
senior management and employees of the Group for the continual
operation and development of the Group and to attract suitable
personnel for the growth and further development of the Group, the
Company adopted the Share Incentive Scheme on 31 December
2021. The Share Incentive Scheme shall be subject to the
administration of the Board and the trustee (the “Trustee”) in
accordance with the rules of the Share Incentive Scheme and the
trust deed dated 31 December 2021 entered into between the
Company as settlor and the Trustee (the “Trust Deed”).

Any of the (i) senior management of the Group; and (i) employees of
the Group, other than those who is resident in a place where the
grant of the incentive shares and/or the vesting and transfer of the
incentive shares pursuant to the terms of the Share Incentive Scheme
is not permitted under the laws and regulations of such place, or in
the view of the Board or the Trustee (as the case may be),
compliance with applicable laws or regulations in such place makes it
necessary or expedient to exclude such eligible person. For the
avoidance of doubt, excluding Directors, chief executives or
substantial shareholders of the Company and any of their respective
close associates.

Subject to any early termination as may be determined by the Board,
the Share Incentive Scheme shall be valid and effective for a term of
ten years commencing on 31 December 2021.

The Board shall not grant any further incentive share which will result
in the aggregated number of incentive shares exceeding 5% of the
total number of issued Shares from time to time. As at the date of this
report, no award had been granted under the Share Incentive
Scheme, and thus the 5% scheme limit represents 179,089,575
Shares are available for future grant. The maximum number of Shares
which may be granted to a selected participant under the Share
Incentive Scheme in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the
number of the Shares in issue.
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As at the date of this report, the Trustee holds the entire interest in
Liangyi, which in turn directly holds 89,121,090 Shares, representing
approximately 2.49% of the total number of issued Shares, as the
incentive shares for the purpose of the Share Incentive Scheme.

Any further incentive shares shall be either (i) existing Shares
purchased by the Trustee from the open market (either on-market or
off-market); or (ii) new Shares to be allotted and issued to the Trustee
(which will hold the same on behalf of the selected participant(s)) by
the Company pursuant to the general mandate granted by the
Shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company from
time to time. The trustee will hold such Shares on behalf of the
relevant selected employees on trust, until such Shares are vested
with the relevant selected employees in accordance with the rules of
the Share Incentive Scheme.

As at the date of this report, the remaining life of the Share Incentive
Scheme is approximately 9 years and 9 months.

For further details of the Share Incentive Scheme, please refer to
announcement of the Company dated 31 December 2021.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF
THE COMPANY OR ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2021, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executives of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO which were
required to be entered in the register kept by the Company pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO, or which were otherwise required, to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code, are set out below:

Interests in Shares and underlying Shares of the Company

HERSHE A
B3 /BBTRARKE MEMLE B3 BB e D g 4 b
Number of Approximate
Name of Director/ Number of underlying percentage of
chief executive Nature of interest Shares™*"  Shares™*"  shareholding™*"
BRIEE(HBEED Z2REFTAIL AMEY 2,822,167,839 (1) — 78.79%
Mr. Yang Jian (“Mr. Yang”)  Founder of a discretionary trust™e2
it {68 e 2 1) 59,414,060 (L) - 1.66%
Interest of spouse™e?
BRAL 5% 5 A& Ena AMEY — 10,000,000 (L) 0.28%
Mr. Chen Hongliang Beneficial owner™ete¥
Al & 55 4 Ena AMEY — 1,300,000 (1) 0.04%
Mr. He Jian Beneficial owner™ete
M - Notes:
1) R2021F12A31 B &N A & & % 17 1) As at 31 December 2021, the Company issued 3,581,791,500 Shares. The letter

3,5681,791,500/% i 17 F BH&XR Rk & A £
RBEBED BB P miFe -

@ 2822167839 M B RTBEKRER A A
(TR % ])FF - R F fChangxing International
Co.,LtdH # & & ¥ % ifChangxing
International Co., Ltd. 8] F Changxing Pte. Ltd. &
& ¥ A - Changxing Pte. Ltd. J3 15 4t 4 X 32 &)
PREAHNITIA - BREEFHFRBAEKRI -5
EEHEEARRRIFENROPHEAER -

(L) denotes the person’s long position in the relevant Shares or underlying
Shares.

) 2,822,167,839 Shares are held by Liangzhong International Co., Ltd. (“Liangzhong”),
a company directly wholly-owned by Changxing International Co., Ltd., which is
in turn wholly-owned by Changxing Pte. Ltd. Changxing Pte. Ltd. is the trustee
of a discretionary trust set up by Mr. Yang. By virtue of Part XV of the SFO, Mr.
Yang is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Liangzhong.
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BE-REBEFEHFLBEGROAEXVE R
RARZETESANROTHEEERBBT
SEBBRITHNES WEAERGKLLTHE
HEMERKERDPEAES -

@) BRATS2 SR AR B AR B B 0 (F5 7020204 7
R7BARER R A A R E R e B A
71 1% #% 7T & 1A E 8% 17 #910,000,000 A% A% 17)
hEA RS -

G) WEIEEWEAREBR M (5R2020%7 A
7THIREERERTEI R RS O ERRETT
{5 1% 3% 7] 8% 1) H 317 #9 1,300,000 A% f% 15 ) R 1
Bz -

RADTFEEEFOES

(©)) 59,414,060 Shares are held under a discretionary trust set up by Ms. Xu. By
virtue of Part XV of the SFO, Ms. Xu is deemed to be interested in the Shares
held under the trust and Mr. Yang, as the spouse of Ms. Xu, is deemed to be
interested in the same number of Shares in which Ms. Xu is interested.

(4) These underlying Shares in which Mr. Chen Hongliang is deemed to be
interested represent the 10,000,000 Shares which may be issued to him upon
the exercise of the share options granted to him on 7 July 2020 pursuant to the
Share Option Scheme.

(5) These underlying Shares in which Mr. He Jian is deemed to be interested
represent the 1,300,000 Shares which may be issued to him upon the exercise
of the share options granted to him on 7 July 2020 pursuant to the Share Option
Scheme.

Interests in debentures of the Company

QB

EEnA EEHE BEENASHE

Principal amount of

debentures of the

Name of Director Nature of interest Company held

Bkt 2REEFERISZAY 21,000,000 7T

Mr. Yang Founder of a discretionary trust!” USD21,000,000

PRRE - Note:

(1) MR20215F98 » AR A EITNR2023F 2 HH 1)  The 12.0% senior notes due 2023 with the aggregate principal amount of

e HEER200E & ETHI120%E &R E
(T12023F4 AZEHK]) - HRBEAZ T B o %%
RATIEEFZBHRFFE - R F HChangxing
International Co., Ltd. & % & & # B M
Changxing International Co., Ltd. fI] g8 Changxing
Pte. Ltd. & & # A& ° Changxing Pte. Ltd. J3 #5 %
ERVBHEREETEHITA  RIBEZFSH LS
EROIEXVE B EHEARRRR/RAED
RAGIERIEPHEEER -

Br ESCRT BT & SN 12021412 A 31
H BEEELRARASSTHRAER
RAoal sk EMEBEZBARD BHEKRD
MEEZETHEECELRBREZSLE
BIEPIEB2EAEBTHEZMARBE
IZESTRIZAME AR R KB AT TR

Nz

Rk A -
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US$200 million were issued by the Company in September 2021 (“April 2023
Notes”), which are listed on the Stock Exchange. These debentures of the
Company are held by Liangzhong, a company directly wholly-owned by
Changxing International Co., Ltd., which is in turn wholly-owned by Changxing
Pte. Ltd. Changxing Pte. Ltd. is the trustee of a discretionary trust set up by Mr.
Yang. By virtue of Part XV of the SFO, Mr. Yang is deemed to be interested in
the debentures of the Company held by Liangzhong.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, none of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company had any interests or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company or its associated corporations, recorded in the register
required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code.
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FERERHEHMALTRAATRK  SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER

DREBRONERZRXR PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF
THE COMPANY

MN2021FE12 84318 » AR R B PTA - 32 So far as is known to the Company, as at 31 December 2021, the
RNAGIREESLEEKIIEI361EEHE folowing persons, other than a Director or chief executive of the
FTRELMALEE  UWTAT(BRESSK Company, had interest in the Shares or underlying Shares as
RAAFZSTHABIN AR ME M@K recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under

HERER section 336 of the SFO:
B
BRERE HE EatE BRGEBEWE FRE S MEY
Approximate
Number of percentage of
Name of Shareholder Nature of interest Shares™**"  shareholding™°*e"
2 EHERA 2,822,167,839 (1) 78.79%
Liangzhong Beneficial owner
fRE+ 2 RS Al AWED 59,414,060 (L) 1.66%
Ms. Xu Founder of a discretionary trust™o®©?2
Fic 48 4 25 W) 2,822,167,839 (L) 78.79%
Interest of spouse™°te?
Changxing International Co., Ltd. 52 12 3 B 4 25 (#4) 2,822,167,839 (L) 78.79%
Interest of controlled corporation™e4
Changxing Pte. Ltd. R FE A M 2,822,167,839 (L) 78.79%
Trusteg®oe 4
B 5 - Notes:

1) K221 F 128318 &~ A @ &2 % 717 1) As at 31 December 2021, the Company issued 3,581,791,500 Shares. The letter
3,581,791,500% & 17 - TR "k & AL (L) denotes the person’s long position in the relevant Shares.
REBROFHETE -

2) 59,414,060k P HEZ TR 2 REEEF (@) 59,414,060 Shares are held under a discretionary trust set up by Ms. Xu. By
B -REFFRBAGKRA  RELTHERRBRZ virtue of the SFO, Ms. Xu is deemed to be interested in the Shares held under
ERABEBENRGOTHEEER - the trust.

B #HBurt EABEENERE WwHEARBLEE (3 Ms. Xu, as the spouse of Mr. Yang, is deemed to be interested in the same
BEREGOARBEENRO P EEEE - number of Shares in which Mr. Yang is interested.

4 Z & /# Changxing International Co., Ltd. B # 2 (4) Liangzhong is directly wholly-owned by Changxing International Co., Ltd., which

& ¥ A - 1 Changxing International Co., Ltd. is in turn wholly-owned by Changxing Pte. Ltd. Changxing Pte. Ltd. is the trustee
F Changxing Pte. Ltd. & & # % ° Changxing of a discretionary trust set up by Mr. Yang. By virtue of the SFO, Changxing Pte.
Pte. Ltd. I L £ K 2 BEFRZZFEA © Ltd. and Changxing International Co., Ltd. are deemed to be interested in the
1B 1% % F & B & & - Changxing Pte. Ltd. & Shares held by Liangzhong.

Changxing International Co., Ltd. # 18 & 7 2
BEORDFEAER -
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, the Company
had not been notified of any persons (other than a Director or chief
executive of the Company) who had an interest or short position in
the Shares or underlying Shares that were recorded in the register
required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the Share Option Scheme and the Share Incentive
Scheme, at no time during the year was the Company, its holding
company, or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debt securities including debentures of, the Company
or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this report and the section headed “Continuing
Connected Transactions”, no transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance in relation to which the Company, its holding
company or subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or his
connected entities had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year ended 31 December 2021.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2021, revenue attributable to
the Group’s largest customer amounted to approximately 0.01% of
the Group’s total revenue and the Group five largest customers in
aggregate accounted for less than 0.06% of the Group’s revenue for
the year.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, purchases attributable to
the Group’s largest supplier amounted to approximately 0.96% of the
Group’s total purchases and the Group five largest suppliers in
aggregate accounted for less than 3.3% of the Group’s total
purchase for the year.
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None of the Directors, their close associates or any Shareholders,
which to the knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of the
Company’s issued Shares, had an interest in the share capital of any
of the five largest suppliers and customers.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company conducted
the following transactions which constitute non-exempt continuing
connected transactions (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the
Company, details of these transactions are set out below:

1.

Sales Management Services

On 18 June 2019, the Group and Shanghai Zhongliang Property
Development Co., Ltd and its subsidiaries (“Shanghai
Zhongliang Property Group”) entered into a sales management
services framework agreement (the “Sales Management
Services Framework Agreement”), pursuant to which Shanghai
Zhongliang Property Group agreed to provide sales
management services including but not limited to crowd-
controlling, cleaning, car-parking, security and utilities services
in showrooms, display units and sales offices. The term of the
framework agreement is from 1 January 2019 to 31 December
2021. The annual cap of transactions contemplated under the
Sales Management Services Agreement would be
RMB401,564,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021. For
the year ended 31 December 2021, the value of the sales
management services provided by Shanghai Zhongliang
Property Group to the Group was approximately RMB194.3
million.

As a result of the expiry of the Sales Management Services
Framework Agreement on 31 December 2021, the Company
and Everjoy Services Company Limited (“Everjoy Services”)
entered into a sales assistance services framework agreement
on 21 December 2021 (the “2022 Sales Assistance Services
Framework Agreement”), pursuant to which Everjoy Services
and its subsidiaries (“Everjoy Services Group”) agreed to provide
to the Group sales assistance and related services including but
not limited to (i) crowd-controlling, cleaning, security and other
related value-added services to the showrooms, display units,
sales and property services offices; and (i) preliminary
preparation services for the projects developed and to be
delivered by the Group, such as early staff recruitment, staff
training, procurement of materials and equipment and cleaning
services for the period commencing from 1 January 2022 and
ending on 31 December 2023 (both days inclusive).

109




FRIZEREEER AT 2021 FF3R

EFERE

Directors’ Report

110

B E2023F12A318 It WA F &
B F - 2022F $HE B RS HE 2R
BETBRETRINEE LRSI
A A R #363,100,000T & A B #
406,000,000 7T ©

R AY B ¥ 3R E 2 R

R2019F6 A18H » A& B 2 £ )§
FRAMEEBITLRXINAMEEE
RBIERBZE((RSATYWEE ER
BiEl) Bt EERRYMEELEE
AEREIMNIMEETERE &
FETRR ARG & A& ED
TR e REREE - ZIEEWD
HEH B M EI A20194F1 A1 8 2021
F12H31H - B £2021%F 12 A31 H
EFE  RXNAIMEETERBHE
EHTHETRINFELREAA
R % 808,233,000t ° & £2021 412
AB1HIEFE LT RYWEEE
MASERENITRIYEEER
BKEEANHARK2205EE T -

HRARNAMEEEREHZER
2021 F12HA31BHEm ARBEF
TR EERS V2021 F12 A21 B 5 S
— RN AIEE R RSIEZR B =
([2022F X - i ¥ 35 & 18 AR 75 4E 28
Wl B AN EERGSEER
F 202291 A1 HEE2023F12 A
SIE(REEEMB) IFERAE
BRREXNAMEERERSE 81
18N BR A () AT B 48 8 K 5% 51 7% 78 AR
% (WRERRBRE  2E@FE
B A RIS b) A LR ST RS
FOREBEEBEMENBRELREMR
HIERRERS  Rii)BREH K
BEERERRNMNER TYWHEEM
REMEEERE -

HE2023F 12 A31 B IE W AF E &
F2022F RSB EE B RFAE
BB ETHRETRINEE LR
o B A A R #259,600,0007T & A R
# 290,000,000 7T °

The annual cap for the transactions contemplated under the
2022 Sales Assistance Services Framework Agreement for
each of the two years ending 31 December 2023 would be
RMB363,100,000 and RMB406,000,000, respectively.

Pre-Delivery Property Management Services

On 18 June 2019, the Group and Shanghai Zhongliang Property
Group entered into a pre-delivery property management
services framework agreement (the “Pre-Delivery Property
Management Services Agreement”), pursuant to which
Shanghai Zhongliang Property Group agreed to provide pre-
delivery property management services including but not limited
to security, repair, maintenance and operation of common area
and shared facilities. The term of the framework agreement is
from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2021. The annual cap of
transactions contemplated under the Pre-Delivery Property
Management Services Agreement would be RMB808,233,000
for the year ended 31 December 2021. For the year ended 31
December 2021, the value of the pre-delivery property
management services provided by Shanghai Zhongliang
Property Group to the Group was approximately RMB220.5
million.

As a result of the expiry of the Pre-Delivery Property
Management Services Agreement on 31 December 2021, the
Company and Everjoy Services entered into a pre-delivery
property management services framework agreement on 21
December 2021 (the “2022 Pre-Delivery Property Management
Services Framework Agreement”), pursuant to which Everjoy
Services Group agreed to provide to the Group pre-delivery
property management services including but not limited to (i)
preliminary planning and design consultancy services; (i) pre-
delivery inspection services, including (a) house inspection
services; (b) inspection services to common area; and (c) repair
and maintenance services based on the inspection results of
relevant properties; and (i) property management services for
completed property units which are unsold or sold but prior to
the delivery for a term commencing from 1 January 2022 and
ending on 31 December 2023 (both days inclusive).

The annual cap for the transactions contemplated under the
2022 Pre-Delivery Property Management Services Framework
Agreement for each of the two years ending 31 December 2023
would be RMB259,600,000 and RMB290,000,000,
respectively.
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Design, Decoration and Outfitting Services

On 12 December 2019, the Company and Shanghai Zhongliang
Quanzhu Residential Technology Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai
Zhongliang Quanzhu”) entered into a cooperation framework
agreement (the “Cooperative Framework Agreement”), pursuant
to which Shanghai Zhongliang Quanzhu and its subsidiaries
(“Shanghai Zhongliang Quanzhu Group”) has agreed to provide
design, decoration and outfitting services (including materials
procurement) (the “Design, Decoration and Outfitting Services”)
to the Group for a period commencing from 12 December 2019
and ending on 31 December 2021. The annual cap of
transactions contemplated under the Cooperative Framework
Agreement would be RMB819,000,000 for the year ended 31
December 2021. For the year ended 31 December 2021, the
value of the services provided by Shanghai Zhongliang Quanzhu
Group to the Group was approximately RMB94.0 million.

As a result of the expiry of the Cooperative Framework
Agreement on 31 December 2021, the Company and Shanghai
Zhongliang Quanzhu entered into a design, decoration and
outfitting services framework agreement dated 21 December
2021 (the “2022 Design, Decoration and Outfitting Services
Framework Agreement”), pursuant to which Shanghai
Zhongliang Quanzhu Group agreed to provide the Design,
Decoration and Outfitting Services for a term commencing from
1 January 2022 and ending on 31 December 2023 (both days
inclusive).

The annual cap for the transactions contemplated under the
2022 Design, Decoration and Outfitting Services Framework
Agreement for each of the two years ending 31 December 2023
would be RMB350,000,000 and RMB400,000,000,
respectively.

Sales Agency Services

On 18 November 2020, the Company entered into a sales
agency services agreement (the “Sales Agency Services
Agreement”) with Shanghai Zhongliang Property Development
Co., Ltd. pursuant to which Shanghai Zhongliang Property
Group and their respective associates (“Zhongliang Property
Group”) has agreed to provide sales agency services and other
ancillary services to the Group for unsold properties and
carparks developed by the Group for a period commencing
from 18 November 2020 and ending on 31 December 2022.
The annual caps of transactions contemplated under the Sales
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Agency Services Agreement would be RMB120,000,000 and
RMB160,000,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021 and
the year ending 31 December 2022, respectively. For the year
ended 31 December 2021, the value of the services provided
by Zhongliang Property Group to the Group was approximately
RMB11.4 million.

Since Mr. Yang controls more than 30% of the voting power at
the general meeting of Shanghai Zhongliang Quanzhu and
Everjoy Services, and Shanghai Zhongliang Property
Development Co., Ltd. is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Everjoy
Services, these companies, their subsidiaries or associates (as
defined under the Listing Rules) are connected persons of the
Company. Accordingly, the above transactions constitute
continuing connected transactions of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, all independent non-
executive Directors have reviewed and confirmed that the above
continuing connected transactions have been entered into (j) in the
ordinary and usual course of business of the Group; (i) on normal
commercial terms or better; and (i) according to the relevant
agreements governing the transactions on terms that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

For the purpose of Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, Ernst & Young,
the auditor of the Company, was engaged to report on the continuing
connected transactions and has provided a letter to the Board,
confirming that nothing has come to its attention that causes it to
believe that the continuing connected transactions mentioned above (i)
have not been approved by the Board; (ii) were not entered into, in all
material respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements
governing such transactions; and (i) have exceed the respective
annual cap.

Disclosure under Rule 14A.72 of the Listing Rules

Except for the aforementioned continuing connected transactions
stated under this section which would fall within the definition of
connected transactions or continuing connected transaction under
the Listing Rules, all other related party transactions taken place
during the year ended 31 December 2021 which were disclosed in
note 40 to the consolidated financial statements did not constitute
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company has
complied with applicable disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules in respect of the aforesaid transactions.
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Directors’ Report

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS AND TAX RELIEF

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the
laws of the Cayman lIslands, being the jurisdiction in which the
Company is incorporated under which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities.

SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OF CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS UNDER RULE 13.18 OF THE
LISTING RULES

On 23 February 2021, the Company as borrower accepted a facility
letter issued by Hang Seng Bank Limited as lender, pursuant to
which a facility of not more than US$20,000,000 was made available
to the Company. The facility is available for drawdown within six
months from 23 February 2021 (subject to fulfilment of the conditions
set out in the facility letter) and the maturity date of the loan under the
facility letter is 12 months from the date of drawdown. The facility
letter contains, among others, the following specific performance
obligations on the controlling shareholders:

0] Mr. Yang Jian or his immediate family member(s) shall remain
as the chairman of the Board and the executive director of the
Company; and

(i)  Mr. Yang Jian and Ms. Xu Xiaoqun (the “Controlling
Shareholders”) collectively own at least 60% of the, direct or
indirect, beneficial shareholding interest in the issued share
capital of, and carrying at least 30% of the voting rights in, the
Company, free from any security.

As at 31 December 2021, such loan is fully repaid.

On 16 March 2021, the Company as borrower entered into a facility
agreement with BOCI Leveraged and Structured Finance Limited as
lender pursuant to which a US$50,000,000 term loan facility would
be made available to the Company subject to the terms and
conditions of the facility agreement. The loan under the facility shall
be repaid on the date falling 364 days from the utilisation date of the
facility.
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Pursuant to the facility agreement, Mr. Yang Jian and Ms. Xu Xiaogun
are required to be the beneficial owners of not less than 50.1% of the
total voting shares of the Company.

As at 31 December 2021, such loan is fully repaid.

PUBLIC FLOAT

The Stock Exchange has granted the Company a public float waiver
under Rule 8.08(1)(a) of the Listing Rules to accept a lower public
float percentage of the total issued share capital of 17.06%. Details of
the waiver is set out in the section headed “Waivers from Strict
Compliance with the Listing Rules — Waiver in relation to Public
Float” of the Prospectus.

As at the date of this report, based on information that was public
available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors,
the Directors confirmed that the Company maintained the amount of
public float as required under the public float waiver.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board is of opinion that the Company had adopted, applied and
complied with the code provisions as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
during the year under review. Principal corporate governance
practices adopted by the Company are set out in the “Corporate
Governance Report” section of this report.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out in the section headed “Five
year financial summary” on pages 307 and 308 of this report.
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Directors’ Report

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 December 2021
are set out in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

The Articles provide that every Director is entitled to be indemnified
and secured harmless out of the assets of the Company from and
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses
which he may incur or sustain by reason of any act done, concurred
in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty or supposed duty
in their respective offices or trusts, except such (if any) as they shall
incur or sustain through their own fraud or dishonesty.

The Group has taken out and maintained directors’ liability insurance
for the year ended 31 December 2021, which provides appropriate
cover for the Directors. The permitted indemnity provision was in
force during the year ended 31 December 2021 and remained in
force as at the date of this report for the benefit of the Directors.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the above paragraphs headed “Share Option
Scheme” and “Share Incentive Scheme” in this section, no equity-
linked agreements were entered into during the year and subsisted at
the end of the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of any business of the Company were
entered into during the year or subsisted at the end of the year.
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AGM AND CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF
MEMBERS

The 2022 AGM will be held on Thursday, 2 June 2022. A notice
convening the AGM will be published on the Company’s website and
the Stock Exchange’s website and despatched to the Shareholders
in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules in due
course. For the purpose of determining the Shareholders’ eligibility to
attend, speak and vote at the 2022 AGM. The register of members of
the Company will be closed from Monday, 30 May 2022 to Thursday,
2 June 2022, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of
Shares will be effected. In order to determine the identity of members
who are entitled to attend and vote at the 2022 AGM, all share
transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged for registration with the Company’s branch share
registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m.
on Friday, 27 May 2022.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2021 have been audited by Ernst & Young who
will retire at the 2022 AGM. Ernst & Young, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of
Ernst & Young as the auditor of the Company will be proposed at the
2022 AGM.

By order of the Board

Yang Jian
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2022
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Ernst & Young ZXKETHENE T Tel B : +852 2846 9888

27/F, One Taikoo Place BRBIRRREE79 Fax {E2EL: +852 2868 4432
§* 979 King's Road Kdh—E2748 ey.com

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

To the shareholders of Zhongliang Holdings Group Company
Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Zhongliang
Holdings Group Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) set out on pages 128 to 306, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to Note 2.1 to the consolidated financial
statements, which states that as at 31 December 2021, the Group’s
current portion of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, senior
notes and asset-backed securities amounted to RMB19,539 million
and certain senior notes with cross default clauses amounted to
RMB1,302 million, while its cash and cash equivalents amounted to
RMB20,281 million. This condition, along with other matters as set
forth in Note 2.1, indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may
cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. In addition to the matter
described in the Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern
section, we have determined the matters described below to be the
key audit matters to be communicated in our report. These matters
were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated
financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each
matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter
is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

EENETNMNEEBREESEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

R—BEBAERZYFEEEFRA

Recognition of revenue from sales of properties over time
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Key audit matter

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

EENETNMNEEBREESEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

R—BEBABIYXEETFRA (&)

Recognition of revenue from sales of properties over time (Continued)

Revenue from sales of properties is recognised over
time when the Group’s performance under a sales
contract does not create an asset with an alternative
use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date;
otherwise, the revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the buyer obtains control of the completed
property. For the year ended 31 December 2021
revenue of the Group from sales of properties was
RMB75,533,446,000, of which RMB6,105,989,000 was
recognised over time.

The Group may not change or substitute the property
unit or redirect the property unit for another use due to
the contractual restrictions with the buyer and thus the
property unit does not have an alternative use to the
Group. Significant management’s judgements are
involved in determining whether there is an enforceable
right to payment which depends on the terms of a sales
contract and the interpretation of the applicable laws
that apply to the contract. The Group obtained legal
counsel opinion regarding the enforceability of the right
to payment for sales contracts. Management uses
judgements in interpreting the applicable laws, based on
legal counsel opinion, to identify sales contracts with
right to payment and those without the right.

120

In assessing management’s judgements on revenue
recognition, we have:

()  obtained an understanding of and evaluated
management’s process and procedures in
identifying sales contracts with or without right to
payment;

(i) reviewed the key terms of a sample sales contracts
to assess the presence of the right to payment
based on the contract terms;

(i) obtained and evaluated the opinion of the Group’s
legal counsel, in particular, the legal counsel’s
interpretation of the applicable laws and their
implication on the assessment of the enforceability
of the right to payment; and

(iv) assessed the competence, experience and
objectivity of the legal counsel engaged by the
management.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

EENETNMNEEBREESEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

R—BEBABIYXEETFRA (&)

Recognition of revenue from sales of properties over time (continued)
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

EENETNAEEBRETSHE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

R-BEBABZYFFEETFTRA (F)

Recognition of revenue from sales of properties over time (continued)

In addition, for the revenue from sales of properties
recognised over time, the Group recognises revenue by
measuring the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the performance obligation at the year end. The
progress is measured based on the Group’s efforts or
inputs to the satisfaction of the performance obligation,
by reference to the development costs incurred up to
the end of the year as a percentage of total estimated
development costs for each property unit in the sales
contract. The Group allocates common costs based on
types of properties and saleable floor areas. Significant
judgements and estimations are required in determining
the completeness of the estimated total development
costs and the accuracy of progress towards complete
satisfaction of the performance obligation at the year
end.

Given the involvement of significant judgements and
estimations, recognition of revenue from sales of
properties over time is considered a key audit matter.

The disclosures of the revenue from sales of properties

are included in notes 2.4, 3 and 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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In respect of the completeness of the estimated total
development costs and the accuracy of progress
towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation, we have performed the following procedures:

()  obtained an understanding of the internal controls
over the cost budgeting and estimate completion
process, the internal controls over the generation of
cost data of the projects and property units,
evaluated and tested the design and operating
effectiveness;

(i)  compared the actual development costs of
completed projects to management’s prior
estimations of total development costs to assess
the accuracy of management’s historical cost
estimation and reliability and appropriateness of the
cost estimation methodology on a sample basis;

(iiy  assessed the reasonableness of the basis for the
allocation of common costs among project units on
a sample basis;

(iv) examined the cost budgets for the project and
property units under development by comparing to
the actual cost of completed projects and property
units, taking into account the type of properties and
saleable floor areas on a sample basis;

(v}  compared the estimated total development costs of
the projects and property units under development
to the budget approved by management on a
sample basis;

(vi)  tested the development costs incurred by tracing to
the supporting documents and the reports from
external or internal supervising engineers, where
applicable on a sample basis; and

(vi) checked the mathematical accuracy of the cost
allocation and the measurement of progress of the
property units on a sampling basis.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

BEENBENNNEEFARETER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
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Provision for land appreciation tax
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The Group is a property developer in mainland China
focusing on the development of residential properties
and the development, operation and management of
commercial and mixed-use properties. Land
appreciation tax (“LAT”) in mainland China is one of the
main components of the Group’s taxation charge. LAT
is levied on the sale of properties at progressive rates
ranging from 30% to 60% based on the appreciation of
land value. At the end of reporting period, the
management of the Group estimates the provision for
LAT based on their understanding and interpretation of
the relevant tax rules and regulations, and the estimated
total sales of properties less total deductible
expenditure, which includes lease charges for land use
rights, property development costs, borrowing costs
and development expenditure. When the LAT is
subsequently determined, the actual payments may be
different from the estimates. Provision for LAT in
mainland China is significant to the consolidated
financial statements and the determination of such
provision involves significant management’s judgement
and interpretation of the relevant tax laws and
regulations and practices. Accordingly, provision for
LAT is identified as a key audit matter.

The accounting policies and disclosures of the provision
for land appreciation tax are included in note 2.4, note
3 and note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.

EEC2ZRTEA BN ERFEEEYBHRER
R+ R E TR R R -

We have evaluated and tested the design and operating
effectiveness of the key controls of management in the
calculation of the provision for land appreciation tax.

We involved internal tax specialists to assist us to perform
a review on the LAT position, including the review of the
estimates and assumptions used by the Group and the
evaluation of tax exposure based on communications
received from the relevant tax authorities and by applying
our local knowledge and experience. We also recalculated
the tax computation and compared our calculations with
the amounts recorded by the Group.

We have assessed the disclosures related to the provision
for land appreciation tax in the consolidated financial
statements with reference to the requirements of the
prevailing accounting standards.

123




FRIZEREEER AT 2021 FF3R

b RvR 3 (T
Independent Auditor’s Report

FHAHEMER

ERREZAEREEMEN -HEME
HERFHRAANEN  ETEESES
BBREREESHIULHBENZBEN RS

EEUHRAUBRENER TREHAM
ER  BEEETHEMERBREMFE
Tm%ugluufﬂi"
HREZFHEREVBERRONETMS
ENEERHEEBEMER IEJ&EL&

EP%)’?ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬂ%EEﬁ%? B 75 & =X
D#E%u+i@$£q37ﬁ¢m| /RTE%K

HASIEFEBUFEERERRL - ER
EEDHATHIFE HESR/EME

MEEERERRL MESEHFTRE I
FohEMITE EEYEEMEETIED
HE -

ESNACUYBERREAEXREN

BT

BERREFARAAREBRKR G ERE

ERMOBERENBERELEIRFER
RPN ERERBEEM A VAL
EUBRR YEEEERRLENR
M AEMRENEAMBERR T
FERRFXRERME ﬁmgﬁﬁﬁ
Rt

EREXEVBERERE BRAES
BEFE BEEENBELERN I
FERABRATHEEAFELLEEBN
EE ULKFARELES Jr%ﬁ— 53
I ERAEZTHEER ESEBFRAL
NI Ilﬁﬁf&ﬁm—lﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁ

FTE e

AEZE

AR =
& E%’%

Eghy BERREERE
M RERIENEME-

= b
e 3
0|

124

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information included
in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of
the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the audit committee of
the Company in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and

the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concem. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards or
safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is SIU FUNG TERENCE HO.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

30 March 2022
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#H Z=2021412 A31H L F E Year ended 31 December 2021

2021 £ 20204
2021 2020
fisx AR%Tx ARBT T
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
PN REVENUE B 76,114,160 65,940,566
$HE A Cost of sales (63,081,654)  (52,087,655)
ER GROSS PROFIT 13,032,506 13,852,911
N NS Other income and gains 5 959,088 918,050
HE N DR Selling and distribution expenses (2,894,162) (2,254,253)
TER X Administrative expenses (3,534,244) (2,848,025)
SRMEERMEBE  FE  Impairment losses on financial assets, net (5,081) (5,562)
HiFHEX Other expenses (153,387) (186,371)
"EYERNFEE WS Fair value gains on investment properties 14 96,809 88,365
BAFEFFAEZRERE  Fair value losses on financial assets at fair
BEMNAFEER value through profit or loss (372,238) (30,929)
B & W a Finance income 371,529 408,100
A& B A Finance costs 7 (647,461) (542,494)
FEASF0E K& &1 - Share of profits and losses of:
BELHFE Joint ventures 448,700 467,861
RN Associates 322,062 497,169
T 51 A B PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6 7,624,121 10,364,822
T8 i Income tax expense 10 (2,868,033) (3,798,407)
& Py 7 8 PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 4,756,088 6,566,415
AT AL FEAL - Attributable to:
YNCIEZ ZEDN Owners of the parent 2,702,567 3,743,429
FE IR 4 7 Non-controlling interests 2,053,521 2,822,986
4,756,088 6,566,415
BATERERSEEA EARNINGS PER SHARE
&R AT ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
BERKEE Basic and diluted AR%075t AR®1.057T
12 RMBO0.75 RMB1.05
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

A Z=2021412 A 318 IL % Year ended 31 December 2021

2021 £ 20204
2021 2020
AR®ET T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
F R FHE PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 4,756,088 6,566,415
REZBEALEHR DB Other comprehensive income that may
w2 E {’@ 2l : be reclassified to profit or loss
in subsequent periods:
ME N EHE Exchange differences:
BMEFINERELEZIEL =5 Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations 25,297 16,279
REZHEETREEFSHE Net other comprehensive loss that may
EER EMEHEERFE be reclassified to profit or loss
in subsequent periods 25,297 16,279
FREM2EYE  MRHE OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX 25,297 16,279
FREHMWBEHAEE TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR 4,781,385 6,582,694
AT AL : Attributable to:
B RARIESR A Owners of the parent 2,727,864 3,759,707
QFT % #E 2= Non-controlling interests 2,053,521 2,822,987
4,781,385 6,582,694
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

2021412 A 31 B 31 December 2021

2021 20204
2021 2020
B & AR®ET T AR T T
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
FRBEE NON-CURRENT ASSETS
ME - HENMERE Property, plant and equipment 13 86,556 134,706
FEREEE Right-of-use assets 16 78,991 111,100
A E Investment properties 14 1,410,200 1,839,550
L fih 7 & Other intangible assets 15 6,186 8,481
REELENKRE Investments in joint ventures 17 6,217,393 4,544,896
REEE RN AIHIRE Investments in associates 18 17,459,401 13,928,585
LT IEE E Deferred tax assets 19 3,424,910 3,222,423
TE R IE R EMmEWKIE  Prepayments and other receivables 24 75,581 292,658
EREBEEHEE Total non-current assets 28,759,218 24,082,399
RBEE CURRENT ASSETS
BATETABRED Financial assets at fair value through
EHMEE profit or loss 20 181,065 552,413
EEMZE Properties under development 21 132,008,659 145,914,463
jﬁ% EHE R E ST LW Completed properties held for sale 22 21,272,280 10,886,087
E 5 E WK Trade receivables 23 5,239 5,209
J?E Uit /2 B /D\ E Q1] Due from related companies 40 12,853,619 10,931,355
JENZHERE 1)@ FEW FKIE  Prepayments and other receivables 24 42,057,888 40,890,035
A] U [B] #5418 Tax recoverable 2,429,555 3,338,884
e MIRTT &6 Cash and bank balances 25 27,610,483 34,232,445
MEBEERE Total current assets 238,418,788 246,750,891
REBERE CURRENT LIABILITIES
BoEMNZEKRENEE  Trade and bills payables 26 21,210,521 17,082,883
HitERZRIE R ESE B Other payables and accruals 27 26,686,065 24,488,785
7TE E8E Lease liabilities 16 39,097 47,247
S48 E Contract liabilities 28 120,815,799 120,909,048
F 8 HsE ~ RIFRIA Due to related companies 40 18,996,008 18,130,579
SFREBETEE ﬂﬂ (=N Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 29 12,341,166 16,477,897
& BB 1R Tax payable 10 3,045,881 5,052,468
I EIERE QB Provision for financial guarantee contracts 30 138,523 72,914
BEERBZAFMERE Proceeds from asset-backed securities 31 318,641 —
BEZERE Senior notes 32 6,879,457 7,306,141
HihsmaE Other financial liabilities — 68,315
mE B ER Total current liabilities 210,471,158 209,636,277
RBEEFE NET CURRENT ASSETS 27,947,630 37,114,614
EESERRBAES TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES 56,706,848 61,197,013
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20214 20204

2021 2020

e AR®TR ARBTRT
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

FRBEME
At EERTT R H A & 5K

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 29 19,340,356 28,419,856

HEBaRE Lease liabilities 16 43,609 72,695

EERIBEEAE Deferred tax liabilities 19 538,191 633,980

BEERBFMEBHIE Proceeds from asset-backed securities 31 = 317,709

BRER Senior notes 32 1,301,830 1,570,623

BB ERRE Total non-current liabilities 21,223,986 31,014,863

EEZRE NET ASSETS 35,482,862 30,182,150

= EQUITY

BRAAEE AEGERS Equity attributable to owners of

the parent

A% 7N Share capital 33 31,450 31,450

B Reserves 5 11,933,531 10,875,287
11,964,981 10,906,737

FEEIR S Non-controlling interests 23,517,881 19,275,413

R TOTAL EQUITY 35,482,862 30,182,150

BRAL = k4 BREXE
Mr. Chen Hongliang Mr. Yau Sze Ka
- o
Director Director

131



FRIZEREEER AT 2021 FF3R

FeERBEx
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

#H ZE2021412 A31H [L F E Year ended 31 December 2021

BAREAAEL
Attributable to owners of the parent
K& i % EEER BRE HERE FER B
B& 2E 1 1 1 1) REFE 1 b i #E
Statutory Share Exchange Non-
Share Share Merger Capital surplus option Retained  fluctuation controlling Total
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve profits reserve Total interests equity

AR®TR ARMTR ARETR ARETR ARBTR ARRTR AR%Tn AR%TR ARMTR ARMTR ARETR
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

W33 M35  KiEEsSk)  HESSd)  HHEESS(c) ER!! Hi 5% 35(e)
Note 33  Note35(@) Note 35() Note35(d)  Note 35(c) Note 34 Note 35(¢)
R202161 410 As at 1 January 2021 31,450 3,629,765 3,138 (57,138) 1,459,341 9,932 5,826,535 3,714 10,906,787 19,275,413 30,182,150
ERFE Profit for the year - - - - - - 2,702,567 — 2,702,567 2,053,521 4,756,088
EREMPEYEE: Other comprehensive income
for the year:
BREGHEBE Exchange differences on
EVERER translation of foreign
operations - - - - - - - 25,297 25,297 - 25,297
ER2AKEEE  Total comprehensive income
for the year - - - - - - 2,702,567 25297 2,727,864 2,053,521 4,781,385
BB AR 2R E  Capital contribution from
oDy non-controling
shareholders of
subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - 2,587,879 2,587,879
PAHERKE Partial dlisposal of equity
RIS interests in subsidiaries
W& D AR iE without losing control - - - 135 - - - - 135 (135) -
IR B SRR R 2 Acquisttion of non-controling
interests - - - 64,847 - - - - 64,847 (64,847) -
REEA R Dividends and distrbutions - (957330 = = = - (55159 —  (1,508,925) - (1,508925)
MEREENERE Equity-settled share option
ZH arrangements - - - - - 12,097 - - 12,097 - 12,097
ETRBEHERS  Appropriations to statutory
surplus reserve - - - - 442,835 - (442,835) - - - -
Mt BARERR  Dividends declared to the
RRERARE non-controling
shareholders of
subsidiaries - - - - - - ey - () - (81,74
HERBAR Disposal of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - (333950)  (333,950)
R2021%12 8318 Asat 31 December 2021 31,450  2,672,435* 3,138* 7,844 1,902,176* 22,029* 7,296,898* 29,011 11,964,981 23,517,881 35,482,862
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#H Z=20214F 12 A 318 Lk & Year ended 31 December 2021

NEBEAER
Attributable to owners of the parent
&3 At BR  EEBH e e ik 30
R w8 A 1] EL] B REFE 1 b ER &g
Statutory Share Exchange Non-
Share Share Merger Capital surplus option Retained  fluctuation controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve profits reserve Total interests equity

ARBTR ARETT ARBTR ARETE ARETRL ARETR ARETR ARETT ARBTR ARETI ARETZ
RVMBOOD  RMBOOO ~ RMB'OOD  RMBOO0  RMBI000  RMB'OO0  RMBOOD  RMB000  RMBOOD  RMBO00  RMB'000

7202051 A 18 Asat 1 January 2020

FRFHE Proft for the year
EREMPEYEE:  Other comprehensive income
for the year:
BREGNEBE Exchange differences on
EZERER translation of foreign
operations

MizEas  MizEssla)  MEESsb)  MEESS)  HHEESSE) it ka4 Bt £ 35(6)
Note33  Note35()  Note35(b)  Note35(d)  Note 35(c) Note 34 Note 35(e)
31450 3,629,765 3,138 (29,153) 1,242,937 - 3,862,528 (12,565) 8,728,100 12,143455 20,871,555
- - - - - - 3,743,429 — 3743429 282296 6566415
- - - - - - - 16,279 16,279 - 16,279

ER2AMREEE  Total comprehensive income

for the year
KB AR FEERMRE  Capital contribution from
MxE non-controling
shareholders of
subsidiaries
PAHERKE Partial disposal of equity
RIS interests in subsidiaries
W& D AR iE without losing control
U Eadie 3 Acquisttion of non-controling
interests
WERBAR Acquisttion of subsidliaries
BERA IR Dividends and distributions
IER A ENEAE Equity-settied share option
ZH arangements
FETERBEBRZ  Appropriations to statutory
surplus reserve
HEHBAF Disposal of subsidiaries

= = = = = = 3,743,429 16279 3,759,708 2,822,986 6,582,694

= = = - = = = = — 417343 4117,343

= = - @0 = = = —  @et01) 49,101 =
= = = 21,116 = = = = 21116 (21,116) =
= = = = = = = = — 503044 503,044
- - - - - — (1563018 — (1563018) — (1563018
= = = = = 9932 = = 9932 = 9932
- - - - 216404 - (216,404) - - - -

(339.400)  (339,400)

N2020E12A31H  Asat 31 December 2020

31,450 3,629,765 3,138° (67,138 1,459,341 9932" 5,826,535 3,714 10,906,737  19,275413 30,182,150

* ZERERORERGEAVBEMRARZIES * These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of RMB11,964,981,000
B A K #11,964,981,0007T (20204 : A B #& (2020: RMB10,875,287,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position.

10,875,287,0007T) °
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MEHaRER
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

#H Z=2021412 A31H L F E Year ended 31 December 2021

2021 5§ 20204
2021 2020
e AR¥Fr ARBTET
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
RETHHRERE CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
iRl HI 17 Profit before tax 7,624,121 10,364,822
AT RIEFE Adjustments for:
IEN Jﬁ}% X E&L BIE B TE  Depreciation of items of property,
plant and equipment 6,13 35,005 36,027
=i Amortisation of other intangible assets 6,15 4,379 3,238
RERYLRANRESSE Impairment losses recognised for properties
under development 6,21 731,125 366,047
BLEF T’E HENE T IYWE Impairment losses recognised for
T 2R FY Rk TEF 18 completed properties held for sale 6,22 100,768 —
e RMEERAHREEIE Imparment losses recognised for financial
assets 5,081 5,562
T IBERE L BIEED Changes in provision for financial guarantee
contracts 5 (80,381) (52,144)
BB A B s Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 37 (407,243) (83,784)
HEBEARRAEERLE Gain on disposal of associates and joint
I & ventures 5 (147,188) (116,231)
EFTERBENRRE Remeasurement gain on investment in an
2 Wz associate 5 - (4,578)
U B BT B A B M 2 Gain on acquisition of a subsidiary 5 = (60,388)
JE{EE &R BN EIR Share of profits and losses of joint ventures (448,700) (467,861)
JE {5 Bt 2 N | A X &5 48 Share of profits and losses of associates (822,062) (497,169)
WEMELNFEES Changes in fair value of investment
properties 14 (96,809) (88,365)
BRAFEGF AR Fair value losses on financial assets at fair
EENRNFEER value through profit or loss 372,238 30,929
FREEENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 16 50,502 71,378
BE KA Finance costs 7 647,461 542,494
A& e Finance income (371,529) (408,100)
DREREENBERERZ Equity-settled share option expense 34 12,097 9,932
7,708,865 9,651,809
EEMERFELNED Decrease/(increase) in properties under
B IYWERD GEm) development and completed properties held
for sale 888,561 (27,623,416)
ENZEREE ﬁiﬁ JFE Uk FX I8 18 11 Increase in prepayments and other receivables (4,480,908) (4,606,594)
= PR %l 35 5 5 A Decrease in restricted cash 292,103 4,008,022
B 1F ZOR D Decrease in pledged deposits 835,009 639,704
2 5 JE WA S N Increase in trade receivables (30) 2,174)
gk NGIE S ED R Decrease in amounts due from related
companies - 50,896
B 5 FE N 538 N B 248 12 A0 Increase in trade and bills payables 4,702,372 5,111,589
H b JfE 5 2038 X FE 5 & FB 18 1 Increase in other payables and accruals 5,929,060 13,331,309
B XA EE Increase in contract liabilities 4,410,814 8,077,677
7E 1< B8 B D B FIE L0 Increase in amounts due to related companies 1,718,213 108,417
EEMSRS Cash generated from operations 22,004,059 8,747,239
2 Y F B Interest received 293,174 408,452
SR Tax paid (4,246,054) (3,489,691)
REEER B Net cash flows generated from
BEREFE operating activities 18,051,179 5,666,000
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FEBeRER
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
#H ZE2021412 A31H Lk F E Year ended 31 December 2021

2021 & 2020 4F
2021 2020
i AR®TR AR®T
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
RETHHRERE CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES
BEEWE WMBENLREREBER  Purchases of items of property,
plant and equipment 13 (24,595) (56,220)
BEHMERLEE Purchases of other intangible assets 15 (2,084) (3,591)
WHEIE A FEFTAEEN Acquisition of financial assets at fair value
TREE through profit or loss (63,757) (301,523)
HERAFEFAERN Disposal of financial assets at fair value
T RE E through profit or loss 62,867 —
s B B B8 A &) Acquisition of subsidiaries — 382,070
HEWE BMEREE Disposal of property, plant and equipment 13 3,373 2,738
RA & KB E A R K% & Investments in joint ventures and associates (4,759,322)  (7,704,950)
HERKBARMIEE Disposal of investments in subsidiaries 243,608  (1,207,434)
HERESGELPEREZ A7 Disposal of investments in joint ventures and
% E associates 709,562 116,231
BEREME Purchases of investment properties 14 (433,591) (5654,635)
Bz L NG E= TN Advances to related companies 40  (12,325,072) (16,645,156)
BERBEEARBRR Repayment of advances to related companies 40 10,402,808 12,672,528
REZHFARESFKEFEE Net cash flows used in investing activities (6,186,203) (13,299,942
METHRESARE CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES
B AR JEIERARRAEE  Capital contribution from non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries 2,587,879 4.117,343
PY=EREL N E Advances from related companies 40 8,453,857 17,779,812
e Y=l L NGIEEN Repayment of advances from related
companies 40 (9,306,641) (11,742,953)
SRyl Increase in pledged deposits (134,383) (1,430,422)
YNHEEBE Payment of lease liabilities 16 (55,468) 64,171)
mENEAPS) Interest paid (4,367,337)  (5,225,440)
B A Dividends paid (967,003)  (1,563,018)
7] FE 45 AR AR 9 I A9 AR 2 Dividends distribution to non-controlling
shareholders (237,774) —
SITE L ZIE TSR Proceeds from issue of senior notes 7,520,872 6,410,868
1;1 BELEE Repayment of senior notes (8,180,367)  (1,316,580)
BEERBSFMEHRIEA Proceeds from asset-backed securities — 317,170
STRIRITREMES ﬁﬁ Proceeds from interest-bearing bank and
E QI other borrowings 31,078,929 35,845,079
15 B BIRTT R HME Repayment of interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings (43,912,070) (24,560,195)
BMEESH (A, B Net cash flows (used in)/generated from
REREFE financing activities (17,519,506) 18,567,493
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2021 & 20204

2021 2020

iz AR®BTRT ARETT
Notes  RMB’000 RMB’000

HEeERRESZEEYWORY),  NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE

B nFEE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (5,654,5630) 10,933,551
FURELRRTFED Cash and cash equivalents at beginning
of year 25,910,244 14,955,756
PEREE) 2 &5 Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net 25,297 20,937
FREASRALEEY CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT END OF YEAR 20,281,011 25,910,244

RERELZSEBYEE DY ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

& MIRITHE# Cash and bank balances 25 27,610,483 34,232,445
B XRHIEE Less: Restricted cash 25 5,894,494 6,186,597
e EiRER N Pledged deposits 25 1,434,978 2,135,604

HEREXRANFMIBAER CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
HEEEY AS STATED IN THE STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS 20,281,011 25,910,244
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2021412 A 31 H 31 December 2021

RAREEEH 1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

KRR —ZFXRASHESTMMAX
UHWERR AT RARGEMPEE
B& # #F 190 Elgin Avenue, George
Town, Grand Cayman, KY1-9008,
Cayman Islands °

FR AEBIT2REYEHIE
WMEHEARRHREIEHZBRS

EERR AR HRERRA T
7= Changxing International Co., Ltd. °
Mt A B & #

UG 1) PN T T
e :

The Company is an exempted company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands. The registered office address of the Company
is 190 Elgin Avenue, George Town, Grand Cayman, KY1-9008,
Cayman Islands.

During the year, the Group was principally involved in property
development, property leasing and management consulting
Services.

In the opinion of the directors, the ultimate holding company of
the Company is Changxing International Co., Ltd.
Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out
below:

HMAL/ BERTER/ ENF M
a8 AMREEHE aE 1 AR A REBIE TEXH
Issued ordinary/ Percentage of

Place of incorporation/ registered  equity attributable

Name registration and business share capital to the Company  Principal activities

(F7)

('000)

EERE:
Directly held:
FHREBBRAF RBRLES %7150 100.00% #&EER
Ample SINO Investments Limited British Virgin Islands US$50 Investment holding
RRERERERAA RRELHS £750 100.00% & A &R
Zhongliang International Development Company Limited British Virgin Islands US$50 Investment holding
B#EE
Indirectly held:
REREFRAF RERAEE %750 100.00% & & #K
Liangheng Investment Co., Ltd. British Virgin Islands US$50 Investment holding
BRRRER A RERAES %750 100.00% HEER
United Prestige Global Ltd. British Virgin Islands US$s0 Investment holding
BREARERAE B B0 100.00% HEZR
Heng Rong Co., Ltd. Hong Kong HK$10 Investment holding
BIRERRARA B #0001 100.00% REZR
Yangchuan Investment Co., Ltd. Hong Kong HK$0.001 Investment holding
HEREERAA BE 50,001 100.00% & & #EK
Yanghai Investment Co., Ltd. Hong Kong HK$0.001 Investment holding
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1. AAREBER @ 1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(Continued)
MY 8 A 7 & R () Information about subsidiaries (Continued)
KRR EEMNBRAHFEEH?T Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out
AT (&) below: (Continued)
&L/ BERTER/ AN EEG
L AR EBHE ot AR A REBIN FEEK
Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
Place of incorporation/ registered  equity attributable
Name registration and business share capital to the Company  Principal activities
(Fr)
('000)
B#EE ()
Indirectly held: (Continued)
BRREERAT B 5 %0.001 100.00% & & # ik
Yangna Investment Co., Ltd. Hong Kong HK$0.001 Investment holding
HLRREER AT BE 75 #:0.001 100.00% & &2k
Yangbai Investment Co., Ltd. Hong Kong HK$0.001 Investment holding
BEREFRAHE B 78 %0.001 100.00% & E#EHK
Yangjing Investment Co., Ltd. Hong Kong HK$0.001 Investment holding
FREANERAEMERAT &t 850 10000% #AEH
Zhongliang Hongkong Property Investment Group Co. Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$50 Investment holding
HRBEBRERAA BE 75 8500 100.00% &EEHK
Zhongliang International Co., Ltd. Hong Kong HK$500 Investment holding
LERRCEERBERAA mEARLAME ([RE])
/BN AR %3,330,000 100.00% & Pk
Shanghai Zhongliang Enterprise Development Co., Ltd. People’s Republic of China RMB3,330,000 Investment holding
(‘PRC’)/Mainland China
HERVEFERAF thE,/ B it AR 10,000 100.00% & & #K
Shanghai Liangtong Property Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000 Investment holding
LBEEEXERAA hE/HE R AR #10,000 100.00% & Pk
Shanghai Cijin Property Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000 Investment holding
HIRREZERAA hE/mEN AR #50,000 100.00% & ik
Zhejiang Liangcheng Property Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 Investment holding
FERHEEEARAA hE/mEN AR ¥10,000 100.00% REZEK
Shanghai Tiandu Property Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000 Investment holding
BERARHEREERAA /B R AR 50,000 100.00% #REER
Fujian Zhongliang Real Estate Development Limited PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 Investment holding
HEREBBEREAERAA /BN AR 700,000 100.00% & A &R
Shanghai Liangzhuo Business Information Consulting Co., Ltd.  PRC/Mainland China RMB700,000 Investment holding
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Notes to Financial Statements
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out

below: (Continued)

AL/ BRTEE/ NG 2

£ AMREEHE AT REGAL FEEK
Issued ordinary/ Percentage of

Place of incorporation/ registered  equity attributable

Name registration and business share capital to the Company  Principal activities
(1)
('000)

BEEE ()
Indirectly held: (Continued)
BNEBEXERAF thE/ B R AR 20,000 56.40% ¥R
Xuzhou Xuxin Property Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000 Property development
EHERREXRERAR Bl R A AR #60,000 56.40% MERE
Xinyang Lianghong Property Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB60,000 Property development
REDREXBRAA /B R AR#10,000 70.00% #EME
Laiwu Zhongliang Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000 Property development
BAkmRANEEER AR HE/ R E R AR #166,670 28.98% MEREE
Lishui Liangyue Property Co., Ltd. ™" PRC/Mainland China RMB166,670 Property development
BT RYEEERARWEY /R E R AR 10,000 36.22% MEFEE
Wenzhou Liangtong Real Estate Co., Ltd, M PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000 Property development
BATMREEEERAA /BN AR #50,000 57.31% ¥R
Lishui Liangding Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 Property development
MNEREZXERAA hE/ B R AR 50,000 93.32% MEME
Hangzhou Shichen Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 Property development
BMHEEEXERAR B/ B AR %20,000 56.40% %%
Xuzhou Xurun Property Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000 Property development
BNPRHEELERAA RE/RENL AR#750,000 5334% MIER%E
Xuzhou Zhongliangyu Property Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB750,000 Property development
BHEEEXFERARTED R/ B A i AE#50,000 46.09% WMERE
Pizhou Baode Property Co., Ltd., e PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 Property development
AERERHNEEERAR hE/ R E R AR#60,000 64.00% #IEFE%E
Henan Beifuli Property Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB60,000 Property development
AEREEXARAA /B R AR 50,000 65.80% MER%
Xuchang Honggian Property Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 Property development
AERREEFRAA B,/ R A AR #10,000 7391% MERE
Henan Liangding Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000 Property development
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1. RAREEER@m 1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(Continued)

MY 8 A 7 & R () Information about subsidiaries (Continued)
KRR EEMNBRAHFEEH?T Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out
AT (&) below: (Continued)

AR/ BRTEE/ NG 2
£ AMREEHE AT REBIN FEEK

Issued ordinary/ Percentage of

Place of incorporation/ registered  equity attributable

Name registration and business share capital to the Company  Principal activities
(1)
('000)

BEEE ()
Indirectly held: (Continued)
BERMEXERAT thE/ B i AR 50,000 81.25% MIER%
Shanggiu Hongdi Property Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 Property development
BRREEEERAR " thE/ B it AR #50,000 44.75% ERE
Yulin Liangrun Property Co., Ltd. M€ PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 Property development
FEMPREEMEREFRDA R/ B A i AR #50,000 65.80% ¥R
Changde Zhongliangshun Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 Property development
RATHRRHEHERERRDA /R i AR#90,000 94.00% MERE
Linfen Zhongliangcheng Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB90,000 Property development
MR EEARARWED VG AR 20,000 37.58% MEFE
Xinyi Xiangdu Property Co., Ltd. N PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000 Property development
BEmPEREEEERAA hE/ R E R AR 10,000 100.00% ¥ %
Zhaotong Zhongsong Liangju Property Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000 Property development
BN 2R EREERAA /R E R AR #50,000 65.80% #IEFI%
Zhuzhou Zhongliang Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 Property development
MNERE£ER A A MY thE/ B R AR10,000 35.00% %
Hangzhou Shichen Real Estate Co., Ltd. " PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000 Property development
AERREREEXERAR /B R AR #100,000 60.00% #%FI%
Xuchang Zhongliang Hongsheng Property Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000 Property development
IFmhREEER AR TR thE/ B it AR 50,000 43.75% WERE
Jiangmen Zhongliang Property Co., Ltd. "¢ PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 Property development
EMRE AR ERA A RE/ENL AR #50,000 70.00% MERE
Zhangzhou Zhongliang Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 Property development
ETETRHEEERA TN hE/EA AR 50,000 81.85% MERE
Qingyuan Zhongliangcheng Real Estate Co., Ltd. M) PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 Property development
BETRRBEEERAA B/ B A AR 50,000 100.00% ¥ FE
Deqing Zhonglianghong Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 Property development
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NAREBER @) 1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(Continued)

Bt B D 7 & B () Information about subsidiaries (Continued)
KRR EEMNBRAHFEEH?T Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out
AT (&) below: (Continued)

AL/ BRTEE/ NG 2
£ AMREEHE AT REGAL FEEK

Issued ordinary/ Percentage of

Place of incorporation/ registered  equity attributable

Name registration and business share capital to the Company  Principal activities
(1)
('000)

BEEE ()
Indirectly held: (Continued)
EILRRFEHEREERAA thE/ B R AR#20,000 64.75% MEFE
Tangshan Liangding Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000 Property development
LEDREEEERARTEY B/ B AR #50,000 4411% MEME
Yueging Liangzhi Real Estate Co., Ltd. ™" PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 Property development
BRETREEEHERAR MY RE/EAL AR 50,000 37.02% MEME
Wenling Liangaing Real Estate Co., Ltd, "¢ PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 Property development
THEHERMEXERARA /R E A AR #10,000 84.35% MR %
Pingyang Liangkun Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000 Property development
EERRREMEREERAA /B R AR71,428.60 51.18% MERE
Lianyungang Liangyi Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB71,428.60 Property development
FLERBELFERARFME hE/ R E R AR #20,000 26.06% MEME
Yushan Lianghui Real Estate Co., Ltd. ™" PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000 Property development
THEERIEXERAA /BN AR 10,000 50.88% MIERE
Pingyang Liangjiang Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000 Property development
ERREEXHRAAMEY thE/ B R AR #300,000 37.17% MEME
Guangxi Lianggui Real Estate Co., Ltd. " PRC/Mainland China RMB300,000 Property development
SHERAREXBERARMEY /B R AR#160,000 45.32% MERE
Mengcheng Liangan Real Estate Industry Co., Ltd. "=" PRC/Mainland China RMB160,000 Property development
EPTREEFERAA th /B it AR 10,000 60.00% ¥ 5%
Changsha Liangxin Industry Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000 Property development
KBPRRREERRA 7MY RE/EAL AR#10,000 4363% MERE
Chengdu Zhongliang Hongtai Real Estate Co., Ltd ™" PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000 Property development
EEREEEBRAFHED R/ B A i AR #10,000 2611% MERE
Jining Liangyun Real Estate Co., Ltd. " PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000 Property development
IRZREZEERAR WY VG AR 50,000 3041% MEFEE
Jiangyin Liangyuan Real Estate Co., Ltd. " PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 Property development
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1. RAREEER@m 1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(Continued)

MY 8 A 7 & R () Information about subsidiaries (Continued)
KRR EEMNBRAHFEEH?T Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out
AT (&) below: (Continued)

AR/ BRTEE/ NG 2
£ AMREEHE AT REGAL FEEK

Issued ordinary/ Percentage of

Place of incorporation/ registered  equity attributable

Name registration and business share capital to the Company  Principal activities
(1)
('000)
BEEE ()
Indirectly held: (Continued)
EMREEHEREERAA thE/ B i AR #50,000 100.00% %
Changzhou Liangxing Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 Property development
RGP REREEERD AME B/ B AR #50,000 21.00% MR
Nanyang Zhongliang Hancheng Property Co., Ltd, ") PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 Property development
WIGRGEEREERAA RE/EAL AR 10,000 54.75% WERE
Taojiang Liangrui Real Estate Development Co., Ltd PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000 Property development
MRS REXERARA /B A AR#50,000 70.74% MERE
Hubei Mingchangliang Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 Property development
REEREMEREFRAR WY hE/ A AR 30,000 48.33% MEFE
Chifeng Fuliang Real Estate Development Co., Ltd, M PRC/Mainland China RMB30,000 Property development
REREEXBRAT hE/ R E R AR #460,000 61.06% #ERE
Anqing Liangsheng Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB460,000 Property development
MR EEERZADERAR /B R AR #205,000 53.43% MERE
Chizhou Liangyong Enterprise Management Consulting PRC/Mainland China RMB205,000 Property development
Co., Ltd.

RERHEHEREERAA /R E R AR 20,000 68.18% MM
Dalian Lianghan Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000 Property development
EBTRHEEERAA /BN AR 450,000 100.00% MM
Fuyang Liangrui Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB450,000 Property development
RERAEEHR DAY B/ E R AR 50,000 38.22% MERE
Hefei Liangtuo Real Estate Co., Ltd. " PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 Property development
IHREEXHERA A hE/ B R AR #50,000 46.80% YIERE
Jiangyou Liangshi Real Estate Co., Ltd, " PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 Property development
AETRRARBEEERD A B/ B AR #50,000 3040% MEFE
Nanyang Zhongliang Chudu Real Estate Co., Ltd. " PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 Property development
BEREZMAEEERAR MR /B Rt AR#10,000 33.13% MEME
Qingdao Xingliang Siye Real Estate Co., Ltd. ™" PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000 Property development
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out
below: (Continued)

AR/ BRTEE/ NG 2

£ AMREEHE AT REBIN FEEK
Issued ordinary/ Percentage of

Place of incorporation/ registered  equity attributable

Name registration and business share capital to the Company  Principal activities
(1)
('000)

BEEE ()
Indirectly held: (Continued)
EEMRREEER AR /B R AR #50,000 45.771% MERE
Yiwu Liangtai Real Estate Co., Ltd. ™" PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 Property development
ERMREEEERARTEY thE/ B it AR 10,000 211% NERE
Yuhuan Lianghong Real Estate Co., Ltd. " PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000 Property development
ROTRTEEERAA RE/EAL AR 50,000 60.67% MR
Changsha Liangyuan Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 Property development
BHMRREELEERARWEY R/ B A i AR 12,000 4510% WMERE
Fuzhou Zhongliangrong Real Estate Co., Ltd, ™" PRC/Mainland China RMB12,000 Property development
FITHhRHEEERA TN VG AR 100,000 30.94% MEFE
Jingjiang Zhongliangyu Real Estate Co., Ltd, " PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000 Property development
EERNEHEREERAA hE/ R E R AR 70,000 53.39% MEME
Loudi Lianghong Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB70,000 Property development
EMEREHEREGR AR MY /R E R AR 415,800 43.62% MERE
Changzhou Jinchen Real Estate Development Co., Ltd, ™" PRC/Mainland China RMB415,800 Property development
HEREEXERAA hE/ B R A B #200,000 60.00% #IEF%E
Yibin Liangqing Property Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB200,000 Property development
BNRABEXERDA /B R AR#20,000 51.00% W%
Xuzhou Liangdu Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000 Property development

MisE1: ARAEEEZEZSE QR MEA
BEmAERBRKIEFEN LA
ENEREZHREERESHA
FEH(BEEIRRZEARNHE
H FEREBRE)RBRERNM
FEZEL®R AREHZEQA
HmAEEGE BEZERFAELAE
SEE B R BALR -

Note 1:  As the Group has exposure or rights to variable returns from its
involvement with those companies and has the ability to affect those
returns through its majority voting position and the existing rights to
direct the relevant activities including but not limited to the budget,
pricing and promotion strategies of these companies, the Group has
control over these companies and these companies are thus
accounted for as subsidiaries of the Group.
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2.1
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FRIHEERRIEXEARFE
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mEEE

REFEwR TR IE B R &5 &R
Erg((BERESTEEEE I
JfE B B R B 765 e o 2 R (T B9 R B 7%
BEEAD(EFBEMABEN
2 BERerEN(BER £
AlDkEHeEZEgNRE) N
NEBEBERAGHIHNHKER ERE -
B R TR B E LB R
2HOEREME RAFEFAR
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EREMERBERRFENE
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BND2H BKAEFHHAEIN A
BECZRERROZ TR -

2.1

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out
below: (Continued)

The English names of the companies registered in Mainland
China referred to above in this note represent management’s
best efforts in translating the Chinese names of those
companies as no English names have been registered or are
available. The legal forms of all the above disclosed principal
subsidiaries are limited liability companies.

The directors of the Group are of the view that there are no
individually significant non-controlling interests in the partly-
owned subsidiaries.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) (which
include all standards and interpretations, International
Accounting Standards (“IASs”) and Standing Interpretations
Committee interpretations) approved by the International
Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They
have been prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for investment properties, financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) and other financial liabilities
which have been measured at fair value. These financial
statements are presented in Renminbi (‘RMB”) and all values
are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise
indicated.
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Notes to Financial Statements
2021412 A 31 H 31 December 2021

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2021. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e.,
existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@ the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.
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21 FEEE @) 2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
EHEXE (E) Basis of consolidation (Continued)
W EE RIE R R T =18 The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
HEREZHEP -—BEZEFE A facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
AEESEEHRENMAEHERE or more of the three elements of control described above. A
FoWBRAREAEERNZEHE change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
WEREZEG OB T ARIE of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

AR -

fir] 2N &8 B 2K < Bt /8 A A &9 1% I 4 If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
BlegR FERNZHMBRARINEE the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii)
(BREE2)REE: ((EMFEER the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the
AR E Mi)FT AR RSt cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
EH=5 TBRIANEWREHA recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (i) the
FE: (ENERBEENQTE fair value of any investment retained and (i) any resulting
KB m NERFTEEMN B RN E surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of
Ab e LRI E fb 2 M UK &= R By AR components previously recognised in other comprehensive
SEELEKRD  EMASBEEE L income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
EHBEEXRBEMERNERE appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
EEHO>BEBRIREBFE (N Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
W) -

BEKERE Going Concern Basis

M2021 12 H31H » A& E & B iR As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s current portion of
ThEMERNEEBETS  BLEE interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, senior notes and
BREEERES B ARK19,539 asset-backed securities amounted to RMB19,539 million and
BETAREERZ X EZENETHR senior notes due on 17 April 2023 with cross default clauses
2023 FAA17THE BN EBELEE A amounted to RMB1,302 milion, while its cash and cash
ARBA1302EE L MERS LR equivalents amounted to RMB20,281 million.

CEEBUMRARE20281BETT -

AEBESSA M EREFHARLEI2 The Directors of the Group has evaluated the sustainable

BANEELEEN (BT E operation ability for 12 months from the end of the reporting

BEE TERBEREERENL period, which is affected by the macroeconomic environment,

REMEBEZE) XRBAFHNR industry environment and credit environment superimposing the

)& & [ & 1 H e B M Pk g o impact of multiple rounds of epidemic and came to an opinion
that the liquidity risk of the company is facing periodic
challenges.
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Going Concern Basis (Continued)

Certain measures have been and are being taken to manage its
liquidity needs and to improve its financial position which include
the following:

(@ The Group continues to generate positive operating cash
flows for the next twelve months by implementing various
strategies to improve the Group’s income from sales of
properties, project management and rentals from
investment properties to generate additional operating
cash inflows and putting extra efforts on the collection of
outstanding sales proceeds and other receivables;

(b) The Group is actively reviewing its debt structure and
looking for funding opportunities; the Group is actively
negotiating with several financial institutions to obtain new
loans at a reasonable cost;

() The Group continues to monitor capital expenditure to
balance and relieve cash resource to support operations
and take action to tighten cost controls over various
operating expenses;

(d) The Group continues to identify suitable purchasers and
engage in discussions with certain potential purchasers,
on possible disposals of the Group’s equity interest in
certain property development projects to raise additional
capital.

The directors of the Company have reviewed the Group’s cash
flow forecast covering a period of twelve months from the end
of the reporting period. They are of the opinion that, taking into
account of the above-mentioned plans and measures, the
Group will have sufficient working capital to finance its
operations and meet its financial obligations as and when they
fall due in the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the directors
believe it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021
on a going concern basis.
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2.1

2.2
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2.1

2.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Going Concern Basis (Continued)

Notwithstanding the above, given the volatility of the property
sector in China and the uncertainties to obtain continuous
support by the banks and the Group’s creditors, material
uncertainties exist as to whether management of the Company
will be able to achieve its plans and measures as described
above.

Should the going concern assumption be inappropriate,
adjustments may have to be made to write down the values of
assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any further
liabilities that might arise, and to reclassify non-current assets
and non-current liabilities as current assets and current
liabilities, respectively. The effects of these adjustments have
not been reflected in the consolidated financial information.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised IFRSs for the first
time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendment to IFRS 9,
IAS 39, IFRS7, IFRS4
and IFRS16

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
— Phase 2

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
beyond 30 June 2021 (early
adopted)

Amendment to IFRS 16
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20214 12 A 31 H 31 December 2021

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

The nature and the impact of the Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting 2018 and the revised IFRS are described
below:

(@)

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS
16 address issues not dealt with in the previous
amendments which affect financial reporting when an
existing interest rate benchmark is replaced with an
alternative risk-free rate (“RFR”). The amendments provide
a practical expedient to allow the effective interest rate to
be updated without adjusting the carrying amount of
financial assets and liabilities when accounting for changes
in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows of
financial assets and liabilities, if the change is a direct
consequence of the interest rate benchmark reform and
the new basis for determining the contractual cash flows
is economically equivalent to the previous basis
immediately preceding the change. In addition, the
amendments permit changes required by the interest rate
benchmark reform to be made to hedge designations and
hedge documentation without the hedging relationship
being discontinued. Any gains or losses that could arise
on transition are dealt with through the normal
requirements of IFRS 9 to measure and recognise hedge
ineffectiveness.

The amendments also provide a temporary relief to entities
from having to meet the separately identifiable requirement
when an RFR is designated as a risk component. The
relief allows an entity, upon designation of the hedge, to
assume that the separately identifiable requirement is met,
provided the entity reasonably expects the RFR risk
component to become separately identifiable within the
next 24 months. Furthermore, the amendments require an
entity to disclose additional information to enable users of
financial statements to understand the effect of interest
rate benchmark reform on an entity’s financial instruments
and risk management strategy.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(@

(Continued)

The Group had certain interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings denominated in RMB and foreign currencies
based on the Inter Bank Offered Rate as at 31 December
2021. Since the interest rates of these borrowings were
not replaced by RFRs during the period, the amendments
did not have any impact on the financial position and
performance of the Group. If the interest rates of these
borrowings are replaced by RFRs in a future period, the
Group will apply the above-mentioned practical expedient
upon the modification of these instruments provided that
the “economically equivalent” criterion is met. Additional
information about the transition and the associated risks is
disclosed in note 43 to the financial statements.

Amendment to IFRS 16 issued in March 2021 extends the
availability of the practical expedient for lessees to elect
not to apply lease modification accounting for rent
concessions arising as a direct consequence of the
covid-19 pandemic by 12 months. Accordingly, the
practical expedient applies to rent concessions for which
any reduction in lease payments affects only payments
originally due on or before 30 June 2022, provided the
other conditions for applying the practical expedient are
met. The amendment is effective retrospectively for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021 with any
cumulative effect of initially applying the amendment
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of
retained profits at the beginning of the current accounting
period. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments
did not have any impact on the financial position and
performance of the Group as the Group does not have
any rent concessions arising as a direct consequence of
the covid-19 pandemic for the year ended 31 December
2021.
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22 SRS REE @ 2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES (continued)
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The Group has changed its accounting policy for the
classification of the interest paid in the consolidated statement
of cash flows. In prior periods, interest paid was classified as
cash flows from operating activities, whereas interest paid is
now classified as cash flows from financing activities (the “Policy
Change”). In the opinion of the directors of the Company, it is
more appropriate to classify all cash flows in respect of the
Group’s borrowings, as cash flows from financing activities in
the consolidated statement of cash flows to reflect the nature of
the cash flows associated with the Group’s borrowings,
including the interest paid as a cost of financing, and it will
provide more relevant information about the cash flows
associated with the borrowings. The directors are also of the
opinion that such classification and presentation will provide
greater comparability with other industry peers of the Group.
The comparative amounts have been restated accordingly.

2021 & 20204
2021 2020
W), i Ced), /1
(Decrease)/ (Decrease)/
increase increase
AR¥ Tt AR T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
KETHHRESRE CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
ETFE Interest paid 4,367,337 5,225,440
B 4% /E BEREZ Increase in cash flows related to
IR & =380 operating activities 4,367,337 5,225,440
METHRESRE CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES
=ENEAES) Interest paid (4,367,337) (5,225,440)
HEEEEEH Decrease in cash flows related to
BemERd financing activities (4,367,337) (5,225,440)
ReRREEEYEMFEE NET INCREASE IN CASH AND

CASH EQUIVALENTS = =

FAREEDYEARGE B
s SN L L
ARERDEBEYE

The adoption of the Policy Change has had no impact on the
consolidated statements of profit or loss, comprehensive
income, financial position and changes in equity.
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23 EEMEREKRERWEEEE 2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSs

B EER

AEEBHRRAMBERERER T The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs,

EEMEEREROITE] R EIERT that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial

B TSRS 2R o statements.

REBmELER HHEMELZEM Amendments to IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
FEIRMIEET Framework’

BREISREER REZHEHENA Amendments to IFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
FI0R KBRS KA ELEZEA and IAS 28 between an Investor and its
ERIFEBRME] BELHEXTES Associate or Joint Venture®

BREISIREER REA 42 IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts?

F175%

BREISIREER Rpd s> Amendments to IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts®*
F1THRIER]

Re st Al HRHAHFTEEE Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
EA15 777 452 Current or Non-current?

REHRRAE1R BHUEHKE Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies?
Ko K B Bt 75 3R 5 and IFRS Practice
EHEBKRE2HR Statement 2
#EET

B2 ot B B i 1A A E 22 Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates?
F8HRMEFT

Rt E HE-—GEE7E Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
FE125RMER] EREEHBE Liabilities arising from a Single

AE 7 IE? Transaction?

BRear &R VE- BERZE: Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment:

F16HEMIER] ERETE 3% AT A AT Proceeds before Intended Use'
B

| EREESH — BT Amendments to IAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of
ERYE AR BRI Fulfiling a Contract’

BREI IR ER B R B RS R A A Annual Improvements to  Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9,
20184 £ 2020F E15% - BRI % IFRS Standards llustrative Examples
1 F B 5 LERFEI 2018-2020 accompanying IFRS 16, and

[ X B 75 3 45 42 A IAS 41"
51657 & KT 79 7 51
K EIBEe s &R
FHFERER]
1 R2022F1 A1 B8 2 BB FE H 1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022
il A Rk
2 MR2023F1A1B 8 2 BB FEH 2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
fE A 7R
3 MRS RS ARk B HY - M A] A EL AR 3 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
4 B 2020410 A 78 4 & B B BF 75 3 & 4 As a conseguence of the amendments to IFRS 17 issued in October
HERIEA7SEAMEET - BB B 75 3R & 2 8| 2020, IFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary exemption that
FBAFRIEH BT ABERERR R 25 permits insurers to apply IAS 39 rather than IFRS 9 for annual periods
R A 7 1R 2023F1 A1 8 2 A1 1A beginning before 1 January 2023

HY 6 E H e A B B o St 2 B S5 30 5%
ik B % B 75 i o 2 I 56 9 5%
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSs

(Continued)

Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to IFRS 3 are intended to replace a reference to
the previous Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of
Financial Statements with a reference to the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting issued in March 2018
without significantly changing its requirements. The
amendments also add to IFRS 3 an exception to its recognition
principle for an entity to refer to the Conceptual Framework to
determine what constitutes an asset or a liability. The exception
specifies that, for liabilities and contingent liabilities that would
be within the scope of IAS 37 or IFRIC 21 if they were incurred
separately rather than assumed in a business combination, an
entity applying IFRS 3 should refer to IAS 37 or IFRIC 21
respectively instead of the Conceptual Framework. Furthermore,
the amendments clarify that contingent assets do not qualify for
recognition at the acquisition date. The Group expects to adopt
the amendments prospectively from 1 January 2022. Since the
amendments apply prospectively to business combinations for
which the acquisition date is on or after the date of first
application, the Group will not be affected by these
amendments on the date of transition.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSs

(Continued)

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an inconsistency
between the requirements in IFRS 10 and in IAS 28 in dealing
with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and
its associate or joint venture. The amendments require a full
recognition of a gain or loss resulting from a downstream
transaction when the sale or contribution of assets between an
investor and its associate or joint venture constitutes a business.
For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute a
business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is
recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of
the unrelated investor’'s interest in that associate or joint
venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The
previous mandatory effective date of amendments to IFRS 10
and IAS 28 was removed by the IASB in December 2015 and a
new mandatory effective date will be determined after the
completion of a broader review of accounting for associates
and joint ventures. However, the amendments are available for
adoption now.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSs

(Continued)

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities as
current or non-current. The amendments specify that if an
entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability is subject to the
entity complying with specified conditions, the entity has a right
to defer settlement of the liability at the end of the reporting
period if it complies with those conditions at that date.
Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the
entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of the liability. The
amendments also clarify the situations that are considered a
settlement of a liability. The amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and shall be
applied retrospectively. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact
on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies require
entities to disclose their material accounting policy information
rather than their significant accounting policies. Accounting
policy information is material if, when considered together with
other information included in an entity’s financial statements, it
can reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the
primary users of general purpose financial statements make on
the basis of those financial statements. Amendments to IFRS
Practice Statement 2 provide non-mandatory guidance on how
to apply the concept of materiality to accounting policy
disclosures. Amendments to IAS 1 are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and earlier
application is permitted. Since the guidance provided in the
amendments to IFRS Practice Statement 2 is non-mandatory,
an effective date for these amendments is not necessary. The
Group is currently assessing the impact of the amendments on
the Group’s accounting policy disclosures.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSs

(Continued)

Amendments to IAS 8 clarify the distinction between changes in
accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies.
Accounting estimates are defined as monetary amounts in
financial statements that are subject to measurement
uncertainty. The amendments also clarify how entities use
measurement techniques and inputs to develop accounting
estimates. The amendments are effective for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and apply to
changes in accounting policies and changes in accounting
estimates that occur on or after the start of that period. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exception so that it no longer applies to transactions
that give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences, such as leases and decommissioning obligations.
Therefore, entities are required to recognise a deferred tax asset
and a deferred tax liability for temporary differences arising from
these transactions. The amendments are effective for annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and
shall be applied to transactions related to leases and
decommissioning obligations at the beginning of the earliest
comparative period presented, with any cumulative effect
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained
profits or other component of equity as appropriate at that date.
In addition, the amendments shall be applied prospectively to
transactions other than leases and decommissioning
obligations. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSs

(Continued)

Amendments to IAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting from
the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment any
proceeds from selling items produced while bringing that asset
to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management. Instead, an
entity recognises the proceeds from selling any such items, and
the cost of those items, in profit or loss. The amendments are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022 and shall be applied retrospectively only to items of
property, plant and equipment made available for use on or
after the beginning of the earliest period presented in the
financial statements in which the entity first applies the
amendments. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of assessing
whether a contract is onerous under IAS 37, the cost of fulfilling
the contract comprises the costs that relate directly to the
contract. Costs that relate directly to a contract include both the
incremental costs of fulfiling that contract (e.g., direct labour
and materials) and an allocation of other costs that relate
directly to fuffiling that contract (e.g., an allocation of the
depreciation charge for an item of property, plant and
equipment used in fulfilling the contract as well as contract
management and supervision costs). General and administrative
costs do not relate directly to a contract and are excluded
unless they are explicitly chargeable to the counterparty under
the contract. The amendments are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and shall be applied to
contracts for which an entity has not yet fulfilled all its obligations
at the beginning of the annual reporting period in which it first
applies the amendments. Earlier application is permitted. Any
cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments shall be
recognised as an adjustment to the opening equity at the date
of initial application without restating the comparative
information. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSs

(Continued)

Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020 sets out
amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9, lllustrative Examples
accompanying IFRS 16, and IAS 41. Details of the amendments
that are expected to be applicable to the Group are as follows:

o IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that an
entity includes when assessing whether the terms of a
new or modified financial liability are substantially different
from the terms of the original financial liability. These fees
include only those paid or received between the borrower
and the lender, including fees paid or received by either
the borrower or lender on the other’s behalf. An entity
applies the amendment to financial liabilities that are
modified or exchanged on or after the beginning of the
annual reporting period in which the entity first applies the
amendment. The amendment is effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendment is not expected
to have a significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

o IFRS 16 Leases: removes the illustration of payments from
the lessor relating to leasehold improvements in lllustrative
Example 13 accompanying IFRS 16. This removes
potential confusion regarding the treatment of lease
incentives when applying IFRS 16.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights
and over which it is in a position to exercise significant influence.
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial
and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control
or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to
the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in associates and joint ventures are
stated in the consolidated statements of financial position at the
Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses. Adjustments are made
to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may
exist. The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and
other comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures is
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income. In addition, when there has been
a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate, the
Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in
the consolidated statements of changes in equity. Unrealised
gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group
and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
investments in the associates, except where unrealised losses
provide evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred.
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates or joint
ventures is included as part of the Group’s investments in
associates or joint ventures.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a
joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not
remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be accounted
for under the equity method. In all other cases, upon loss of
significant influence over the associate or joint control over the
joint venture, the Group measures and recognises any retained
investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying
amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss of significant
influence or joint control and the fair value of the retained
investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit
or loss.

When an investment in an associate is classified as held for
sale, it is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.

Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the
Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests
in the acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle
their holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the event
of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components of non-
controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the
acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition
date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in
host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair
value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the
identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the
sum of this consideration and other items is lower than the fair
value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at
31 December. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition
date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or
groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether
other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those
units or groups of units.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to
which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less
than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured
based on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the
portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties and financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss at the end of reporting
period. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair
value measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the
absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous
market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most
advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The
fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing
the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in
their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the consolidated financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows,
based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the consolidated
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy
by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at
the end of each of the Reporting period.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, financial assets, investment properties and non-
current assets/a disposal group classified as held for sale), the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s
value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit
to which the asset belongs. In testing a cash-generating unit for
impairment, a portion of the carrying amount of a corporate
asset (e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated to an individual
cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-
generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of
an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or
loss in the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset
other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of
that asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of any
depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an
impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in the period in
which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount,
in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is accounted
for in accordance with the relevant accounting policy for that
revalued asset.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@ the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(b)

the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

M

(i)

(i)

(iv)

(i)

(vii)

(viil

the entity and the Group are members of the same
Group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary
of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a) () has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a Group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services
to Group or to the parent of the Group.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition
and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to the statements of
comprehensive income in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying
amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts
of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at
intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets
with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off
the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual
rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings 5.00%
Motor vehicles 20.00%
Office equipment and electronic devices 20.00%

Over the shorter of
the lease terms and
20.00%

Leasehold improvements

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the statements of comprehensive
income in the year the asset derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant asset.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including
the leasehold property held as a right-of-use assets which
would otherwise meet the definition of an investment property)
held to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation, rather
than for use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course of
business. Such properties are measured initially at cost,
including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects
market conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in profit or loss in the year in
which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in profit or loss in the year
of the retirement or disposal.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Investment properties (Continued)

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied
properties or inventories, the deemed cost of a property for
subsequent accounting is its fair value at the date of change in
use. If a property occupied by the Group as an owner-occupied
property becomes an investment property, the Group accounts
for such property in accordance with the policy stated under
“Property, plant and equipment and depreciation” for owned
property and/or accounts for such property in accordance with
the policy stated under “Right-of-use assets” for property held
as a right-of-use asset up to the date of change in use, and any
difference at that date between the carrying amount and the fair
value of the property is accounted for as a revaluation in
accordance with the policy stated under “Property, plant and
equipment and depreciation” above. For a transfer from
inventories to investment properties, any difference between the
fair value of the property at that date and its previous carrying
amount is recognised in profit or loss.

Transfers to or from investment property

Transfers to or from investment property shall be made when
and only when there is a change in use evidenced by:

(@ commencement of owner-occupation, for a transfer from
investment property to owner-occupied property;

(b) commencement of development with a view to sale, for a
transfer from investment property to inventories;

(c) end of owner-occupation, for a transfer from owner-
occupied property to investment property; or

commencement of an operating lease to another party, for a
transfer from inventories to investment property.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Properties under development

Properties under development are intended to be held for sale
after completion.

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost
comprising land costs, construction costs, borrowing costs,
professional fees and other costs directly attributable to such
properties incurred during the development period and net
realisable value.

Properties under development are classified as current assets
unless those will not be realised in normal operating cycle. On
completion, the properties are transferred to completed
properties held for sale.

Completed properties held for sale

Completed properties held for sale are stated in the statements
of financial position at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined by an apportionment of the total costs of
land and buildings attributable to the unsold properties. Net
realisable value takes into account the price ultimately expected
to be realised, less estimated costs to be incurred in selling the
properties.

Allocation of property development costs

Land costs are allocated to each unit according to their
respective saleable gross floor areas (“GFA”) to the total
saleable GFA. Construction costs relating to units were
identified and allocated specifically. Common construction costs
have been allocated according to the saleable GFA similar to
land costs.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either
finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are
subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that
the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period
and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite
useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)

Software is stated at cost less any impairment loss and is
amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated useful life
of 5 years.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to
make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.

(@) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at
cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes
the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct
costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Office properties 1to 6 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)
(b) Lease liabilities

(c)

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease payments to
be made over the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts
expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The
lease payments also include the exercise price of a
purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the
Group and payments of penalties for termination of a
lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the
option to terminate the lease. The variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised
as an expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in
the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in lease
payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change in
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of office equipment (that
is those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or
less from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option). It also applies the recognition exemption
for leases of low-value assets to leases of office equipment
and laptop computers that are considered to be of low
value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or
when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either
an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are
classified as operating leases. When a contract contains lease
and non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for
on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included in
revenue in the statement of profit or loss due to its operating
nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same
basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as
revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are
accounted for as finance leases.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost, fair value through other
comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting the
effect of a significant financing component, the Group initially
measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a
financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction
costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under IFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set
out for “Revenue recognition” below.

173




FRIZEREEER AT 2021 FF3R

AT 4R R B E

Notes to Financial Statements
2021412 A 31 B 31 December 2021

24

174

ERETHERE@m)

RERHMERMEE ()

RETHREERBHERXANKEZAF
B ARME2mE KRS ETD R

AECBELEARSXINAE KR
BEAENE (HEINAE LF
BEHMBAERE-RERETRR
MEINAERMNEZEREE "
Hiz A VEFABDRETD B RET
B TwmEFRBEEA WM -

AEEEESREENFTHRAE
HmmERESMEENELRS
ME - XBEABERESRERS
KEKBAHWNAESRE HESH
BE SIMERA -LWBHKAD
BLFENESREENREERER
BEEANBEDEHNRESRENER
BAREE M FESAHEM
EEHBEDBRTENSREER
REEREAURBENRERER
HENEBEAPIKA - AR E
AEBEABENEREERAT
Bt ABSETHBRFTE -

FMAETHBEMRMESRMEERR
ZFABIRNEEAZBERLEZLE
EZB)HR EHBEXHLERT
EE—REAR KT 5 1E I #EE /Y
HEAABREENTREEES -

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are
not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit
or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate
cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows
will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the
financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and
measured at amortised cost are held within a business model
with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified and
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are
held within a business model with the objective of both holding
to collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets
which are not held within the aforementioned business models
are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss (“FVTPL”)
are carried in the statement of financial position at fair value with
net changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or
loss.

This category includes equity investments which the Group had
not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value through other
comprehensive income. Dividends on equity investments
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
are also recognised as other income in the statement of profit
or loss when the right of payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with the
dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend
can be measured reliably.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset
or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a)
the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group
continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the
rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(“‘ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to
the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that
result from default events that are possible within the next 12
months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since
initial recognition. When making the assessment, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain
cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in
default when internal or external information indicates that the
Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts
in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held
by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash
flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade
receivables which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12—month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs.
Under the simplified approach, the Group does not track
changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

For trade receivables that contain a significant financing
component and lease receivables, the Group chooses as its
accounting policy to adopt the simplified approach in calculating
ECLs with policies as described above.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
borrowings, or payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings, corporate bonds and senior notes (collectively
called “loans and borrowings”), lease liabilities, trade and bills
payables, other payables, and amounts due to related parties.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
and lease liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated
at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are
an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in profit or
loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to
make a payment when due in accordance with the terms of a
debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract is recognised
initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures the
financial guarantee contracts at the higher of: () the ECL
allowance determined in accordance with the policy as set out
in “Impairment of financial assets”; and (i) the amount initially
recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative amount of
income recognised.

Senior notes

Senior notes issued by the Company that contain both liability
and early redemption option (which is not closely related to the
host contract) are classified separately into respective items on
initial recognition. At the date of issue, both the liability and early
redemption option components are recognised at fair value.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Senior notes (Continued)

In subsequent periods, the debt component of the senior notes
is carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
The early redemption option is measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the senior notes are
allocated to the liability and early redemption option
components in proportion to their relative fair values.
Transaction costs relating to the early redemption option are
charged to profit or loss immediately. Transaction costs relating
to the debt component are included in the carrying amount of
the liability portion and amortised over the period of the senior
notes using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference
between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit
or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if, and
only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statements of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statements of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of the
reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted
present value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods
are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or
paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in which
the Group operates.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

° where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures when the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can
be utilised, except:

° where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will
reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can be
utilised.
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24 ERBFTBEBE @ 2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Fr 18 % (&) Income tax (Continued)
RBEEHREHNELEHRBBEENR The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
HE WETHIEEE THERN end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
FEASAEH LB ELERIEE no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
ER HEABRZERE- - KHEE to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
ROELEREBEEEERREHRE Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of
ot WHERIBE B B A ERTF the reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has
DAY [E] & 20 Bk B2 o iR T FIE B E become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
B ARERR o allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
EEMBEBEERBEDRERNRSE Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
HAREEMIELE LEBHAOHRE that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
(EBR) RFEHERAREREE realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
K FEBBERRANBETE - laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the

end of the reporting period.

ENEERNEEEREEITHERER Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and
SENHA B EE A IE A FEER only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current
H BEEMREEERELERIES tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets
EHEE—MEHEARR —ERNE and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the
B mTRERTEERFHEALE same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or
EEAEBRIEAGEREEBK AT different taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax
BHER HBEHRSRKBBEE liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
BASHEZELEHRNBEABERTEEN settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which
EERIBE EA W E R FREE significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
ZEBERBEZZAE AERLE expected to be settled or recovered.

MIAEER EEER IR B EEH -

BT %4 B Government grants

et ERESe WA B®E A Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
FEm SN E KRG BIBUT there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
R BIR A FE T AR - {44 B and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
HRASEEER  AIEEHEMmER grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on
S IHMABER AR ERE ARG ER a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for which it
RN ° is intended to compensate, are expensed.

MBI EREEEB 2 FEBFA Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to
BEKRARE WYREHEEEMNTE a deferred income account and is released to profit or loss over
HAERFHRRN UWEBEF AR the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual
ZEENNEEREE R R I A instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of the asset
KB ER Y AR EERE - and released to profit or loss by way of a reduced depreciation

charge.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which the
Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or
services to the customer. The variable consideration is
estimated at contract inception and constrained until it is highly
probable that a significant revenue reversal in the amount of
cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the
associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than one
year, revenue is measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group
and the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the Group with
a significant financial benefit for more than one year, revenue
recognised under the contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest
method. For a contract where the period between the payment
by the customer and the transfer of the promised goods or
services is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted
for the effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in IFRS 15.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Sale of properties

Revenue is recognised when or as the control of the asset is
transferred to the customer. Depending on the terms of the
contract and the laws that apply to the contract, control of the
asset may transfer over time or at a point in time. Control of the
asset is transferred over time if the Group’s performance:

° provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

° creates and enhances an asset that the customer controls
as the Group performs; or

° does not create an asset with an alternative use to the
Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.

If control of the asset transfers over time, revenue is recognised
over the period of the contract by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of that performance obligation.
Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
purchaser obtains control of the asset.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation is measured based on the Group’s efforts or inputs
to the satisfaction of the performance obligation, by reference
to the contract costs incurred up to the end of each reporting
period as a percentage of total estimated costs for each
contract.

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the
promised amount of consideration for the effect of financing
component if it is significant.

For a property development and sales contract for which the
control of the property is transferred at a point in time, revenue
is recognised when the customer obtains the physical
possession or the legal title of the completed property and the
Group has the present right to payment and the collection of
the consideration is probable.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Property management services

Property management service income derived from the
provision of property maintenance and management services is
recognised when the relevant services are rendered and the
customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group.

Management consulting services

Management consulting service income derived from the
provision of support services in connection with development of
property projects is recognised when the relevant services are
rendered and the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group.

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are recognised as income in the accounting
period in which they are incurred.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that discounts the
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the
financial instrument of the net carrying amount of the financial
asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the
Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or
a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before
the Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract
liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group performs
under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or
services to the customer).
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24 ERBFTBEBE @ 2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

DB BERMNSR Share-based payments
AKAAZAE —EHERESSZ 84 The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
MERAEELCEXNRIELERNE of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
ERSEELRTREERE®R - A& contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
EBE(BIEES)RARKRMGD AER (including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the
e WEB S Bt EE form of share-based payments, whereby employees render
IR RS E AR E R T A MK services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
BEZLEERS]) - transactions”).
REBREBETIEREERIK The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for
A2 ERZERBB 2 A FEER grants is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at
s AFEIENMNEGEMER = which they are granted. The fair value is determined by an
HABEAET AL —FTFEBH external valuer using a binomial model, further details of which
B B 75 3R 3% B 5134 © are given in note 34 to the financial statements.
BEHEERI MK & F &= The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
JFE 38 h0 2B 5 0 AE R R &SR TS 16 employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
HEERNPBEARNEERIRX increase in equity, over the period in which the performance
NER - EHBBHA REHRE and/or service conditions are fulfiled. The cumulative expense
HRABRANESEEIFINRFTH recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each
YORMEFEBHEEBHLESs EAE reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent to
HEREeRBNIRAT BgHE which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best
MxEMHeT-AX —HEAARER estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately
XAMBREGFAERRZE2BER vest. The charge or credit to the statement of profit or loss for a
ZH R B R RN BT &8 - period represents the movement in the cumulative expense

recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

RETEBETEBMNRFERTT Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken
ZRRMG NRIET S KRB GG - HEE into account when determining the grant date fair value of
B {61 B9 AT B M BRI 4 5F E A S & AR awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being met is
SEAAESEERRTEHENRE assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of the number of
8 — 2D o B R B IEH KB equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance
RELBNRAFERN - [{EREZR conditions are reflected within the grant date fair value. Any
RESEEERBEREBNEME other conditions attached to an award, but without an
Gt ERABEEBEG -KRIER associated service requirement, are considered to be non-
SHONMRE R I RBEEH - T A vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the
FEBROENREZHNATEAR fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an
B - U A% BN B ST 6 AR R o award unless there are also service and/or performance
conditions.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met, no
expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or non-
vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition,
an expense is recognised for any modification that increases
the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise
beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of
modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This
includes any award where non-vesting conditions within the
control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award,
and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it is
granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they
were a modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as

additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.
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24 ERBFTBEBE @ 2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

HiEERF Other employee benefits

AEBRPEAMEENHEBRF The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
HNEEBZXNEHTRFGE — B i Mainland China are required to participate in a defined
WEREREEZLHE - ZEHNE contribution pension scheme centrally operated by the local
NEEREGFESRE "B AF municipal government. These subsidiaries are required to
REZEGFTEHRR KRARFHFP R contribute a certain proportion of its payroll costs to the central
EZ Rt BME-RERFHAE pension scheme. The only obligation of the Company with
H e MEBRBEPREEZSTE® respect to the central pension scheme is to make the required
R KA AR AR KREERE contributions. No forfeited contribution under the central
NOHR ZEHRHZIRBRERRE pension scheme is available to reduce the contribution payable
Z2FEIM AR B A E N RIBRF B in future years. The contributions are charged to profit or loss as
Bk - they become payable in accordance with the rules of the central

pension scheme.

AEENAEBHEEE X EMRE The Group also participates in a pension scheme under the
MAEeEGH ((REEED) rules and regulations of the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
HEIRROABEBTHEEZSE  HE Ordinance (“MPF Scheme”) for all employees in Hong Kong,
BTEREMRERINTE - BESTE which is a defined contribution retirement scheme. The
MERBREREEEHKETERE contributions to the MPF Scheme are based on minimum
BEREEBHEBBRANS%TE - statutory contribution requirement of 5% of eligible employees’
EIRERE S8 B WA 3 A relevant aggregate income. No forfeited contribution under the
B KR R 2R 4R R A5 AY R e itk MPF Scheme is available to reduce the contribution payable in
BEEZeEMNEERBLIEENE future years. The assets of this pension scheme are held
SANEAREEFEESFIFTAH - separately from those of the Group in independently

administered funds.

EE NS Borrowing costs
Wig RN EEREREEANS Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
FHEREAAEREAEILE construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e. assets that
NEE)BEEEBOZERKAGER necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
CERBZZEEENKASLD  EE their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
BEECARKHEAERERASSHER those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases
BE-BEERRAEEEREE when the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
F 2 B A ER B 12 & BT BN A9 3% B IR sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
AR E B A B8 3K 2 R HE o specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
P A H b & BB AN 39 10 BE A Al 2 assets is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All
He-BRAKABEEREERES other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they
EERNNEREAMA o are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other
costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of
funds.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed
final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association grant the directors the authority to declare interim
dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised
immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

ltems included in the financial information of each of the Group’s
entities are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented
in BRMB, which is the Company’s functional currency because
the Group’s principal operations are carried out in the PRC.
Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in the
Group are initially recorded using their respective functional
currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling
at the end of each of the reporting period. Differences arising on
settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in
profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-
monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the
recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item
(i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value gain or
loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or
loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit
or loss, respectively).

191




FRIZEREEER AT 2021 FF3R

AT 4R R B E

Notes to Financial Statements
2021412 A 31 B 31 December 2021

24

192

ERETHERE @)

S ()

MEERLERBERAMNKEN
FEKEEYNFERABERE AR
BE RAXIBANGBERKOE
K- NEXFHOAMAEAREEI G
BRELBRANKENIFEREE
SFEEAENEE - MR HR
ZENRIUR AEBHEEESE
MRKPBMAMNKENRZZEH -

ETHBIMBARNEEBIL I
ARB - RBEMR ZFTEEN
BERAERBEHRORITER
BESARBREBGEREFAN
BYTAERBESARE -

PRELESZRNE M2 m WS
R REFAELRBRHEE - HE
BINRIGER - EZIBREBINER
ERMEMEE K AR E DR

B R -

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an
advance consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date
on which the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability arising from the advance consideration.
If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of
the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are
currencies other than the RMB. As at the end of the reporting
period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated
into RMB at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their statements of profit or loss are
translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange rates for
the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Going Concern Consideration

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
apart from those involving estimations, management has
prepared the consolidated financial statements on the
assumption that the Group will be able to operate as a going
concern in the coming year, which is a critical judgement that
has the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements. The assessment of the going
concern assumption involves making a judgement by the
directors, at a particular point of time, about the future outcome
of events or conditions which are inherently uncertain. The
directors consider that the Group has the capability to continue
as a going concern and the major events or conditions, which
may give rise to business risks, that may individually or
collectively cast a significant doubt upon the going concern
assumption are set out in note 2.1 to the financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements:

Revenue recognition

Revenue from sales of properties is recognised over time when
the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date; otherwise,
revenue is recognised at the point in time when the buyer
obtains control of the completed property. The Group may not
change or substitute the property unit or redirect the property
unit for another use due to the contractual restrictions with the
customer and thus the property unit does not have an
alternative use to the Group. However, whether there is an
enforceable right to payment depends on the terms of sales
contract and the interpretation of the applicable laws that apply
to the contract. Such determination requires significant
judgements.

In assessing whether the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for its sale contracts, the Group has obtained legal
counsel’s opinion regarding the enforceability of the right to
payment, including an assessment on the contractual terms as
well as any legislation that could supplement or override those
contractual terms, and conducted an evaluation of any
existence of circumstances that could restrict the Group to
enforce its right to payment for specific performance.
Management uses judgements, based on legal counsel’'s
opinion, to classify sales contracts into those with right to
payment and those without the right. Management will reassess
their judgements on a regular basis to identify and evaluate the
existence of any circumstances that could affect the Group’s
enforceable right to payment and the implication on the
accounting for sales contracts.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Property lease classification — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its
investment property portfolio. The Group has determined,
based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the
arrangements, such as the lease term not constituting a major
part of the economic life of the commercial property and the
present value of the minimum lease payments not amounting to
substantially all the fair value of the commercial property, that it
retains substantially all the significant risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of these properties which are leased out
and accounts for the contracts as operating leases.

Classification between investment properties and owner-
occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making that
judgement. Investment property is a property held to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore, the Group
considers whether a property generates cash flows largely
independently of the other assets held by the Group. Some
properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or for
capital appreciation and another portion that is held for use in
the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes. If these portions could be sold
separately or leased out separately under a finance lease, the
Group accounts for the portions separately. If the portions could
not be sold separately, the property is an investment property
only if an insignificant portion is held for use in the production or
supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes.
Judgement is made on an individual property basis to determine
whether ancillary services are so significant that a property does
not qualify as an investment property.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below:
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Revenue recognition

The Group recognises property development revenue over time
by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of
the performance obligation at the reporting date. The progress
is measured based on the Group’s efforts or inputs to the
satisfaction of the performance obligation, by reference to the
contract costs incurred up to the end of each reporting period
as a percentage of total estimated costs for each property unit
in the contract. The Group calculated the cost allocation based
on the type of properties, gross and saleable floor areas.
Significant judgements and estimations are required in
determining the completeness of the estimated total costs and
the accuracy of progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation at the reporting date. The Group has a
standard monthly cost budgeting and estimate completion
process in which management reviews the development
progress and execution of the performance obligations. As part
of this process, management reviews information including but
not limited to, the cost to achieve the schedule. Changes in
cost estimates in future periods can affect the Group’s revenue
recognised. In making the above estimations, the Group relies
on past experience and work of contractors and, if appropriate,
surveyors.

Provision for properties under development and completed
properties held for sale

The Group’s properties under development and completed
properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Based on the Group’s historical experience and
the nature of the subject properties, the Group makes estimates
of the selling prices, the costs of completion of properties under
development, and the costs to be incurred in selling the
properties based on prevailing market conditions.

If there is an increase in costs to completion or a decrease in
net sales value, the net realisable value will decrease and this
may result in a provision for properties under development and
completed properties held for sale. Such provision requires the
use of judgement and estimates. Where the expectation is
different from the original estimate, the carrying value and
provision for properties in the periods in which such estimate is
changed will be adjusted accordingly.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the
promised amount of consideration for the effects of the timing
value of money if the timing of payments agreed to by the
parties to the contract provides the Group with a significant
benefit of financing.

Advance payments received from customers provides a
significant financing benefit to the Group. Although the Group is
required to place all deposits and periodic payments received
from the pre-completion sales in a stakeholder account, the
Group is able to benefit from those advance payment as it can
withdraw money from that account to pay for expended
construction costs on the project. The advance payments
received in effect reduce the Group’s need to rely on other
sources of financing.

The amount of the financing component is estimated at the
inception of the contract. After contract inception, the discount
rate is not updated for changes in interest rates or other
circumstances, such as a change in credit risk. The period of
financing is from the time that the payment is received until the
transfer of goods to the customers.

PRC corporate income tax (“CIT”)

The Group is subject to corporate income taxes in the PRC. As
a result of the fact that certain matters relating to the income
taxes have not been confirmed by the local tax bureau,
objective estimate and judgement based on currently enacted
tax laws, regulations and other related policies are required in
determining the provision for income taxes to be made. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts originally recorded, the differences will impact on the
income tax and tax provisions in the period in which the
differences realise.
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3. EXRSFHEREMGET @ 3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

f& 5 T B B [ & () Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

FRER & IR E B ([ B E ) PRC land appreciation tax (“LAT”)

AEBEHGWPR L HIBER - £ The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC. The provision for LAT
WIRENBREREEREY+ BEE is based on management’s best estimates according to the
BA T 75 A 2R IOA AR P E AR E 9 1R R understanding of the requirements set forth in the relevant PRC
FTEREMETETIR - BER A L 338 tax laws and regulations. The actual LAT liabilities are subject to
EBERABEERYERZTEER IR the determination by the tax authorities upon the completion of
AR HEAEET AEB M ARE the property development projects. The Group has not finalised
ETYWERBIEL BN BEHEEBER its LAT calculation and payments with the tax authorities for
R T HMIBEROTE RN K- certain of its property development projects. The final outcome
RRERTEEY T LN E R could be different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
B BEMEESerE=HER and any differences will impact on the LAT expenses and the
HARE A9 + it 18 (E 77 5 2 M AE R B4 o related provision in the period in which the differences realise.
FEREERE Impairment of non-financial assets
AEERBEHRRTEMEHSR The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
EE(BEERAEEE) AESEMR impairment for all non-financial assets (including the right-of-use
BEfR -BEMFeREECBTR assets) at the end of the reporting period. Other non-financial
FRREEREEEKERETR assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators that
BAR WEEXRESELAEMD the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment
FEHERBRaAET KB eE(NER exists when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating
FEHRALEEXNAEAEFEAEAEAIR unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its
=mE) AIRAEERE 2FERD fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The
EXRAZBRBEEATETRSFT A calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is based on
HR B EE R 5 H A 15 BUE LA available data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length
BERMEBEREEESENE Sk At transaction of similar assets or observable market prices less
B -mMEAERAEBESE BIER incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When valuge in use
ARGt EESBReELEENNTE calculations are undertaken, management must estimate the
FAARRBRERE WERS BEARL expected future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating
REUFEZFHRERENHEE - unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate

the present value of those cash flows.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Estimate of fair value of investment properties

In the absence of current prices in an active market for similar
properties, the Group considers information from a variety of
sources, including:

(@ current prices in an active market for properties of a
different nature, condition or location, adjusted to reflect
those differences;

(b)  recent prices of similar properties on less active markets,
with adjustments to reflect any changes in economic
conditions since the date of the transactions that occurred
at those prices; and

(c) discounted cash flow projections based on reliable
estimates of future cash flows, supported by the terms of
any existing lease and other contracts and (when possible)
by external evidence such as current market rents for
similar properties in the same location and condition, and
using discount rates that reflect current market
assessments of the uncertainty in the amount and timing
of the cash flows.

At 31 December 2021, the carrying amount of investment
properties was RMB1,410,200,000 (2020: RMB1,839,550,000).
Further details, including the key assumptions used for fair value
measurement are given in note 14 to the financial statements.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised. Significant management
judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax
assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and
level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning
strategies. Further details are contained in note 19 to the
financial statements.
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4. REHEHEH 4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
EREERBENEEREASEEER Management monitors the operating results of the Group’s
(BEMERZ)NKCEELE LY business which includes property development by project
BROPEERRBFEHEL AL B location for the purpose of making decisions about resource
—NEBEMKA FANEXEELE allocation and performance assessment. No revenue, net profit
MESRBEAAREBELGE WA - F or total assets from a single location exceeded 10% of the
MEBNEEBLENI0% - BB AL Group’s consolidated revenue, net profit or total assets,
EEHEBEULERS BWMERE respectively. As all locations have similar economic
LHEEEEEMES - Eilt ¥R characteristics with similar nature of property development and
EHHEE FAEBOEFPER leasing and management, nature of the aforementioned
WA A R o BE B EE ok 4R AR 75 T B business processes, type or class of customers for the
FEHENU BWEMBNERER aforementioned businesses and methods used to distribute the
— B R ELE DI o properties or provide the services, all locations were aggregated

as one reportable operating segment.
ih & & ¥ Geographical information
HRAEBEREIINTFREFPHKAE No geographical information is presented as the Group’s
BEARPEAMHNKCEMEALRE revenue from the external customers is derived solely from its
W4 FE R B E B AL B R B A LA operation in Mainland China and no non-current assets of the
SN - IR 2 S MR B K o Group are located outside Mainland China.
EFREERFMNER Information about major customers
R EEE S8 -—KPERE No revenue from sales to a single customer or a group of
HITH—EEFPHHEERABENG customers under common control accounted for 10% or more
AEBWARI10%K A E © of the Group’s revenue for the reporting period.

5. WA -HEfMW AR W= 5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
HAR DT : An analysis of revenue is as follows:

2021 20204
2021 2020
AR¥TR ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000

KEEFELBBA Revenue from contracts with
customers 76,096,440 65,929,080

k8 A it 2R B LA Revenue from other sources
B S W Gross rental income 17,720 11,486
76,114,160 65,940,566
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5. WA HiARWE @

KEEFEHHRA
i) ZHEBAEHR

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

() Disaggregated revenue information

2021 & 20204
2021 2020
AR® Tt ARBFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
EmUREER Types of goods or services
M E Sale of properties 75,533,446 65,500,822
H b g %5 Other services 562,994 428,258
RKEEFEAHMBRUA Total revenue from contracts with
customers 76,096,440 65,929,080
LN ST Timing of revenue recognition
B K (E B R B 5 72 1 Sale of properties transferred
M E at a point in time 69,427,457 61,905,352
PERF I ER Y X HE Sale of properties transferred over
time 6,105,989 3,595,470
BE s E 8B B AR 75 Services transferred over time 562,994 428,258
RERFEAELHMBERA Total revenue from contracts with
customers 76,096,440 65,929,080

TRBETARERBFARS
POz EMEBEL 8 BEHME
BITHREANEEERNE ER
WAERE -

The following table shows the amounts of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that were
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the
reporting period and recognised from performance
obligations satisfied in previous periods:

2021 20204
2021 2020
AREBFTRT AR®TET
RMB’000 RMB’000
STARESHY 2 AL BER  Revenue recognised that were
EREREA : included in contract liabilities
at the beginning of the reporting
period:
MEHE Sale of properties 63,871,686 56,796,636
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5.

WA - B A KW@

KEEFEHAHBA (H)

(ii)

BEHEE
AEBZBEHNETERG @
AR

YWERHEHE
AHEHEAHNME  A5E
REAHOMBNABEHERRA
BEPEF - HRBEERES
MER ZARE -

2RI
REMREEHOME  A&E
BANHSREERRE & ®
(EHERHEAKREES
MERNEPMEER)BRK
Ao REBD R & #) 3 & & T
HER AEECEEZEREE
HETEBRZEREEHONF
MRBEAEE -

R1I2A3TBPREEZFBELNE
FERETHBD REIT) R

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(ii)

Performance obligations
Information of the Group’s performance obligations is
summarised below:

Sale of properties

For property sales contracts, the Group receives
payments from customers based on billing schedules as
established in the contracts. Payments are usually
received in advance of the performance under the
contracts.

Provision of services

For other service contracts, the Group recognises revenue
equal to the right to invoice amount when it corresponds
directly with the value to the customer of the Group’s
performance to date, on a monthly basis. The majority of
the service contracts do not have a fixed term. The Group
has elected the practical expedient of not to disclosing the
remaining performance obligations for these types of
contracts.

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the
remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially

SERSERAT : unsatisfied) as at 31 December are as follows:
2021 20204
2021 2020
ARETR ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
TEHERAB AN Amounts expected to be
recognised as revenue
—F N Within one year 68,278,594 76,910,908
—F 1% After one year 93,663,221 91,145,387
161,941,815 168,056,295
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5. WA - Hfb AR W= | 5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
(Continued)

XEEFASHAHWA (&) Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

iy BHEE@E (i) Performance obligations (Continued)
12 (7 R 7% (&) Provision of services (Continued)
FEHR -—FEBERRBBAND The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the
RREFBRBEONETNRZER remaining performance obligations which are expected to
SHEBER=ZFABITHY X be recognised as revenue after one year relate to the sale
HEEB - " EEEFRBRELNE of properties that are to be satisfied within three years. All
ENFBEMRSERSETE the other amounts of transaction prices allocated to the
HER—FABREBKRA - & remaining performance obligations are expected to be
MPEENSBINBIEXR G/ recognised as revenue within one year. The amounts
AERE- disclosed above do not include variable consideration

which is constrained.

2021 20204
2021 2020
ARBTRT ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
Hi W A B W Other income and gains
& B B A Bl E Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 407,243 83,784
ME 5 =%8 - JHEE Foreign exchange differences, net 241,427 528,788
HEGLELERBELE QA Gain on disposal of joint ventures
Wz and associates 147,188 116,231
MBEREHNNBEE Changes in provision for
financial guarantee contracts 80,381 52,144
I 7 B Government grants 38,869 24,111
RUWIE® Forfeiture of deposits 26,230 14,964
gl ENEID & Gain on acquisition of a subsidiary = 60,388
BHENBEARIRE 2 Remeasurement gain on investment
W 25 in an associate — 4578
HAh Others 17,750 33,062
959,088 918,050
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6. Al Rl B 6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

AEEBAFABEENR(GEA) R The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/

204

T&IA : (crediting):
2021 20204
2021 2020
iz AR®TR ARBTT
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
EEMEKR Cost of properties sold 22 62,646,725 51,708,913
TLERYERRDN Impairment losses recognised for 21 731,125 366,047
(B & 18 properties under development
METIEHEELEYE  Impairment losses written off for 22 (109,060) (190,821)
58 /R E 5 18 completed properties held for sale
FETIEEHEWSE  Impairment losses recognised for 22 100,768 —
R EEE completed properties held for sale
Y WERHZ#EITE  Depreciation of property, plant and 13 35,005 36,027
equipment
CREEENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 16(a) 50,502 71,378
T AFHERAEETEH  Lease payments not included in the 16(c) 9,301 9,645
HER K measurement of lease liabilities
B ER & EE Amortisation of other intangible assets 15 4,379 3,238
% 5 B =7 W Auditor’s remuneration 13,864 13,640
EERAAX Employee benefit expense (including
(BHEEERKSITH  directors’ and chief executive’s
A B #H B (H5E8)) : remuneration (note 8):
IERF® Wages and salaries 1,827,031 2,009,504
BEEZEEHIAK Pension scheme contributions and 226,080 234,107
2 18 F social welfare
DA RE 25 45 & 19 B8 PR #E Equity-settled share option expenses 34 12,097 9,932
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ml & KA 7. FINANCE COSTS
BEXASHTAT : An analysis of finance costs is as follows:
2021 £ 20204
2021 2020
AR®TRT AR%®Tr
RMB’000 RMB’000
BITERRAEMBER BAEHE K Interest on bank loans and other
BEERBSFMBRENE borrowings, senior notes and
proceeds from asset-backed
securities 4,115,312 4,797,261
WAEBHEENFERAX Interest expense arising from
revenue contracts 650,568 861,925
HEBEBENNE Interest on lease liabilities 7,455 8,673
WIERAFEFTAERZN Total interest expense on financial
THMABENERXARE liabilities not at fair value through
profit or loss 4,773,335 5,667,859
B AREFE Less: Interest capitalised (4,125,874) (5,125,365)
647,461 542,494
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8. EEREBRSITHAEFM 8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION
BELMHRA FEEQRIKHNE Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the vyear,
383(1)@) * (b) * () X (MIE k7 (F @ disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c)
ESRMNCEREE) RAIF250K and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of
B AFEESRESTBAES the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Ban R - Directors) Regulation, is as follows:
2021 20204F
2021 2020
AR® T ARBFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
we Fees 1,110 1,110
H B & - Other emoluments:
TE FBEREYDER Salaries, allowances and benefits
in kind 19,031 20,453
B Performance-related bonuses* 4,842 27,466
A A E BB X Equity-settled share option
expenses 324 466
BEZeiEIHREEEERN Pension scheme contributions
and social welfare 343 262
25,650 49,757
* ARBETHTEFARERSRSE  Z * Certain executive directors of the Company are entitled to bonus
R THEAEERTIEFBEER - payments which are associated with the profit after tax of the Group.
ATE=ESFHEERNNBNEIRESTZ Certain directors were granted share options in respect of their
MEANEFBEHN R ERER services to the Group, under the share option scheme of the
ST BN B HRERN T Company, further details of which are set out in note 34 to the
o ZEDREBHANEEBIERE financial statements. The fair value of such options, which has
A7 EREATEIINEL BEE been recognised in the statement of profit or loss over the
T BANFETBRZRAEFLED vesting period, was determined as at the date of grant and the
FALMEERESITEHA S 3B amount included in the financial statements for the current year
ZHWEER G o is included in the above directors’ and chief executive's

remuneration disclosures.
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8. EERBRSITHAEFHFMw@m 8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (continued)
(@ BIFHTES (a) Independent non-executive directors
B ELhE THEXER Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung, Mr. Wang Kaiguo and Mr. Wu
RO OF St £ R 20206 A19H Xiaobo were appointed as independent non-executive
BEZERARABBILIERTT directors of the Company on 19 June 2020.
EEo
2021 20204
2021 2020
AR®TR AR%®FTr
RMB’000 RMB’000
e Fees
— BB EE LA — Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung 370 370
— THBIEE — Mr. Wang Kaiguo 370 370
—REREE — Mr. Wu Xiaobo 370 370
1,110 1,110

RERN - BEEMNBILIEATT
EEAE MR B (20204 « ) o

b) BTES

BRIEE -RATHRE T
EEE -HEELXERMAE
% & 5 Bl A201843 H29H -
2019412 A23H 2019412 A
23H - 20194 12 A 23 8 K& 2021
F7A1BEZT AARRAH
TEZF-RAKE ZMELER
20217 A1 B REARRQ AT
L

There was no other emolument payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the year (2020:
Nil).

(b) Executive directors

Mr. Yang Jian, Mr. Chen Hongliang, Mr. Li Heli, Mr. Yau
Sze Ka (Albert) and Mr. He Jian were appointed as
executive directors of the Company on 29 March 2018,
23 December 2019, 23 December 2019, 23 December
2019 and 1 July 2021, respectively. In the meantime, Mr.
Li Heli retired as an executive director of the Company on
1 July 2021.
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8. EERERSTHAEHM@m 8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (Continued)

(b) BITEE@HE (b) Executive directors (Continued)
BZE2021F12831ALLFEE Year ended 31 December 2021
¢
1% RER At NEREEN
e BNER Euge RAEEH BREMS e
Salaries, Pension scheme
allowances  Performance-  contributions Equity-settled
and benefits related and social share option Total
Fees in kind bonuses welfare expenses  remuneration
ARBTRE AR¥TR ARBTR ARETR ARET R ARETR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
WIEE: Executive directors:
-BRlkE — Mr. Yang Jian - 7,307 3,248 121 - 10,676
—RAZ%EE  — Mr. ChenHongliang - 3,500 300 84 287 417
—gl%s — Mr. He Jian - 1,843 144 90 37 2,114
—BEEE4E - Mr YauSzeKa (Abert) = 4,631 400 15 = 5,046
- ENELE — Mr. Li Heli - 1,750 750 33 - 2,533
- 19,031 4,842 343 324 24,540
BZE2020F12A31HILLEE Year ended 31 December 2020
ek
IE 2R SRS EREEN
ik EmEM Busie Ritg @l BRERX Az
Salaries, Pension scheme
allowances Performance- contributions Equity-settled
and benefits related and social share option Total
Fees in kind bonuses welfare expenses remuneration
AREFTT  ARBTR ARETT ARETFT ARETT ARETT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
HTES: Executive directors:
-G8 Rk — Mr. Yang Jian = 7,940 14,683 107 = 22,730
—B4Z%%E  — Mr. Chen Hongliang = 3,000 1,500 61 259 4,820
—FRNELE —Mr LiHeli - 3,000 1,500 57 207 4,764
—WBEREE  — M YauSzeKa (Alber) - 5,416 9,783 16 - 15,215
—&&FE4E  — Mr. Huang Chunlei = 1,097 = 21 = 1,118
= 20,453 27,466 262 466 48,647
FAMEBEESIHZRTERAER There was no arrangement under which a director or the
E SR B E T H A chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
ZHE © remuneration during the year.
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9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included three
directors (2020: four directors), details of whose remuneration
are set out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration for the
years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 of the five highest
paid employees of the Company are as follows:

2021 F 20204
2021 2020
AR¥®TRT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000

ITE& -  ZBEREMRET Salaries, allowances and benefits in
kind 19,293 21,959
EMEE Performance related bonuses 5,498 28,426
DRESEENERERZ Equity-settled share option expenses 287 466

BT EREESER Pension scheme contributions and

social welfare 417 295
25,495 51,146

FMNFRATHENIFES MIF
ERITBAEZSHMEE AK
LI

The remuneration of the non-director and non-chief executive
highest paid employee within the following band is as follows:

EEAH

Number of employees
2021 2020 4F
2021 2020
3,000,001 7% 7T £ 3,500,0007% 7T HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 2 —
3,500,001 % 7T & 4,000,000 7 7T HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 — —
4,000,001 /& 7T & 4,500,000 7T HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 — 1
2 1

AEBYERAAABDEETHAER
SEFMALXTME ERBER
FINANSE B F AN K B
HY) 2 B oK (F A R A E -

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors of the
Company or the five highest paid individuals as an inducement
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of
office.
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10. FiB %

REBAAEEKE R F ML
REMERBREERELZXIRA
EHNMNEREBEEGRAEN -
REFSESNRU LA K2
ARAEERFAEESEMMAILN
B AR BAMMNERMMAEN - R
BEHE AEERFEEMAKL
B RARBAMBAENR  BA
&N E RN E B E A ER
eI

PR R AR E N
& 1 B 2 B A 12 05% 1Y B K B 4
PE A -

=+ 3 (B T T 32 FR30% = 60% #) 2
R R ER G SR
B 58 2 &Y X PR 1S SRR AT R
P S (B3R A AR 18 3R A e &
MR BRRAS) AEEREER
REAMR AR RERAERE
AR ERGE  FH REHRER
HEE LI EREEARAE
MEHEETREEERILE -

10. INCOME TAX

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits
arising in or derived from the tax jurisdictions in which members
of the Group are domiciled and operate. Pursuant to the rules
and regulations of the Cayman Islands, the Company and the
Group’s subsidiaries incorporated in the Cayman Islands are
not subject to any income tax. The Group’s subsidiary
incorporated in Hong Kong is not liable for income tax as it did
not have any assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the
reporting period.

Subsidiaries of the Group operating in Mainland China are
subject to the PRC corporate income tax with a tax rate of 25%
for the reporting period.

LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on
the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds from the sale
of properties less deductible expenditures including land costs,
borrowing costs and other property development expenditures.
The Group has estimated, made and included in taxation a
provision for LAT according to the requirements set forth in the
relevant Mainland China tax laws and regulations. The LAT
provision is subject to the final review and approval by the local
tax bureau.

2021 & 2020 £
2021 2020
ARET T AR T T
RMB’000 RMB’000

BIERFR I8 - Current tax:
AR 1 PR PRC corporate income tax 2,960,984 2,985,834
FR B o+ b PRC LAT 455,946 1,406,782
B E R I8 (MY 5E19) Deferred tax (note 19) (548,897) (594,209)
FRHMB S B Total tax charge for the year 2,868,033 3,798,407
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10. INCOME TAX (Continued)

A reconciliation of income tax expense applicable to profit
before tax at the statutory rate for the jurisdiction in which the
Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to

the tax expense at the effective tax rate is as follows:

2021 £ 20204
2021 2020
AR%ET T AR T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
75t Bl A1 Profit before tax 7,624,121 10,364,822
BRETEMEMETE At the statutory income tax rate 1,906,030 2,591,206
B R E A REG Profits and losses attributable to
A & g5 18 joint ventures and associates (192,691) (241,257)
A A & B Expenses not deductible for tax 60,997 67,821
BEFEFANTIEERE Tax losses utilised from previous
years (119,315) (70,370)
AIERHIAEE Tax losses not recognised 611,762 248,785
RAERUTENE R ERE Deductible temporary differences not
recognised 259,291 147,136
+ b 3% (E B B A Provision for LAT 455,946 1,406,782
+ b 3% (E BB B = £ Tax effect on LAT (113,987) (351,696)
BAEBEBRRERAERN Tax charge at the Group’s
BHIE > H effective rate 2,868,033 3,798,407

HE2021F12A31BIEFE . &4
TERBEAREMHEHEIEAA
R #564,368,000 7T (20204 : A R #&
599,483,0007T) ° & £ 2021 F 12 A 31
AEFE A& ¥RBENFE
H R IBIE % & A R ¥307,447,0007C
(20204 : A R#277,806,0007C) ° M
EHFAGREBERRNIGELER
Bk & N B FEAL F B R ESE] -

The share of tax charge attributable to joint ventures and
associates amounted to RMB564,368,000 for the year ended
31 December 2021 (2020: RMB599,483,000). The share of tax
credit attributable to joint ventures and associates amounted to
RMB307,447,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020:
RMB277,806,000). Both are included in “Share of profits and
losses of joint ventures and associates” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.
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10. Fr 8% )

RAEMBARRRANEBHATIRE

10. INCOME TAX (Continued)

Tax payable in the consolidated statement of financial position

represents:
2021 F 20204
2021 2020
AR¥ET T AR T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
B E Tax payable
JEH A B D E TS TR PRC CIT payable 2,012,030 2,874,602
JE 1<t PP B A 3 (B R PRC LAT payable 1,033,851 2,177,866
FE S TR TH A 5 Total tax payable 3,045,881 5,052,468
11. B R 11. DIVIDENDS
2021 F 20204
2021 2020
ARBET T AR T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
FH— ST EAR18.4 81 Interim — HK18.4 cents
(2020 : 16.378 1) (2020: HK16.3cents)
per ordinary share 551,514 495,644
BEAH - SRETBER Proposed final (2020: HK32.5 cents)
(20204 : 32.571) per ordinary share — 977,829
551,514 1,473,473

EETNERIKEEZ2021F12 8
318 IEFE 2 RAHEK B (20204 : A
R #977,829,0007T) °
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The Board does not recommend a final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2021 (2020: RMB977,829,000).
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